
Summons to Meeting

Monday 2 September 2019

Standards Committee
Tuesday 10 September 2019, 2.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Owen Martin (Chair) Councillor Peter Gaston (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Peter Kendall
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Will Wilkinson
Councillor Lynda Williams

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502.

Agenda

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declaration of interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda, in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

3. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

4. Work Programme 2019/20  (Pages 1 - 2)

5. Local Government Ethical Standards  (Pages 3 - 22)
A Review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL)



6. Allerdale Borough Council’s Code of Conduct and Arrangements for 
dealing with standards allegations under the Localism Act 2011  (Pages 23 
- 130)

7. Member/Officer Protocol  (Pages 131 - 146)

8. Update on Complaints  
Verbal Update

9. Update on Independent Person Recruitment  
Verbal Update

The Chairman will move:-  
“That under Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they may involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 
1 and 2 of part 1 of Schedule 12 (a) of the Act.”

10. Investigation  (Pages 147 - 168)

Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 5 November 2019, 2.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington



Work Programme for Standards Committee 2019/20

Programme of Work Meeting Date

Local Government Ethical Standards  Review by the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life 

10 September 2019

Review of Allerdale Borough Council’s Procedures for 
Handling Complaints that Members may have breached the 
Code of Conduct

10 September 2019

Review Code of Conduct 10 September 2019

To consider Member/Officer Protocol 10 September 2019

To review complaints ( April – September) 10 September 2019

To review the operation and efficacy of the Whistleblowing 
Policy

5th November 2019

To review the Process and Guidance for Gifts and Hospitality 
for Members

5th November 2019

To review the Planning Protocol/Guidance for Members 5th November 2019

To review the process and guidance for Members register of 
interests

5th November 2019

To receive an update on Member Training Programmes 5th November 2019

To review the operation and efficacy of the Local Code of 
Corporate Governance

January 2020

Annual standards committee report January 2020

Review of Complaints  (Oct – Dec) January 2020

Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 March 2020

Update of CSPL Recommendations March 2020

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 2



Allerdale Borough Council

Standards Committee – 10 September 2019

Local Government Ethical Standards
A Review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL)

The reason for the decision That the Committee note the report of the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life and 
consider any changes to the Code and
guidance and any actions arising to feed into 
future work programming.

Summary of options considered The report recommends the adoption of best 
practice. Members can decide not to incorporate 
the suggested changes.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Standards Committee: 
 

(1)      notes the report; 

(2)      notes that the Monitoring Officer has     
     considered the list of best practice    
     recommendations, and discussed 
     with the Cumbrian Monitoring 
     Officers and CALC potential  
     revisions to the existing code of    
     conduct and guidance to take 
     account of these recommendations; 

(3)      Members agree to recommend to   
     Council the changes to the Code of  
     Conduct as set out in Appendix 3 

Financial/resource implications There are no specific financial implications arising 
from this report.

Legal/governance implications The review complies with the Localism Act 2011.

Community safety implications There are no Community Safety implications

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no Health and Safety implications

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The Equality Duty has been considered

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities
Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor John Cook
Governance  and Regulatory Services

Lead Officer Sharon Sewell
Head of Governance and Regulatory Services
Email: sharon.sewell@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers – 
Local Government Ethical Standards A Review by the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life

  1.0 Background

1.1 The long awaited review on Local Government Ethical Standards was 
published by the Committee on Standards in Public Life on 30 January 2019.  
Due to its size, copies of the report have been circulated to members of the 
Committee by email.

1.2 The review concludes that the evidence “supports the view that the vast 
majority of councillors maintain high standards of conduct.  There is however 
clear evidence nationally of misconduct by some councillors, the majority of 
cases relating to bullying or harassment or other disruptive behaviour”. The 
review was “also concerned about a risk to standards under the current 
arrangements, as a result of the current rules around declaring interests, gifts 
and hospitality, and the increased complexity of local government decision-
making.”

1.3 The review concluded that there is no reason to reintroduce a centralised 
body, and the local authorities should retain ultimate responsibility for 
implementing and applying the Seven Principles of Public Life in local 
government.

Page 4

mailto:sharon.sewell@allerdale.gov.uk


1.4 The report identified a number of recommendations and best practice to 
improve ethical standards in local government.  They recommended a number 
of changes to primary and secondary legislation and indicated that their best 
practice recommendations should be considered a “benchmark of good 
ethical practice, which we expect that all local authorities can and should 
implement”.  They are to review implementation of best practice further in 
2020.

2.0 Current Position

2.1 The List of recommendations made through the review are attached at 
Appendix 1. The List of best practice is shown as Appendix 2. 
The majority of recommendations are for Government to consider making 
changes to primary or secondary legislation.  It is noted that the Local 
Government Association has a recommendation to create an updated model 
code of conduct, in consultation with representative bodies of councillors and 
officers of all tiers of local government.  The Council already requires 
registration of some “other registrable interests” which touch upon 
recommendations 5 and 6. 

2.2 With regard to recommendation 15, the Monitoring Officer has added 
quarterly updates on complaints received to the Work Programme, and that 
annual figures will be included in the Committee’s annual report to Council. 

2.3 With reference to recommendation 20, the majority of parishes within Cumbria 
operate the same code as the District or Borough Councils. The District and 
Borough Council’s have suggested that any review of this should be 
undertaken collaboratively through the Cumbria Monitoring Officer Group.

2.4 The Council already undertakes or has included in its Work Programme some 
of the list of best practice, as follows:-.

3 – The Committee reviews the arrangements every two years, it could 
consider this further and widen consultation

4 – The code and arrangements are available to councillors and the public 
through the website 

5 – Gifts and hospitality is reviewed annually through the standards committee

7 – We have access to independent persons from neighbouring authorities if 
required

8 – The Independent Person is consulted as to whether to undertake a formal 
investigation on an allegation and is consulted on allegations received

10 – Information on how to complain and the Council’s standards 
arrangements are accessible on the website

Page 5



12 – the Monitoring Officer role within the constitution reflects this guidance

13 – if there are conflicts of interest then these can be addressed either 
through calling a committee, or by arrangements with neighbouring authorities

It is proposed that these be considered further as part of the Committee’s 
Work Programme.

2.5 The Cumbria Monitoring Officers/CALC have considered the 
recommendations put forward with regard to the Code of Conduct and 
guidance to consider specific provisions around bullying, etc. as set out in the 
best practice recommendations 1 and 2. The suggested amendments are 
attached as Appendix 3.

2.6 The Council commissioned Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd to carry out an 
independent review of the Council’s Arrangements and process, including 
benchmarking the arrangements against best local practice elsewhere to 
ensure that they are the best possible arrangements achievable under the 
legislation, bearing in mind local context. The review also considered the 
recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s 
review of the Localism Act arrangements published in January 2019.

2.7 The review sets out a number of recommendations including changes to the 
Code which are dealt with in a separate report. All changes made to the Code 
will be reported to Council in one report.

3.0        Finance/resource implications

3.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.

4.0       Legal implications and risks

4.1 There are no specific legal issues arising from this report.  The Council is 
required to have appropriate governance arrangements in place and to 
comply with the legislation as existing.

5.0 Recommendations

It is recommended that the Standards Committee: 
 

(1)      notes the report; and
(2)      notes that the Monitoring Officer has considered the list of best practice  

recommendations, and discussed with the Cumbrian Monitoring 
Officers and CALC potential revisions to the existing code of conduct 
and guidance to take account of these recommendations

(3)      Members agree to recommend to Council the changes to the Code of  
Conduct as set out in Appendix 3.

 

Page 6



Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Appendix 1

List of recommendations
Number Recommendation Responsible body

1

The Local Government Association should create an 
updated model code of conduct, in consultation with 
representative bodies of councillors and officers of all tiers 
of local government.

Local Government 
Association

2

The government should ensure that candidates standing 
for or accepting public offices are not required publicly 
to disclose their home address. The Relevant Authorities
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 should 
be amended to clarify that a councillor does not need to 
register their home address on an authority’s register of 
interests.

Government

3

Councillors should be presumed to be acting in an official 
capacity in their public conduct, including statements
on publicly-accessible social media. Section 27(2) of the 
Localism Act 2011 should be amended to permit local 
authorities to presume so when deciding upon code of 
conduct breaches.

Government

4

Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to state that a local authority’s code of conduct 
applies to a member when they claim to act, or give the 
impression they are acting, in their capacity as a member 
or as a representative of the local authority.

Government

5

The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 
Regulations 2012 should be amended to include: unpaid 
directorships; trusteeships; management roles in a charity 
or a body of a public nature; and membership of any 
organisations that seek to influence opinion or public 
policy.

Government

6

Local authorities should be required to establish a register 
of gifts and hospitality, with councillors required to record 
any gifts and hospitality received over a value of £50,
or totalling £100 over a year from a single source. This 
requirement should be included in an updated model 
code of conduct.

Government

Page 9



Appendix 1

Number Recommendation Responsible body

7

Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 should be repealed, 
and replaced with a requirement that councils include in 
their code of conduct that a councillor must not participate 
in a discussion or vote in a matter to be considered at a 
meeting if they have any interest, whether registered or 
not, “if a member of the public, with knowledge of the 
relevant facts, would reasonably regard the interest as so 
significant that it is likely to prejudice your consideration or 
decision-making in relation to that matter”.

Government

8
The Localism Act 2011 should be amended to require 
that Independent Persons are appointed for a fixed term 
of two years, renewable once.

Government

9

The Local Government Transparency Code should be 
updated to provide that the view of the Independent 
Person in relation to a decision on which they are 
consulted should be formally recorded in any decision 
notice or minutes.

Government

10

A local authority should only be able to suspend a 
councillor  where the authority’s Independent 
Person agrees both with the finding of a breach 
and that suspending the councillor would be a 
proportionate sanction.

Government

11

Local authorities should provide legal indemnity to 
Independent Persons if their views or advice are 
disclosed. The government should require this through 
secondary legislation if needed.

Government / all 
local authorities

12

Local authorities should be given the discretionary power 
to establish a decision-making standards committee with 
voting independent members and voting members from 
dependent parishes, to decide on allegations and impose 
sanctions.

Government

13

Councillors should be given the right to appeal to the 
Local Government Ombudsman if their local authority 
imposes a period of suspension for breaching the code 
of conduct.

Government

Page 10



Appendix 1

Number Recommendation Responsible body

14

The Local Government Ombudsman should be given 
the power to investigate and decide upon an allegation 
of a code of conduct breach by a councillor, and the 
appropriate sanction, on appeal by a councillor who has 
had a suspension imposed. The Ombudsman’s decision 
should be binding on the local authority.

Government

15

The Local Government Transparency Code should be 
updated to require councils to publish annually: the 
number of code of conduct complaints they receive; what 
the complaints broadly relate to (e.g. bullying; conflict of 
interest); the outcome of those complaints, including if 
they are rejected as trivial or vexatious; and any sanctions 
applied.

Government

16 Local authorities should be given the power to suspend 
councillors, without allowances, for up to six months.

Government

17

The government should clarify if councils may lawfully bar 
councillors from council premises or withdraw facilities as 
sanctions. These powers should be put beyond doubt in 
legislation if necessary.

Government

18 The criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests should be abolished.

Government

19
Parish council clerks should hold an appropriate 
qualification, such as those provided by the Society of 
Local Council Clerks.

Parish councils

20

Section 27(3) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to state that parish councils must adopt the 
code of conduct of their principal authority, with the 
necessary amendments, or the new model code.

Government

21

Section 28(11) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to state that any sanction imposed on a parish 
councillor following the finding of a breach is to be 
determined by the relevant principal authority.

Government

22

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015 should be amended to 
provide that disciplinary protections for statutory officers 
extend to all disciplinary action, not just dismissal.

Government

Page 11



Appendix 1

Number Recommendation Responsible body

23

The Local Government Transparency Code should be 
updated to provide that local authorities must ensure that 
their whistleblowing policy specifies a named contact for 
the external auditor alongside their contact details, which 
should be available on the authority’s website.

Government

24 Councillors should be listed as ‘prescribed persons’ for 
the purposes of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998.

Government

25

Councillors should be required to attend formal induction 
training by their political groups. National parties should 
add such a requirement to their model group rules.

Political groups

National political 
parties

26
Local Government Association corporate peer reviews 
should also include consideration of a local authority’s 
processes for maintaining ethical standards.

Local Government 
Association

Page 12



Appendix 2 

List of best practice
Our best practice recommendations are directed to local authorities, and we expect that any local 
authority can and should implement them. We intend to review the implementation of our best 
practice in 2020.

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment 
in codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment, 
supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition.

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring 
councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation, and prohibiting trivial or 
malicious allegations by councillors.

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year and 
regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations and 
neighbouring authorities.

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors and 
the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council premises.

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at least 
once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test 
against which allegations are filtered.

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent 
Persons.

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake 
a formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to review and 
comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss as being without 
merit, vexatious, or trivial.

Page 13



Appendix 2 

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct 
following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible 
on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by 
the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker, 
and any sanction applied.

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance 
on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for 
handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes.

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish councillor 
towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council as a whole, rather 
than the clerk in all but exceptional circumstances.

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and 
management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils 
within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training, 
corporate support and resources to undertake this work.

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address 
any conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps
should include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the 
investigation.

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which 
they own as part of their annual governance statement, and give a full picture of their 
relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide 
by the Nolan principle of openness, and publish their board agendas and minutes and 
annual reports in an accessible place.

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or 
group whips to discuss standards issues

Page 14



Appendix 2 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



1

Allerdale Borough Council
Code of Conduct

For Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority

1. Allerdale Borough Council (“The Authority”) has adopted the following code 
dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted 
members of the Authority (“Members”) when they are acting in that capacity 
as required by section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”).

2. The Authority has a statutory duty under the Act to promote and maintain 
high standards of conduct by Members and the Code sets out the standards 
that the Authority expects Members to observe.

3. The Code is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the obligations that 
are placed on Members.  It is the responsibility of individual Members to 
comply with the provisions of the Code as well as such other legal 
obligations as may apply to them from time to time. Failure to do so may 
result in a sanction being applied by the Authority.  Failure to take 
appropriate action in respect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest may result 
in a criminal conviction and a fine of up to £5,000 and/or disqualification from 
office for a period of up to 5 years.  

4. The code is intended to be consistent with the seven principles as attached 
to this code and applies whenever a person is acting in his/her capacity as a 
Member of the Authority or co-opted member in the conduct of the 
Authority’s business or acting as a representative of the Authority. (These 
principles were amended in February 2013, in accordance with the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life)

5. When acting in your capacity as a Member;  

1) You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly 
confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain 
financial or other material benefits for yourself, your family, a friend, a 
close associate, an employer or a business carried on by you.

2) You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to 
outside individuals or organisations that may influence you in the 
performance of your official duties.

3) You must not disclose any information given to you as a Member in 
breach of any confidence.

4) You must not bring your office or your Authority into disrepute.

5) You must treat others with respect and promote equality by not 
discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with 

Page 17



2

respect, regardless of their sex, race, age, religion, gender, sexual 
orientation or disability.  You should respect the impartiality and integrity 
of the authority’s statutory officers and its other employees. 

6)  You must not behave in a manner which constitutes bullying or harassment of 
any other person(s). 

7) When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as 
making public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals 
for rewards or benefits on merit.

8) You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-operate 
fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office including fully 
cooperating with any formal standards investigation or process.

9) You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the 
decisions and actions of your authority and should be prepared to give reasons 
for those decisions and actions.

10) You must declare any private interests, both disclosable pecuniary 
interests and any other registrable interests, that relate to your public 
duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that 
protects the public interest, including registering and declaring interests in 
a manner which conforms with the procedures set out below.

11) You must ensure, when using or authorising the use by others of the 
resources of your authority, that such resources are not used improperly 
for political purposes (including party political purposes) and you must 
have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made 
under the Local Government Act 1986.

12) You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in 
your office.

13) You should not make or submit any trivial or malicious allegation that any 
other elected Member has breached this Code of Conduct.

Registering and declaring disclosable pecuniary and other registrable 
interests

(1) You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted 
member, notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of 
State, where the pecuniary interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil 
partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of somebody with whom you are 
living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil partners. These 
interests and those at (2) below are shown attached to this code.

Page 18



3

(2) In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted 
member, notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary 
or non-pecuniary interest which your authority has decided should be included 
in the register. 

(3) If an interest has not been entered onto the authority’s register, then the 
member must disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which they 
are present, where they have a disclosable interest in any matter being 
considered and where the matter is not a ‘sensitive interest' as described by the 
Localism Act 2011.

(4) Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority’s register or 
the subject of pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer 
of the interest within 28 days beginning with the date of disclosure.

(5) Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in 
which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by 
the Secretary of State.  Additionally, you must observe the restrictions 
your authority places on your involvement in matters where you have a 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest as defined by your authority.     

Seven General Principles of Conduct
(as updated by the Committee on Standards in Public Life – January 2013)

The principles of public life apply to anyone who works as a public office holder. 
This includes all those who are elected or appointed to public office, nationally 
and locally, and all people appointed to work in the civil service, local 
government, the police, courts and probation services, NDPB’s, and in the 
health, education, social and care services. All public office-holders are both 
servants of the public and stewards of public resources. The principles also 
have application to all those in other sectors delivering public services.

Selflessness
1. Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Integrity
2. Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation 

to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in 
their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefit for themselves, their family or their friends. They must 
declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

Page 19



4

Objectivity
3. Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on 

merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination and bias.

Accountability
4. Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the 

public and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

Openness
5. Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 

transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for doing so.

Honesty
6. Holders of public office should be truthful.

Leadership
7. Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 

behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles 
and be willing to challenge poor behaviour when it occurs.

Page 20



5

Pecuniary and Other Registrable Interests

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (as defined by regulations)

1. Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain.

2. Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
from the relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, 
or towards the election expenses of M. (This includes any payment or 
financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union 
and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

3. Details of any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body 
in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant 
authority –

a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and

b) which has not been fully discharged.

4. Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

5. Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area 
of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

6. Details of any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge) –

a) The landlord is the relevant authority; and

b) The tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest.

7. Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

a) That body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the relevant authority; and

b) Either – 

i. The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

ii. If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 

Page 21



6

relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

Other Registrable Interests

These interests are what the Council has determined should be entered 
into the authority’s register of interests.

8. Details of any body of which you are a member, or in a position of general 
control or management, and to which you are appointed or nominated to by 
the Borough Council.

9. Details of any body of which you are a member, or in a position of general 
control or management, and which – 

a) Exercises functions of a public nature;

b) Is directed towards charitable purposes; or

c) Is a body which includes as one of its principle purposes 
influencing public opinion or policy (this includes political parties or 
trade unions).

10. Details of any persons from whom you have received a gift or hospitality 
with an estimated value of at least £50. (You must register any gifts or 
hospitality worth £50 or over that you receive personally in connection with 
your official duties).

Page 22



Allerdale Borough Council

Standards Committee – 10 September 2019

Allerdale Borough Council’s Code of Conduct and Arrangements for dealing 
with standards allegations under the Localism Act 2011

The reason for the decision To consider the recommendations from the 
review of Allerdale Borough Council’s procedures 
for handling complaints that members may have 
breached the Code of Conduct.

Summary of options considered In carrying out the review, the Council wanted to 
benchmark the current arrangements against best 
local practice elsewhere to ensure that they were 
the best possible arrangements achievable under 
the legislation, bearing in mind local context.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Standards Committee: 
 

(a) consider the review of Allerdale Borough 
Council’s Procedures for Handling 
Complaints that Members have breached 
the Code of Conduct attached as Appendix 
1;

(b) note the amendments to the Arrangements 
attached as Appendix 2;

(c) consider the recommendations in relation 
to the Code of Conduct and recommend 
any changes to Council.

Financial/resource implications There are no financial implications in relation to 
implementing the recommendations and the 
amendments to the Arrangements

Legal/governance implications The review complies with the Localism Act 2011

Community safety implications There are no Community Safety implications

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no Health and Safety implications

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The Equality Duty has been considered

Wards Affected All

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities
Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder John Cook

Lead Officer Sharon Sewell
Head of Governance and Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01900 7028
Email: sharon.sewell@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers – 

Page 24

mailto:sharon.sewell@allerdale.gov.uk


  1.0 Background

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced new arrangements from July 2012 for 
handling complaints that members of a local authority may have breached the 
local Code of Conduct. This moved away from a central statutory framework 
but allowed councils to develop their own framework within certain statutory 
parameters.

1.2 The Council decided to review the relevant processes after some six years of 
operation in light of local experiences of handling cases in practice. In carrying 
out the review, we wanted to benchmark our arrangements against best local 
practice elsewhere to ensure that they were the best possible arrangements 
achievable under the legislation, bearing in mind local context. The Council 
also wished the review to consider any recommendations made by the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life’s (CSPL) review of the Localism Act 
arrangements published in January 2019.

1.3 Hoey Ainscough Associations Ltd was therefore commissioned to carry out 
the review as independent national experts. Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd 
was set up in April 2012 to support local authorities in managing their 
arrangements for handling councillor conduct issues. 

1.4. In carrying out the review, they laid down four criteria for a successful 
standards process:

a) it should enhance the reputation of the Council through demonstrating that 
there is a culture of high standards and that any lapse from high standards in 
individual cases will be dealt with fairly, effectively and efficiently;

b) it should ensure that the process is transparent and accountable, so that 
the public can see that misconduct has been dealt with, and members are 
able to demonstrate, where appropriate, that their name has been fairly 
cleared;

c) it should have independent rigour and be free from party political 
interference; and

d) it should comply with any legal requirements and ensure that members 
have the right to a fair hearing

1.5 The review concluded that the process Allerdale currently has in place is 
typical of the Localism Act arrangements seen in other councils and already 
contains some elements of good practice whilst reflecting some of the 
constraints imposed by the legislation. However a number of 
recommendations have been made to streamline and improve the process 
making it more efficient and transparent whilst promoting standards within 
Allerdale.

Page 25



2.0 Current Position

Action Plan

2.1 The Council’s Monitoring Officer Group have considered the actions and have 
been working on the action plan to consider and implement all the actions in 
the review. All actions will have been completed by the end of September 
2019 following the Council meeting on 25 September 2019.

Arrangements

2.2 The Monitoring Officer has approved the amendments to the Arrangements in 
accordance with the recommendations and best practice as authorised by 
Council on 18th July 2012. The amended Arrangements are attached at 
Appendix 2.

Code of Conduct

2.3 Hoey Associates reviewed the Code of Conduct and found the Code broadly 
clear and comprehensive, though they did have some specific 
recommendations which are outlined in paragraphs 88 – 106 of the report.

2.4 Members need to consider the recommendations in relation to the Code of 
Conduct and make any recommendations to amend the Code of Conduct to 
Council.

2.5 The District and Borough Council’s within Cumbria operate the same Code of 
Conduct. The majority of parishes within Cumbria operate the same code as 
the District or Borough Councils. The District and Borough Council’s have 
previously suggested that any review of this should be undertaken 
collaboratively through the Cumbria Monitoring Officer Group. The Monitoring 
Officer has shared the recommendations with the Monitoring Officer Group, 
the Standards Committee may wish to request feedback from the group prior 
to making any recommendations to Council. 

3.0       Finance/resource implications

3.1 There are no additional financial implications in relation to the amendments. 
The Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer’s will continue to 
administer the arrangements and 

3.2 Officers have amended the arrangements and will deliver training on the 
Code of Conduct and any changes.

Page 26



4.0       Legal implications and risks

4.1 The Council is required to ensure it makes changes in accordance with the 
Localism Act 2011.

5.0 Recommendations

  It is recommended that the Standards Committee: 
 

(a) consider the review of Allerdale Borough Council’s Procedures for 
Handling Complaints that Members have breached the Code of 
Conduct attached as Appendix 1;

(b) note the amendments to the Arrangements attached as Appendix 2;
(c) consider the recommendations in relation to the Code of Conduct and 

recommend any changes to Council.

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



REVIEW OF ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL’S PROCEDURES FOR 
HANDLING COMPLAINTS THAT MEMBERS MAY HAVE BREACHED THE CODE 
OF CONDUCT

Introduction

1. The Localism Act 2011 introduced new arrangements from July 2012 for 
handling complaints that members of a local authority may have breached the 
local Code of Conduct. This moved away from a central statutory framework 
but allowed councils to develop their own framework within certain statutory 
parameters.

2. Allerdale Borough Council decided to review their processes after some six 
years of operation in light of local experiences of handling cases in practice. In 
carrying out the review, they wanted to benchmark their arrangements against 
best local practice elsewhere to ensure that they were the best possible 
arrangements achievable under the legislation, bearing in mind local context. 
They also wished us to consider any recommendations made by the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life’s (CSPL) review of the Localism Act 
arrangements published in January 2019.

3. Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd was therefore commissioned to carry out the 
review as independent national experts. Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd was 
set up in April 2012 to support local authorities in managing their 
arrangements for handling councillor conduct issues. The company was co-
founded by Paul Hoey, who had been director of strategy at Standards for 
England from 2001 until its closure in 2012, and Natalie Ainscough who had 
worked as his deputy. We have now worked with over 350 authorities in one 
form or another through provision of training, investigative support and wider 
governance advice and were therefore uniquely placed to bring that national 
perspective.

4. In carrying out our review, we laid down four criteria for a successful 
standards process:
a) it should enhance the reputation of the council through demonstrating that 

there is a culture of high standards and that any lapse from high standards 
in individual cases will be dealt with fairly, effectively and efficiently;

b) it should ensure that the process is transparent and accountable, so that 
the public can see that misconduct has been dealt with, and members are 

Page 29



able to demonstrate, where appropriate, that their name has been fairly 
cleared;

c) it should have independent rigour and be free from party political 
interference; and

d) it should comply with any legal requirements and ensure that members 
have the right to a fair hearing

5. During the course of the review, we spoke to a number of individuals to 
understand their perceptions of the current arrangements, how the council 
dealt with complaints in practice and where they felt the key areas for 
improvement could be. These were selected members and officers of the 
Council, together with a sample of parish clerks within the Allerdale district. A 
full list of those interviewed is attached at Appendix A.

6. While all those interviewed had different perspectives, common themes 
emerged from these discussions. With regard to the process for case 
handling, these were in particular concerns about the time taken to deal with 
complaints; a perceived lack of transparency and failure to communicate what 
was happening or had happened; and concerns that the process could be 
used (or be perceived to be used) politically and therefore needed to be seen 
as more independent from the Council.

7. With regard to the Allerdale Code of Conduct, concerns were raised about the 
scope and clarity of provisions relating to registration and declaration of 
interests. More widely, concerns were raised that there seemed to have been 
a recent deterioration in standards in the Council, in particular around the level 
of debate in meetings and the use of social media.

8. While some of these concerns cannot be fully addressed because of 
constraints in the legislation – for example it is no longer possible to have 
independent lay members of a standards committee with voting rights – we 
have concentrated on making recommendations on matters which Allerdale is 
able to address in reviewing the process, as well as dealing with some more 
minor ‘technical’ angles and pointing out some of the legislative constraints.

9. There was also a recognition that a balance needs to be struck so that any 
process can handle more minor cases expediently and proportionately whilst 
ensuring that cases of differing severity, complexity or sensitivity could all be 
handled appropriately, proportionately and transparently.

10.In the time allowed for the review, we have not attempted a detailed re-write of 
the process or Code but are making a number of recommendations of areas 
where improvements could be made for consideration by the Council. The 
process itself is of course only one aspect of effective arrangements. It also 
relies on effective implementation and support of the process. We have 
therefore also made a series of recommendations on wider local cultural 
issues.

Page 30



11.The review concluded that it should be stressed that the ‘high-level’ process is 
broadly in line with processes we see elsewhere, so most of our comments 
relate to guidance on implementation and communication of the process 
rather than on the process itself. We also wish to say that our overall 
impression was that all we spoke to were fully committed to the review and we 
would like to add that the officers we spoke to were a very experienced set of 
officers with wide experience, at Allerdale and elsewhere, of dealing with 
standards issues so we are confident that they will be able to take our 
recommendations forward.

Recommendations

12.We recommend that Allerdale Borough Council consider, and where 
appropriate, approve the recommendations attached as Appendix B to this 
paper. These recommendations are explained in further detail in the following 
sections of the paper.

Key issues – case-handling process

13.There are three key stages to the case-handling process. These are:
a) upon receipt of a complaint, deciding whether or not any further action is 

appropriate;
b) where further action is appropriate, carrying out an investigation or some 

other form of resolution; and
c) where an investigation has been carried out, reaching a finding and taking 

any appropriate action.

14.We will deal with each of those three stages in turn, followed by comments on 
more general themes.

Initial assessment of a complaint

15.Under Allerdale’s current arrangements, when a complaint about member 
misconduct is received the decision is delegated to the Monitoring Officer 
(MO) to decide what action to take. The MO will reach one of three 
conclusions – that the matter should be further investigated, that the matter 
does not need any further action taken, or some form of resolution short of an 
investigation – for example, seeking an apology – be attempted. In reaching a 
decision on how the allegation should be dealt with the MO will consult with 
the Council’s Independent Person (IP) as appointed under s28 of the Localism 
Act and the chair of the standards committee. However, it is the MO’s decision 
as to how, if at all, the complaint should be further pursued.

16.This is broadly in line with practice in nearly all authorities we have worked 
with, where this initial decision is delegated to the MO. It is designed to allow 
for swift decision-making and is particularly appropriate for ensuring that more 

Page 31



‘minor’ matters are dealt with proportionately and effectively. Most councils, as 
Allerdale does, will seek the IP’s views at this stage of the process, although it 
is not a statutory requirement. CSPL have indeed recommended to 
Government that it be made mandatory to seek the IP’s views at this initial 
assessment stage.

17.It is less usual to consult the chair of the standards committee at this stage as 
well as the IP although a handful of councils do follow this practice in our 
experience, as Allerdale does.

18.A few councils still have a process in which all complaints are referred to a 
panel of members, but in our experience this, if done as routine, slows down 
the process unnecessarily and seldom in any case leads to different decisions 
being taken than occur elsewhere for similar matters.

19.We therefore believe it is appropriate and in line with existing good 
practice that delegation of decision-making at this stage continues to 
rest with the MO.

20.However, concerns were consistently raised with us that this part of the 
process was in practice too slow and lacked transparency. The Allerdale 
process says that initial decisions on a complaint would be taken within ten 
working days. However we found no evidence that this target was even 
routinely met. 

21.In Allerdale the usual practice has been to convene a meeting between the 
MO, IP and standards committee chair to consider complaints. In most other 
authorities, views tend to be sought by email or over the phone and recorded 
later. The Allerdale practice of convening a meeting, given inevitable diary 
management issues, has led to them routinely missing their target.

22.We therefore do have several recommendations about this stage of the 
process which we would suggest Allerdale take up, which are in line with good 
practice elsewhere.

23.Firstly, while we did not look at how individual decisions had been taken at 
this stage nor if those decisions had been taken consistently, most councils 
will have published criteria which set out factors the MO will consider when 
considering the best way of dealing with an allegation. This is both to assist 
the complainant when it comes to formulating a complaint and also the subject 
member in responding to a complaint. While we are sure in practice that the 
MO does assess against consistent criteria, we are not aware that these are 
written down or published anywhere so we recommend that the Council adopt 
some criteria and publish these on their website so that people are clear what 
has been considered in reaching a particular decision.

24.Generally, a two-stage set of criteria is used. The first stage, which is often 
called a legal or jurisdictional test, simply assesses whether the complaint is 
covered by the statutory framework – for example, is it a complaint about a 

Page 32



member rather than, say, an officer and does it relate to matters covered by 
the Code of Conduct? This should be done quickly by the MO and if a 
complaint does not meet that test – the ‘can we investigate this matter’ test – 
then there is no need to take the complaint any further.

25.The second stage would then seek to balance a range of factors to consider 
whether the matter should be investigated or dealt with in some other way – 
the ‘should we investigate this matter’ test. These would clearly consider the 
seriousness of the alleged conduct but may also include for example whether 
the matter highlighted a pattern of behaviour either by a particular individual or 
among members generally, whether the matter had been resolved in some 
different way already or was being handled in parallel by another organisation 
etc. It is at this second stage of the test that the MO may seek other views.

26.Having such criteria helps the MO to demonstrate why a particular decision 
was reached and also allows a more general assessment to be made, for 
example by a standards committee when reviewing the operation of the 
framework, as to whether matters are being dealt with consistently or the line 
is being drawn in the right place. 

27.Our next recommendation relates to who the MO consults in carrying out this 
initial assessment and how that consultation is done.

28.As stated above, it is both common and CSPL recommended good practice 
that the views of the IP are sought at this stage. However, we see little merit in 
continuing also to seek the views of the committee chair as a matter of 
routine, and indeed this risks the chair being open to accusations of having 
prejudged a matter should a case later come to a hearing as well as risking 
slowing down the process. We note that the Allerdale process allows the MO 
a reserve power to refer matters to a committee of members to take the 
decision if the allegation meets a particular threshold – for example, if the 
case involves a very senor member of the Authority either as complainant or 
subject member or the complaint is made by the MO herself or the Council’s 
Chief Executive. This does allow for some member involvement at an early 
stage where needed though again these criteria should be spelt out explicitly

29.However, we believe that consultation with the IP should be done via email in 
the first instance rather than convening a meeting as this will allow for swifter 
resolution of matters. If there were differences of views a face-to-face or 
telephone meeting could of course be convened by either side if needed. This 
will ensure the process is speeded up and better enable officers to meet the 
ten-day target which we believe is entirely appropriate.

30.We also believe that, when issuing a decision at this stage of the process the 
IP’s views should be recorded formally to aid transparency and offer 
reassurance that there has been some independent oversight of the process. 
This could simply be a line in a decision letter which says along the lines of ‘I 
have consulted with the IP who shares my view on this matter’ or where the IP 
has expressed a counter view, ‘I have consulted with the IP who expressed 

Page 33



the following view which I have considered. However, as the person formally 
delegated to take the decision I have concluded that I do not share this view 
because….’. Transparency of IP views is again in line with good practice 
recommended by CSPL.

31.We recommend that Allerdale specify that the MO need seek the views 
only of the IP rather than the committee chair on an initial assessment; 
that these views do not need to be sought through a formal meeting; 
and that the IP’s views be recorded as part of a decision letter. 

32.We recommend that the initial decision on whether to take any action 
should be made against agreed published criteria and there should be a 
reserve power for the MO to recuse herself from taking decisions in 
certain agreed matters. 

33.We will comment below in a separate section about how such decisions are 
communicated.

Investigation

34.Where the MO concludes that a formal investigation is needed, the Allerdale 
process, in line with usual practice elsewhere, allows the MO to conduct the 
investigation herself or else delegate it to another officer or to an outside 
appointment.

35.This is wholly reasonable and we would expect the bulk of cases to be 
handled ‘in house’. However, there will inevitably be times when, because of 
the sensitivities or complexities of the issues involved or because of other 
calls on officer time, it would be more appropriate for an investigation to be 
outsourced. We should declare that our company carries out outsourced 
investigations for a number of authorities. We should stress therefore that our 
comments reflect our experience of best practice elsewhere and we are not 
making any presumption that investigations should be outsourced as a matter 
of course.

36.We were unable to find any detail as to how decisions whether or not to 
outsource were made nor how cases were managed by the Council as the 
‘commissioning client’ so our recommendations relate specifically to 
outsourced investigations but, where appropriate, apply equally to any in-
house investigations.

37.Firstly, in line with our recommendations above, there should be agreed 
criteria as to when a case is to be outsourced. These would be along the 
lines of those where the MO may delegate the assessment decision but other 
factors may include the complexity or breadth of the investigation (for example 
if there are a large number of allegations or a large number of members 
involved) or the need for a particular skillset not available in-house. The 
decision whether or not to outsource and who should be contracted to do the 

Page 34



work is generally taken in other authorities by the MO in consultation with the 
IP against such criteria.

38.Where we have been asked to do an external investigation, we are invariably 
asked to tender for the case so that the methodology and likely costs and time 
can be agreed up front and the council is happy it is achieving value for 
money. We recognise that, in any investigation, time is of the essence as it 
can be a stressful time for all concerned and ‘justice delayed is justice denied’, 
so we would not expect an elaborate tender process. But, for example, we are 
usually called about availability and then asked to submit a quote, as one of a 
number of firms, within say 3 working days. We recommend that Allerdale 
adopt such an approach to tender for external investigations.

39.There may be an agreement that, should the bid prove successful and the 
work be carried out to a high quality that company may be ‘preferred provider’ 
for future cases so as to avoid time delays in future and the need to re-
familiarise a company with the local Code and arrangements but again we 
would expect this to be reflected in the tender process.

40.We should stress that we did not look at investigation files as part of our 
review nor have we carried out investigations for Allerdale so our comments 
are based on good practice and may or may not reflect current Allerdale 
practice.

41.Any investigation needs to balance three things – thoroughness so that a 
robust conclusion is reached, timeliness so that it is not unnecessarily 
dragged out, and proportionality – public money is being spent so the time 
and resources committed must be commensurate with the relative 
seriousness and/or complexity of the allegation. These three aims will 
inevitably at times be in conflict so the key to a successful investigation is the 
way it is managed to ensure an appropriate balance.

42.When commissioning an investigation, whether internally or externally, the 
parameters and methodology of that investigation should therefore be 
clearly defined and agreed in advance – for example what is the actual 
allegation to be investigated, will any interviews be conducted face-to-face or 
over the telephone, what process is to be followed if further matters come to 
light or a potential criminal offence is uncovered etc. – and an indicative 
timeline agreed. 

43.We would generally expect most investigations to work to a rigorous 
timeframe which we would expect to be set at, say, three months from referral 
for investigation to satisfactory completion. While not all cases will be 
completed in that timescale - for example further more serious issues may 
emerge which may need additional investigation or key players may be 
unavoidably absent - it is our experience both from our time at Standards for 
England and through our current work with local authorities that the vast 
majority of cases can be completed within this timescale if the process is 
rigorously managed. It should therefore only be an exception, and with 
appropriate agreement, that cases extend beyond this. 

Page 35



44.A three month investigation means broadly that the investigator has a month 
to six weeks to gather relevant facts and evidence, up to the end of the 
second month to produce a draft report and a final month to take on board 
any comments and finish the report. Where investigations are contracted out, 
there will need to be clear expectations set out in the contract as a ‘Service 
Level Agreement’ about how the case will be managed. In particular, we 
believe these timelines need to be written into any investigations contract. 
Where an investigation is being outsourced, estimated completion times 
should be required to be included in any tender made for the work.

45.One of the key factors in causing delay has often been difficulty in arranging 
interviews with key individuals, and it has been our experience in many places 
that there can sometimes be deliberate attempts to avoid being interviewed. 
While reasonable attempts should be made to interview key people, if these 
reasonable attempts are rebuffed – through refusal to agree dates, respond to 
emails etc. – this should be reflected in the report and drawn, where 
appropriate, to the hearing panel’s attention. In line with good practice, there 
should be a clear emphasis in Allerdale that investigations should be taken 
seriously and that timeliness is a key factor. We note in passing that CSPL 
have recommended that failure to cooperate with an investigation should of 
itself be considered a breach of the Code and Allerdale may wish to reflect 
that in any rewriting of the Code, as outlined in our section on the Code below.

46.On a technical point Allerdale may also want to write into their process a 
power for the MO to cease an investigation before its conclusion, though only 
in exceptional circumstances – for example the death or serious long-term 
illness of a member or where a member loses his or her seat following an 
election and it is deemed no longer in the public interest to pursue the matter 
further. This is usual practice elsewhere but again should be done against a 
set of clear, agreed criteria.

Hearing

47.Where cases are referred to a hearing, under the Allerdale process the matter 
would either be referred to the full Standards Committee or to a Sub-
Committee of the Standards Committee. It is usual practice elsewhere to refer 
matters to a sub-committee rather than to the full committee as this allows a 
panel to be convened more quickly in practice and also makes the hearing 
more focussed and proportionate as it involves a smaller number of people. 
We recommend that hearings should always be held by a sub-committee 
rather than the main committee.

48.However, there was no clarity as to who would be asked to sit on any sub-
committee nor what the political composition of such a sub-committee should 
be. In the absence of any decision to the contrary the sub-committee must 
reflect the political balance of the main committee, but the main committee 
can vote to waive proportionality from a sub-committee. Given that matters 
which come to a hearing will invariably be serious matters and are likely to 

Page 36



attract considerable interest, the Council needs to set out clearer 
arrangements as to who will sit on the Sub-Committee and how any conflicts 
of interest would be managed. We recommend in the first instance that the 
Group Leaders on the Council be asked to agree a process for selecting 
membership for any future sub-committee.

Role of the Standards Committee

49.Under the Localism Act, councils are placed under a duty ‘to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct’. There is no longer a legal requirement as 
there was in the past to have a stand-alone standards committee. However, in 
practice all councils have given responsibility for standards issues either to a 
dedicated committee as previously, or else as part of the remit of another 
committee, such as combined with its audit committee. Allerdale has 
maintained a dedicated committee.

50.We believe either approach is acceptable good practice, although our 
experience tends to be that, where there is a ‘combined’ committee, inevitably 
less time is dedicated to standards issues. This is not a particular problem but 
often these combined committees have a heavy workload and greater 
attention must in such instances be paid to ensure the council does not lose 
sight of proactive work on promoting high standards.

51.However, in practice the Allerdale Standards Committee appears to be a 
purely reactive committee, meeting only when there is the need to hold a 
hearing. The Localism Act places councils under a duty to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct and for strategic purposes we believe this 
duty at Allerdale should be vested partly in the Cabinet Lead for Governance 
but also in the Standards Committee which should become more proactive in 
overseeing standards at Allerdale and its parishes.

52.We therefore think that the Standards Committee should put in place an 
appropriate work programme to ensure promotion of high standards is 
at the core of the Council’s values and work. This might include a regular 
review – say on a six-monthly basis – of allegations received, whether 
investigated or not. These could be suitably anonymised as the review would 
not be about looking at specific judgements in cases but to review the pattern 
of complaints overall – are matters being dealt with appropriately, or are there 
any patterns which may mean specific areas of behaviour need to be looked 
at, for example? We would also expect the Committee to be consulted on 
member training programmes to ensure that the importance of the 
Principles of Public Life (the ‘Nolan principles’) is at the heart of the 
Council’s work and good practice usually means that there is an annual 
report, whether from the chair of the Committee or the Independent 
Person or jointly, to the Council on ‘the state of standards in the 
Council’.

Page 37



Independent Persons

53.The Localism Act removed the powers for independent representatives to 
have a vote on the standards committee because the Government wished to 
move to self-regulation and therefore pass decisions about member 
misconduct back to elected members themselves to be the arbiters. Instead a 
new category of ‘Independent Person’ was introduced by the legislation. They 
are there not to take decisions on standards matters but to ‘give views’ and 
act as a guarantor that a case has been handled fairly and without political 
interference. They are different from any lay members which a council may 
appoint to a standards committee as it is not a statutory requirement to have 
lay members.

54.Under the Localism Act, councils must appoint at least one Independent 
Person—
a) whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the authority 

before it makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to 
investigate, and

b) whose views may be sought—
1. by the authority in relation to an allegation in circumstances not within 

paragraph (a),
2. by a member, or co-opted member, of the authority if that person’s 

behaviour is the subject of an allegation, and
3. by a member, or co-opted member, of a parish council if that person’s 

behaviour is the subject of an allegation and the authority is the parish 
council’s principal authority.

55.This sets out the minimum duty of IPs. Some councils have kept the role of 
the IP at this minimum (giving views to the council on a case under 
investigation and being consulted by the subject member). Many more, 
however, have extended the role to other parts of the process. This has been 
the case in Allerdale and is also reflected in our proposals. 

56.Above all, an IP is there to give those involved in a case a reassurance that 
the matter is being handled fairly and appropriately. We therefore believe it is 
important that checks from the IP are built into the process at various stages – 
for example, the MO consulting the IP before reaching an initial decision.

57.The key role of the IP is to ensure that the case has been handled fairly 
throughout. The council must take account of their views and the IP must be 
of sufficient standing that they can legitimately raise concerns and be listened 
to if there are issues that need addressing.

58.Councils must appoint at least one IP. The post must be externally advertised 
and the appointment must be ratified by the full council. Allerdale has 
appointed one IP. Most councils have typically appointed two or more, partly 
to manage should conflicts of interest arise but also to cover periods of 
absence or to share the workload. We note that CSPL recommend councils 
should appoint a minimum of two. We also note that the current IP’s period of 

Page 38



appointment is due for renewal. We therefore recommend that Allerdale 
seek to appoint at least two IPs when it next recruits for the post.

59.We think it is important, however, that for any particular case, the 
responsibility for discharging duties rests with one IP. Although there is a risk 
that the IP may be perceived as arbiter, which is not the role of the IP, this 
would allow the IP to take an over-arching view of the process for an 
individual case, and minimises the risk of IPs taking on the role of advocate 
for particular sides rather than having an holistic view.

60.We therefore recommend that Allerdale seeks to have two IPs but is 
clear who is the designated IP for each case and communicates that to 
all parties in a case, together with an explanation of their role and what 
they can and cannot express views on. A simple document explaining what 
an IP is and what they are expected to do should be produced. Allerdale  
should also consider putting in place an IP protocol which sets out what 
their role does and does not cover, how an IP’s views are to be recorded and 
also addresses issues such as what access they have to council resources or 
officer time, how their views are to be made public etc. We have found in 
other places having such a protocol in place helps all concerned understand 
the nature of the role. Consideration should also be given as to whether the IP 
role should receive some small allowance as this may encourage applications 
from a wider pool.

Communication issues

61.Common themes to emerge from the review, as stated above, were 
transparency and communication. Some of these concerns arose because the 
MO was seen as being under a lot of pressure, and was understandably 
unable always to dedicate time to managing a case effectively because of 
other pressures. However, moves have been made by officers to increase the 
resources available to support the standards process which is very welcome 
and the Council now appears to have a very strong team supporting it on 
standards and governance issues.

62.All those we spoke to, however, felt more could be done to communicate how 
a case was progressing and give greater clarity as to what the outcomes of 
cases were or could potentially be. 

63.We recommend as part of its process, Allerdale sets out clear guidelines 
as to what communications will be made during any ongoing case. 
These would cover both public statements to the media and communication 
with the relevant parties (subject member and complainant) which would 
inevitably be more frequent and comprehensive.

64.Turning to public communications firstly, the Council needs to be clear what 
can and cannot be said publicly at each stage of the process. We would 
suggest typical good practice as follows for consideration, though the key 
issue is that matters are treated consistently.

Page 39



65.At the first stage of the process (when a complaint is being initially assessed) 
it is not usual proactively to make any public statement about a case. 
Inevitably, however, some matters may be in the public domain at an early 
stage. Where the council is asked to comment on an allegation at this stage 
which has not been assessed, it would be common practice simply to confirm 
(or where appropriate deny, as it is our experience that allegations are 
sometimes reported as having been made which never formally materialise) 
that an allegation has been received and is being assessed. 

66.Once a decision has been made whether or not to take any further 
action, the Council needs to agree a policy as to what is communicated. 
As with the above, it is our experience that councils tend not proactively to 
communicate matters where no further action is being taken – either, for 
example, because there is no supporting evidence to the allegation or it does 
not fall within the statutory framework. Members often worry, on the ‘no smoke 
without fire’ principle, that drawing public attention to an allegation which is not 
being pursued can nevertheless lead to some unfair reputational damage. 
However, where public statements are made the reasons why no further 
action is being pursued should be made clear.

67.Where some further action is being taken, either that the matter is being 
investigated more formally or some other resolution has occurred, the Council 
should consider a more proactive strategy. For example, where a case is 
being investigated it is common practice to make a short statement available 
that an investigation is now underway, what the process is and that no further 
comments will be made until the conclusion of the case. Councillors should 
also be reminded not to make any comments one way or the other while an 
investigation is ongoing.

68.Where some other resolution has been reached – for example, the 
member has accepted quickly that they acted wrongly and has made a 
full apology, the Council should consider whether this information is 
made public as well. Ministers have made heavy emphasis that the ultimate 
arbiter for standards cases has to be the ballot box. If the public are therefore 
to make informed decisions as Ministers intend they need to have the facts 
presented to them where a member has been found to be in breach of the 
Code of Conduct or has voluntarily admitted that they may have acted 
inappropriately.

69.Once an investigation has been completed and either gone to a hearing or 
else has been found not to have amounted to a breach of the Code, good 
practice again says that the process should be transparent about the 
outcome. Some councillors, where an investigation has found them not to be 
in breach, may not wish the investigation to be disclosed, again on the ‘no 
smoke without fire’ principle. However, making the findings publicly available 
helps to bring resolution to matters and aids transparency.

70.We therefore recommend that the Council as part of its process makes 
clear that the outcome of an investigation where a breach of the Code 

Page 40



has been found will be made accessible to the public, for example 
through a case summary on the website and any relevant press 
statement, and considers how it wishes to deal with cases where the 
investigation has found there is no case to answer.

71.We also find in councils we work with a lack of clarity among members about 
what the arrangements actually are at present, regardless of whether they had 
attended training in the past, what was possible under the legislation, and 
what the role of the various players involved were. This is not surprising as it 
is only when one is involved in a case that inevitably the process gets one’s 
attention, unless training happened coincidentally to have been attended very 
recently.

72.While there is information on the Council website, and as we understand 
it further information is sent out to the parties involved once a complaint 
is being processed, we would recommend that this information is 
reviewed, including how easy it can be found in practice. Clearly, if any 
new procedures are adopted, the basic documentation would anyway need to 
change so I think that the opportunity should be taken to look at how it can be 
most effectively communicated. In particular, while a process consists of a ‘set 
of rules’ to be followed it will also need to be translated into a more digestible 
form such as a simple flowchart explaining the decision-making process, in 
particular to assist the public. This seems particularly necessary for any 
‘induction pack’ provided to parties at the start of the process as there is 
generally lack of clarity about the process and expectations from those who 
are involved in a case. However, I stress we did not formally review this 
material.

73.With regard to the parties to a case (complainant or subject member) 
any review of communication should have particular emphasis on how 
they are communicated to. For example, if a time limit has been set for an 
investigation all parties should be aware of this. If that timetable slips for 
whatever reason people should be told and given a reason why, and where 
an investigation is long and complex some form of regular updating should be 
considered. It is our experience that the parties involved, even if they may 
disagree with an outcome at the end of the process, tend to have higher 
satisfaction ratings that the matter has been dealt with fairly if they have been 
kept informed through the process.

Private capacity

74.We felt it important to make some comment on the issue of ‘private capacity’ 
and how cases which relate to private capacity should be handled in the 
process, as we find throughout the country confusion about the law and 
handling of cases on this issue. This issue is exacerbated by social media 
cases where the line between private and public utterances can be particularly 
blurred.

Page 41



75.Following the case of Livingstone v Adjudication Panel for England [2006] the 
Courts and the law held that the Code of Conduct could only apply to a 
member when they were carrying out their role as a councillor or purporting to 
be a councillor. The Localism Act narrowed this definition still further by 
dropping the reference to ‘purporting’. So Code of Conduct matters can only 
now be dealt with when the allegation is about something that a Councillor did 
in their role as a Councillor, and the Localism Act similarly applies the ‘Nolan 
Principles’ only to a Councillor when acting in official capacity.

76.Nevertheless, there are clearly times when a councillor does something in 
their private life which may be perceived as damaging the reputation of their 
office or council. Examples we have come across recently which have caused 
disquiet, for example, have been councillors convicted of benefit fraud or 
racially-aggravated assault.

77.Councils need to have clear within their process how such matters are 
to be dealt with and how the Council will act in response to such 
matters. There are two approaches – one is simply to have a blanket policy 
that all private matters, no matter how serious, are not a matter for the 
Council; the other is to say that, regardless of whether the matter legally falls 
within the Code of Conduct, the council will take steps to protect its reputation 
and remind councillors of the expectations that high standards should be 
maintained at all times. Whichever approach is adopted, the Council needs to 
apply it consistently. It is our experience that councils best protect their 
reputation and promote high standards by being seen to make clear their 
disapproval of any proven lapse from expected norms of behaviour.

78.This is inevitably a complex area. There may be cases where a matter is 
clearly a private issue and therefore falls outside the framework so will not be 
investigated and hence no facts can be established one way or the other. A 
typical example may be a dispute between two neighbours, one of whom is a 
councillor. A complaint is made that the councillor swore at their neighbour, 
but there is no third party verification and nothing has been reported to the 
police. In such a case, this would be outside the scope of the Code so would 
not be able to be investigated by the council. In such a case the council could 
not find one way or the other as to whether the incident happened as alleged 
and therefore it would be improper to comment on the matter (although 
general consideration may be given to remind all councillors of the importance 
of high standards at all times).

79.In other cases, while a ‘private’ matter, it may have a more clear outcome. For 
example, in the example cited above where a councillor has admitted benefit 
fraud there has been a clear finding of fault. We would expect in such 
circumstances that the Council be quite clear that, while it has no power 
to take any further action (except through political groups) it is 
behaviour which quite clearly affects the reputation of the council and 
falls far below the standards the public would expect from its elected 
officials. Similarly, there may be cases which have been investigated 
because the capacity issue was in some doubt. On balance the investigation 

Page 42



has concluded that the incident did occur but was not on official duty – for 
example, there are cases where there has been an altercation between a 
councillor and another individual immediately following a council meeting. 
Again, where there has been a finding on the balance of probabilities that 
the councillor acted inappropriately, even though the Code was not 
technically engaged, councils best protect their reputation by making 
clear such behaviour is not what is expected. In such cases we have seen 
public statements made by, for example, the Leader, the Chief Executive or 
the Chair of the Standards Committee reiterating the importance of 
maintaining high standards at all times as a public servant. We would 
recommend Allerdale consider adopting a similar approach – it is our 
experience that it is better to have an agreed process in place which is 
clear and accepted by all rather than having to react to events, as these 
cases can often be high-profile, emerge from nowhere and attract 
intense media scrutiny and the Council needs to have a policy in place 
as to how it would react.

80.Particular concerns were raised with us about the role of social media. While it 
is a grey area as to whether any particular post by a councillor is or is not 
done ‘in their role as a councillor’ there is a need for the Council to agree 
consistent guidelines and approach. While the approach outlined above to 
private capacity issues should equally be applied to inappropriate social 
media postings, we recommend in addition that the Council specifically 
adopts a social media protocol which lays down clearly the standards it 
would expect from members when they are posting on social media.

Overlapping jurisdictions

81.A related point to the ‘private capacity’ issue arises where a complaint may be 
made, or relate to the work of, more than one body. This most usually occurs 
where a complaint is made to a council which alleges criminal activity, but it 
can also relate to a complaint which would also be a breach of the rules of 
another regulator or professional body.

82.There is a need for clarity as to how such cases should be dealt with. Where a 
matter has also been referred to the police in parallel by the complainant, or 
comes to the attention of the council because the police have received a 
complaint, the general presumption is that any police investigation will take 
precedence. There may, however, be allegations made to the council which 
could be of a criminal nature but which have not been referred in parallel to 
the police – for example, a failure to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
at a meeting.

83. The Allerdale procedure currently says that, when an initial allegation is made 
which identifies criminal conduct the MO may refer it to the police. However, it 
cannot always be straightforward to identify criminal behaviour and in certain 
cases we are aware of the police are content for the matter to be dealt with 
more appropriately by the council as, in policing terms, it would be a relatively 
minor matter.

Page 43



84.We therefore recommend that Allerdale discuss this issue with its local 
police force with a view to drawing up a protocol between the police and 
the Council as to when the MO should refer matters on to the police and 
when the police would wish the Council to proceed with dealing with a 
matter in the first instance.

85.Where an allegation relates to issues which could fall within the remit of 
another regulatory or professional body, it would be impractical to draw up 
protocols with each potential body but we recommend that the Council 
adopts as part of its procedure that the MO should discuss the matter on 
a case-by-case basis with any relevant body how an allegation could be 
best proceeded with and which body should take the lead if necessary in 
carrying out a further investigation.

Training

86.Another question which was raised with us through the course of our work 
was whether the existing training provided was adequate and covered the 
right areas and what steps could be taken to ensure members underwent 
training on conduct and governance issues. We have recommended that the 
Standards Committee take a greater role in looking at training provision, 
particularly where issues emerge from cases. 

87.However, there are four issues which are common to most authorities we 
work with, some of which were raised with us at Allerdale, which the Council 
as a whole should consider:
a) Attendance at training. It is our experience that not all members attend 

standards training. While training cannot be mandated we have worked 
with some authorities where group leaders make specific efforts to 
‘require’ their members to attend, and the training will be re-run to ensure 
everybody does, and people’s appointments to relevant roles will be 
dependent on them having undergone training on the Code and Principles 
of Public Life. The political groups at Allerdale should consider taking 
a more proactive approach politically to ensuring councillors attend 
training and understand the system as part of their ensuring that the 
Council as a whole promotes and maintains high standards;

b) Training for parish councillors. While Allerdale can ensure that its own 
members receive adequate training, it is more difficult to ensure parishes 
have access to adequate training, because of cost, time and geographical 
considerations. However, training can help prevent problems down the line 
so investment in parish training by the district can in the long run prove 
cost-effective. CSPL have recommended that MOs are better resourced to 
support their parishes and we suggest that the Council and the 
Cumbria Association of Local Councils review the availability and 
accessibility of parish training to see if they can improve its 
coverage;

c) Case involvement. Even where a councillor has attended training, there is 
still a feeling that, once they are party to a case, they need to be refreshed 
about how the arrangements work. While information is provided, there 

Page 44



may be better scope for somebody to sit down with a member at the start 
of a case and talk the steps and likely timescale through; and

d) The public as complainants. Inevitably members of the public who make a 
complaint will not have received training in understanding the Code or 
process. Again, while they are given information once a case has been 
submitted, there may be greater scope as at b) above for an officer to 
explain the steps and likely timescale face-to-face.

Code of Conduct

88.We also reviewed the Allerdale Code of Conduct. Broadly we find the Code 
clear and comprehensive though we do have some specific 
recommendations.

89.Codes of conduct can broadly be categorised as either ‘principles-based’ or 
‘rules-based’. Principles-based codes tend to be high-level and aspirational 
with very broad statements of modelled behaviour. A rules-based code tends 
to be more detailed with a set of ‘do’s’ and ‘don’ts’. The model codes 
produced in 2012 by the LGA and (the then) DCLG are broadly principles-
based whereas the old national code, and Allerdale’s own Code, are broadly 
rules-based. 

90.Proponents of a principles-based approach argue that it is robust and flexible 
because it:
a) provides guidance that can be applied to the infinite variations in 

circumstances that arise in practice
b) can cope with rapid changes of the modern environment
c) prevents the development of a mechanistic, "box-ticking" approach to 

decision-making and the use of legalistic loopholes to avoid compliance 
with guidance

d) focuses on the spirit of the guidance and encourages responsibility and 
the exercise of professional judgement, which are key elements of 
professions

91.On the other hand, supporters of a rules-based approach argue that 
compliance with such a code is easier since the requirements are more 
prescriptive, less open to interpretation and leave little room for 
misunderstanding. Furthermore, rules-based approaches are easier to 
enforce as they set more measurable standards.

92.In practice of course, most codes blend a rules-based and principles-based 
approach. It is our experience that rules-based codes provide greater certainty 
and are easier against which to judge individual cases and we would therefore 
recommend that Allerdale continue with a rules-based approach.

93.In reviewing a code in detail, it should be considered in two parts: the first part 
sets out the behaviours expected in carrying out your role and interacting with 

Page 45



other people; and the second part sets out specific rules with regard to 
registration and declaration of interests when considering specific business.

94.Looking at the first part of the Code – the section on behaviour – the message 
we received was that the rules should continue to be short, simple statements 
where possible and that any further explanation needed should be contained 
in supporting guidance. We would endorse this approach and therefore 
believe that the ‘behaviour’ part of the Code should remain the same, with two 
exceptions as set out below.

95.Firstly, as referenced at para 45 above, CSPL has recommended that non-
cooperation with an investigation should of itself be a breach of the Code. 
Given concerns that were raised with us about the length of time some cases 
take, coupled with the need for the Council to be seen to be taking standards 
seriously we would endorse that and therefore recommend that failure to 
cooperate with a standards investigation should be added as a potential 
breach of the Code.

96.We also heard specific concerns about the tone of some social media debate. 
While such matters are often outside the scope of the Code because they are 
not said in an official capacity, we have recommended at para 80 above that 
the Council should adopt a social media policy. We also recommend that 
the Council consider whether the Code should say that members must 
have regard to the social media policy. This would we think reinforce the 
message that the Council expects its members to conduct themselves 
respectfully at all times and does not condone the use of social media for 
bullying, abusive or threatening behaviour. This would be in line with 
recommendations made by CSPL that Government should legislate so that 
Councils could in future better regulate social media postings by members.

97.The second part of the Code relates to registration and declaration of 
interests. Here we think the Allerdale Code has a significant gap. 

98.By law, all local codes have to contain provisions on Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests (DPIs). These are a specific category of interests set out in 
regulation which have to be registered and where they crop up in a meeting, 
declared and the member barred from participating. These are a given and 
have therefore been directly reproduced in the Allerdale Code.

99.Those interests only relate to the member’s (and his/her partner’s) interests. 
Although the law is rather clumsily drafted it is also widely taken to mean that, 
for a declarable DPI to occur at a meeting the subject matter must be directly 
about that interest rather than something merely affecting it. A classic 
example of this would be your planning application is about your property and 
hence is a DPI but next door’s planning application is not directly about your 
property (though it may have some effect on it) and hence is not a DPI.

100. The current Code does not go beyond these narrow interests to cover 
other circumstances where a councillor would have a conflict of interest 

Page 46



(except for a category called ‘other registerable interests’ – see below). 
Classic examples of such an interest which are not captured by the DPI test 
are, as above an application next door, or an application made by one of your 
children. Under the Allerdale Code these interests are not captured and there 
is therefore no need for the member to declare any interest in matters which 
affect their family or close associates. 

101. I should say that it is our experience from having done member training 
in Allerdale that in practice members do declare these interests (often 
referring to them as ‘prejudicial interests’ as they were called under the old 
national Code). However, it is important that there are clear rules so that all 
members know where they stand and the rules can be applied equitably. It is 
also our experience, from Allerdale and elsewhere, that in the absence of 
clear rules conscientious members can in fact often over-declare and take 
themselves away from matters where they or their close associates in fact 
have no financial stake but merely where they have some knowledge of the 
subject and they want to be ‘whiter than white’. 

102. Unlike the ‘behaviour’ rules it can be difficult to summarise interests 
provisions into just a handful of words. We have therefore not suggested 
specific drafting. However, essentially what we are saying is that where a 
matter directly relates to you (or somebody associated with you) you should 
not participate in the discussion; where the matter more indirectly affects 
somebody you would apply a test as to how far they are affected. That test is 
in effect the test used by the courts to determine actual or perceived bias. 
That is would a reasonable member of the public in full possession of the facts 
think that they are more affected than the majority and if so would that cloud 
your judgment of the public interest (or be perceived to do so)

103. There has always been a balance to be struck for councillors when   
declaring interests. On the one hand they recognise that they are in a 
privileged and influential position when considering local matters so should 
not misuse that position and should not be at a greater advantage than a 
member of the public when dealing with matters which affect them or their 
loved ones. However, at times they can feel disadvantaged. They may be 
unable to put forward a case at a meeting for something that affects them, 
whereas a member of the public could; and they may even be unable to 
advocate on behalf of their constituents’ concerns because they happen to be 
affected personally as well. While the rules set out in the Localism Act on 
DPIs are absolute (without a dispensation) the Council should therefore seek 
to strike a balance for other interests by setting out when a member can 
speak on a matter before withdrawing – in a sense giving them the same but 
no more rights than a member of the public who might attend the open part of 
a meeting – and when they should absent themselves totally. Guidance could 
be used to explain in greater detail with some examples which rule would 
apply when but essentially the aim should be to ensure that public decisions 
are seen to be made in the public interest and where there are conflicting 
private interests a member’s participation is restricted accordingly.

Page 47



104. The other types of interests covered in the Allerdale Code are ‘other 
registerable interests’ – these go beyond the statutory minimum but reflect the 
practice in most councils and we believe they should be kept in the Code. 

105. We therefore recommend that the interests provisions in the 
Allerdale Code be expanded to make it clear that members should not 
make decisions where matters relate to or clearly affect their family 
members or close associates.

106. Most of the parish councils within Allerdale have adopted the Allerdale 
model code. We agree that this is good practice as it allows a consistency of 
approach and guidance and ensures that members who sit at both district and 
parish level are covered by the same rules at all times. Indeed, CSPL have 
recommended to Government that it be made mandatory to have the same 
code applying across a district. We therefore recommend that any changes 
made to the Allerdale Code would need to be effectively communicated 
and explained to the parish council sector. 

Culture and the role of political parties

107. The final area we have considered related to the wider duty on 
Councils to promote and maintain high standards. A council can have the 
clearest Code and most effective case handling process but it still needs to 
have a culture where standards are taken seriously, rules are followed and 
officers and members supported in enforcing those rules.

108. A common concern expressed was that standards appeared to be 
slipping in Allerdale and a more confrontational and disrespectful culture was 
developing. This can only be reversed with the support and cooperation of 
members, particularly leading members, totake standards seriously and 
promote a ‘zero tolerance’ culture towards poor behaviour.

109. We have made reference above to the political groups taking more 
responsibility for ensuring training is attended. We believe political groups also 
need to work with the officers to deal with misconduct.  There seemed to be 
confusion between how group and party discipline and formal Council 
standards procedures connected and there was a concern from senior 
members that they did not receive enough information about their own 
members nor did they feel they had sufficient opportunity for cross-group 
discussions to address concerns about standards matters.

110. We therefore recommend that group leaders and senior managers 
conduct a review of how their roles can support each other and what 
more could be done to promote high standards. This could include 
reviewing whether there needed to be say a quarterly meeting between the 
Chief Executive and MO with group leaders to discuss matters of concern and 
how matters could be improved; greater informal sharing of case information 
so that group discipline could support the formal processes; and the 

Page 48



Standards Committee being better empowered to work proactively to address 
common concerns across the Council.

Conclusions

111. We believe the process Allerdale currently has in place is typical of the 
Localism Act arrangements we see and already contains some elements of 
good practice whilst reflecting some of the constraints imposed by the 
legislation. We therefore do not believe major overhaul in the mechanical 
steps of the process are needed, though we have made some significant 
recommendations. We do however believe that more detail is needed to 
support the top-line process to ensure it is sufficiently transparent, operated to 
a timely fashion and applied consistently. This should not mean that all cases, 
no matter their significance, have to go through long and bureaucratic 
processes before being concluded but rather that, whenever a decision-
making point is reached in the process there is a clear timeline to be met and 
people are clear of the basis on which that decision has been made and there 
are clear guidelines as to how it will be communicated, with the Standards 
Committee taking a proactive overarching view of how the arrangements are 
working in practice and what lessons can be learnt.

112. The concerns expressed about the system at Allerdale from all we 
spoke to are in line with concerns we hear elsewhere about timeliness, 
independence and transparency/communication. In some ways, these 
concerns will always be around to a greater or lesser extent in any 
complaints-handling system as people will always want matters resolved more 
quickly than can sometimes be the case and will always have concerns about 
whether any in-house arrangement can be truly independent. However, there 
are ways in which these concerns can be mitigated. Effective and rigorous 
case management, coupled with a proactive approach to keeping the parties 
informed, is vital to help all sides feel they have had a fair hearing and that 
their case has been dealt with effectively and efficiently. 

113. Many of the recommendations we have made, therefore, are less 
about the mechanics of the process and more about how the process can be 
managed more efficiently and the culture of the Council shaped to promote 
high standards. Allerdale’s stated aim was to have an independent benchmark 
to help them have arrangements which reflect best national practice. We 
believe the package we propose will help Allerdale achieve that.

PAUL HOEY NATALIE AINSCOUGH

Co-Directors

HOEY AINSCOUGH ASSOCIATES LTD

4 April 2019

Page 49



LIST OF PEOPLE INTERVIEWED

Councillors

Cllr Tony Annison

Cllr Peter Bales

Cllr Nicky Cockburn

Cllr Joan Ellis

Cllr Marion Fitzgerald

Cllr Malcolm Grainger

Cllr Angela Kendall

Cllr Billy Miskelly

Cllr David Wilson

Cllr Janice Wood 

Officers

Brendan Carlin

Lee Jardine

Gayle Roach

Sharon Sewell

Emma Thompson

Lindsey Tomlinson 

Parish clerks

Chris Bagshaw

Sheila Brown

Jeff Downham

Angela Meek

Lynda Walker 

Independent Person

Paul Burns 

Page 50



APPENDIX B

LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Initial assessment of complaints

1. Delegation of  initial decision-making on a complaint should continue to 
rest with the Monitoring Officer. (Para 19)

2. Allerdale should specify that the MO need seek the views only of the 
Independent Person rather than the standards committee chair on an 
initial assessment; that these views do not need to be sought through a 
formal meeting; and that the IP’s views be recorded as part of a 
decision letter. (Para 31)

3. The initial decision on whether to take any action should be made 
against agreed published criteria and there should be a reserve power 
for the MO to recuse herself from taking decisions in certain agreed 
matters. (Para 32)

Investigation of complaints

4. There should be agreed criteria as to when a case is to be 
outsourced.(para 37)

5. Allerdale should adopt an agreed approach to tender for external 
investigations. (Para 38)

6. The parameters and methodology of an investigation should therefore 
be clearly defined and agreed in advance (Para 42)

Holding a hearing

7. Hearings should always be held by a sub-committee rather than the 
main committee (para 47)

8. Group Leaders on the Council should agree a process for selecting 
membership for any future sub-committee. (para 48)

Role of the standards committee

9. The Standards Committee should put in place an appropriate work 
programme to ensure promotion of high standards is at the core of the 
Council’s values and work. (Para 52)

10.The Committee should be consulted on member training programmes 
to ensure that the importance of the Principles of Public Life (the ‘Nolan 
principles’) is at the heart of the Council’s work and the Council should 
produce an annual report, whether from the chair of the Committee or 

Page 51



the Independent Person or jointly, to the Council on ‘the state of 
standards in the Council’. (Para 52)

The Independent Person

11.Allerdale should seek to appoint at least two IPs when it next recruits 
for the post. (Para 58)

12.Where there are two IPs the Council should make clear who is the 
designated IP for each case and communicate that to all parties in a 
case, together with an explanation of their role and what they can and 
cannot express views on. (Para 60)

13.Allerdale should put in place an IP protocol (Para 60)

Communication issues

14.Allerdale should set out clear guidelines as to what communications 
will be made during any ongoing case. (Para 63)

15.Once a decision has been made whether or not to take any further 
action, the Council needs to agree a policy as to what is communicated 
(Para 66)

16.Where some other resolution has been reached without an investigation 
– for example, the member has accepted quickly that they acted 
wrongly and has made a full apology, the Council should consider 
whether this information is made public as well. (Para 68)

17.The Council should make clear that the outcome of an investigation 
where a breach of the Code has been found will be made accessible to 
the public, for example through a case summary on the website and any 
relevant press statement, and consider how it wishes to deal with cases 
where the investigation has found there is no case to answer. (Para 70)

18.While there is information on the Council website, and as we 
understand it further information is sent out to the parties involved 
once a complaint is being processed, we would recommend that this 
information is reviewed, including how easy it can be found in practice. 
(Para 72)

19.With regard to the parties to a case (complainant or subject member) 
any review of communication should have particular emphasis on how 
they are communicated to. (Para 73)

Page 52



Councillors acting in a private capacity

20.The Council needs to be clear how ‘private’ matters are to be dealt with 
and how the Council will act in response to such matters. (Para 77)

21.The Council should be quite clear that, while it has no power to take any 
further action (except through political groups) where there has been a 
finding that behaviour has occurred which quite clearly affects the 
reputation of the council and falls far below the standards the public 
would expect from its elected officials, the Council disapproves of such 
behaviour. (Para 79)

22.The Council should adopt a social media protocol which lays down 
clearly the standards it would expect from members when they are 
posting on social media. (Para 80)

Overlapping jurisdictions

23.Allerdale should discuss ith its local police force the drawing up of a 
protocol between the police and the Council as to when the MO should 
refer matters on to the police and when the police would wish the 
Council to proceed with dealing with a matter in the first instance. (Para 
84)

24.The Council should adopt as part of its procedure that the MO should 
discuss on a case-by-case basis with any relevant body how an 
allegation could be best proceeded with and which body should take 
the lead if necessary in carrying out a further investigation.  (Para 85)

Training

25.The political groups at Allerdale should consider taking a more 
proactive approach politically to ensuring councillors attend training 
and understand the system as part of their ensuring that the Council as 
a whole promotes and maintains high standards (Para 87)

26.The Council and the Cumbria Association of Local Councils should 
review the availability and accessibility of parish training to see if they 
can improve its coverage (Para 87)

Code of Conduct

27.Failure to cooperate with a standards investigation should be added as 
a potential breach of the Code. (Para 95)

28.The Council should consider whether the Code should say that 
members must have regard to the social media policy (Para 96)

Page 53



29.The interests provisions in the Allerdale Code should be expanded to 
make it clear that members should not make decisions where matters 
relate to or clearly affect their family members or close associates. 
(Para 106)

30.Any changes made to the Allerdale Code should be effectively 
communicated and explained to the parish council sector. (Para 107)

Culture and the role of political parties

31.Group leaders and senior managers should conduct a review of how 
their roles can support each other and what more could be done to 
promote high standards. (para 111)

Page 54



Allerdale Borough Council

Arrangements for dealing with standards allegations under the 
Localism Act 2011

1 Context

These “Arrangements” set out how you may make a complaint that an elected 
or co-opted member of this authority [or of a parish council within its area] has 
failed to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct, and sets out how the 
authority will deal with allegations of a failure to comply with the authority’s 
Code of Conduct. 

Under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have 
in place “arrangements” under which allegations that a member or co-opted 
member of the authority [or of a parish council within the authority’s area], or 
of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the authority, has failed to comply with 
that authority’s Code of Conduct can be investigated and decisions made on 
such allegations. 

Such arrangements must provide for the authority to appoint at least one 
Independent Person, whose views must be sought by the authority before it 
takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided shall be investigated, 
and whose views can be sought by the authority at any other stage, or by a 
member [or a member or co-opted member of a parish council] against whom 
an allegation has been made. 

2 The Code of Conduct

The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for members, which is attached 
as Appendix 1 to these arrangements and available for inspection on the 
authority’s website and on request from Allerdale House, Workington.

Each parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct.  If you wish 
to inspect a Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, you should inspect any 
website operated by the parish council and request the parish clerk to allow 
you to inspect the parish council’s Code of Conduct. 

3 Making a complaint

If you wish to make a complaint, please write or email to – 

Monitoring Officer
Allerdale Borough Council
Allerdale House
Workington
Cumbria CA14 3YJ

Or – 

Page 55



monitoring.officer@allerdale.gov.uk

The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the authority who has statutory 
responsibility for maintaining the register of members’ interests and who is 
responsible for administering the system in respect of complaints of member 
misconduct. 

In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able 
to process your complaint, please complete and send us the model complaint 
form, which can be found on the authority’s website, next to the Code of 
Conduct, and is available on request from Reception at the main council 
Offices.

Please provide us with your name and a contact address or email address, so 
that we can acknowledge receipt of your complaint and keep you informed of 
its progress. If you want to keep your name and address confidential, please 
indicate this in the space provided on the complaint form, in which case we 
will not disclose your name and address to the member against whom you 
make the complaint, without your prior consent. The authority does not 
normally investigate anonymous complaints, unless there is a clear public 
interest in doing so.

The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within 5 
working days of receiving it, and will keep you informed of the progress of 
your complaint.

4 Will your complaint be investigated?

The Monitoring Officer will review every complaint received and, after 
consultation with the Independent Person, take a decision as to whether it 
merits formal 
investigation. The Monitoring Officer will undertake this consultation by 
telephone, by email or other electronic means or via a face to face meeting. In 
all instances a formal note of the discussion will be taken and placed on file. 

In making this assessment the following factors will be determined:

1. That the complaint is against one or more named members of the Borough 
Council or a parish council within the Borough;

2. That the member was in office at the time of the alleged breach 

3. That the member was acting in their capacity when the alleged breach 
occurred. 

4. That the complaint, if proven, would constitute a breach of the Code.

Page 56



If the complaint fails one or more of these tests then the decision of the 
Monitoring Officer will be that no further action can be taken. 

Once the initial assessment has been conducted and if the complaint meets 
all of the tests set out above then the Monitoring Officer will need to decide 
whether the complaint will be investigated further. In reaching this decision the 
following factors will be taken into consideration:

1. Does the alleged breach relate to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)? 
If so then the matter will be referred to the police for investigation

2. Is there any scope for reaching a local resolution? If the Monitoring Officer 
believes that an agreement can be reached between both parties to 
resolve the matter without the need for a formal investigation then that 
should be explored before a decision is taken to investigate. The decision 
may be taken to explore a local resolution and that if this proves 
unachievable then an investigation can commence. 

3. Is the alleged breach trivial, or the complaint vexatious or politically 
motivated? If so then Monitoring Officer may decide to take no further 
action. 

4. The public interest test: The Monitoring Officer will apply the public interest 
test (see Appendix A) in determining whether to refer a complaint for 
investigation, taking into consideration the seriousness of the alleged 
breach, the level of culpability of the Member, the harm caused to the 
complainant and whether an investigation is a proportionate response. 

This decision will normally be taken within 20 working days of receipt of your 
complaint. Where the Monitoring Officer has taken a decision, he/she will 
inform you of his/her decision and the reasons for that decision. 

In certain cases the Monitoring Officer may refer particular complaints to the 
Standards Committee where he/she feels that it would be inappropriate for 
him/her to take a decision on it, for example where he/she has previously 
advised the member on the matter or the complaint is particularly sensitive. 

Where he/she requires additional information in order to come to a decision, 
he/she may come back to you for such information, and may request 
information from the member against whom your complaint is directed. Where 
your complaint relates to a Parish Councillor, the Monitoring Officer may also 
inform the Parish Council of your complaint and seek the views of the Parish 
Clerk before deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation. 

As explained above, in appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to 
resolve the complaint informally, without the need for a formal investigation. 
Such 
informal resolution may involve the member accepting that his/her conduct 
was unacceptable and offering an apology, or other remedial action by the 

Page 57



authority. Where the member or the authority make a reasonable offer of local 
resolution, but you are not willing to accept that offer, the Monitoring Officer 
will take account of this in deciding whether the complaint merits formal 
investigation. If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other 
regulation by any person, the Monitoring Officer has the power to call in the 
Police and other regulatory agencies.

If at any point of the process the Monitoring Officer identifies potential conflicts 
of interest then alternative arrangements will be put in place as appropriate. 

5. PRIVATE CAPACITY

Where an assessment of a code of conduct complaint has concluded that the 
member was acting in a private capacity, and was therefore not subject to the 
code of conduct at the time of the alleged breach, the Monitoring Officer will 
determine whether it is appropriate to take any further action separate from 
the Standards regime.

This action may involve writing direct to the member in question advising that 
the behaviour displayed falls short of that required of an elected member, 
pointing out the effect the behaviour is likely to have on the council’s 
reputation, and reminding them of any relevant procedures and protocols. 
They may also be advised to attend appropriate training. 

The Monitoring Officer may also refer the matter to the member’s group 
leader, where appropriate, with a recommendation that appropriate sanctions 
be taken by the group. 

In the case of a parish councillor the Monitoring Officer may write to the parish 
clerk to advise them of the behaviour complained about and advising that 
whilst action cannot be taken under the Code of Conduct complaint process, 
the parish council should monitor such behaviour and take appropriate steps 
to ensure it is not repeated, for example making procedures and protocols 
readily accessible to members and providing any relevant training. 

Where any action is taken by the Monitoring Officer in response to a complaint 
where the member was found to be acting in a private capacity, the 
complainant will be advised of the action taken. However, in accordance with 
the Code of Conduct communications policy this information will not be made 
public unless the Monitoring Officer considers it to be in the public interest to 
do so. 

6 How is the investigation conducted?

The Council has adopted a procedure for the investigation of misconduct 
complaints, which is attached as Appendix 2 to these arrangements.

If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits formal investigation, 
he/she will appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be another senior officer 

Page 58



of the authority, an officer of another authority or an external investigator. The 
Investigating Officer will decide whether he/she needs to meet or speak to you 
to understand the nature of your complaint, so that you can explain your 
understanding of events, suggest what documents the Investigating Officer 
needs to see, and who the Investigating Officer needs to interview.

The Investigating Officer would normally write to the member against whom 
you have complained and provide him/her with a copy of your complaint, and 
ask the member to provide his/her explanation of events, and to identify what 
documents he needs to see and who he needs to interview. In exceptional 
cases, where it is appropriate to keep your identity confidential or disclosure 
of details of the complaint to the member might prejudice the investigation, the 
Monitoring Officer can delete your name and address from the papers given 
to the member, or delay notifying the member until the investigation has 
progressed sufficiently.

At the end of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft 
report and will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to you and to the 
member concerned, to give you both an opportunity to identify any matter in 
that draft report which you disagree with or which you consider requires more 
consideration.

Having received and taken account of any comments which you may make on 
the draft report, the Investigating Officer will send his/her final report to the 
Monitoring Officer.

7 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no 
evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct?

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and 
(following consultation with the Independent Person and Chair of the 
Standards Committee), if he is satisfied that it is sufficient, the Monitoring 
Officer will write to you and to the member concerned and to the Parish 
Council, where your complaint relates to a Parish Councillor, notifying you that 
he/she is satisfied that no further action is required, and give you both a copy 
of the Investigating Officer’s final report. The matter will be reported to the 
Standards Committee. If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied that the 
investigation has been conducted properly, he/she may ask the Investigating 
Officer to reconsider his/her report.

8 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is 
evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct?

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and will 
then either send the matter for local hearing before the Hearings Panel or, 
after consulting the Independent Person, seek local resolution.

 
8.1 Local Resolution 

Page 59



The Monitoring Officer may consider that the matter can reasonably be 
resolved without the need for a hearing. In such a case, he/she will consult 
with the Independent Person and with you as complainant and seek to agree 
what you consider to be a fair resolution which also helps to ensure higher 
standards of conduct for the future. Such resolution may include the member 
accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, 
and/or other remedial action by the authority. If the member complies with the 
suggested resolution, the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the 
Standards Committee and the Parish Council for information, but will take no 
further action. However, if you tell the Monitoring Officer that any suggested 
resolution would not be adequate, the Monitoring Officer will refer the matter 
for a local hearing. 

8.2 Local Hearing

If the Monitoring Officer considers that local resolution is not appropriate, or 
you are not satisfied by the proposed resolution, or the member concerned is 
not prepared to undertake any proposed remedial action, such as giving an 
apology, then the Monitoring Officer will report the Investigating Officer’s 
report to the Hearings Panel which will conduct a local hearing before 
deciding whether the member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct 
and, if so, whether to take any action in respect of the member. 

The Council has agreed a procedure for local hearings, which is attached as 
Appendix 3 to these arrangements. 

Essentially, the Monitoring Officer will conduct a “pre-hearing process”, 
requiring the member to give his/her response to the Investigating Officer’s 
report, in order to identify what is likely to be agreed and what is likely to be in 
contention at the hearing, and the Chair of the Hearings Panel may issue 
directions as to the manner in which the hearing will be conducted. At the 
hearing, the Investigating Officer will present his/her report, call such 
witnesses as he/she considers necessary and make representations to 
substantiate his/her conclusion that the member has failed to comply with the 
Code of Conduct. For this purpose, the Investigating Officer may ask you as 
the complainant to attend and give evidence to the Hearings Panel. The 
member will then have an opportunity to give his/her evidence, to call 
witnesses and to make representations to the Hearings Panel as to why 
he/she considers that he/she did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

The Hearings Panel, with the benefit of any advice from the Independent 
Person, may conclude that the member did not fail to comply with the Code of 
Conduct, and so dismiss the complaint. If the Hearings Panel concludes that 
the member did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will inform 
the member of this finding and the Hearings Panel will then consider what 
action, if any, the Hearings Panel should take as a result of the member’s 
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. In doing this, the Hearings Panel 
will give the member an opportunity to make representations to the Panel and 
will consult the Independent Person, but will then decide what action, if any, to 
take in respect of the matter. 

Page 60



9 What action can the Hearings Panel take where a member has failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct? 

The Council has delegated to the Hearings Panel such of its powers to take 
action in respect of individual members as may be necessary to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct. Accordingly the Hearings Panel may – 

1 Publish its findings in respect of the member’s conduct;

2 Send a formal letter to the Member; 

3 Report its findings to Council or to the Parish Council for information; 

4 Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of 
ungrouped members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that 
he/she be removed from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of 
the Council; 

5 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be 
removed from the Executive, or removed from particular Portfolio 
responsibilities; 

6 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to or recommend that the Parish 
Council arrange training for the member; 

7 Remove or recommend to the Parish Council that the member be 
removed from all outside appointments to which he/she has been 
appointed or nominated by the authority or by the Parish Council; 

8 Withdraw or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws 
certain facilities provided to the member by the Council; or

 
9 Exclude or recommend that the Parish Council exclude the 

member from the Council’s offices or other premises, with the 
exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, 
Committee and Sub-Committee meetings.

The Hearings Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the member or to 
withdraw members’ basic or special responsibility allowances.

10 What happens at the end of the hearing?

At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the Hearings 
Panel as to whether the member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct 
and as to any actions which the Hearings Panel resolves to take.
 
As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Monitoring Officer shall 
prepare a formal decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the Hearings 
Panel, and send a copy to you, to the member and to the Parish Council, 

Page 61



make that decision notice available for public inspection and report the 
decision to the next convenient meeting of the Council.

11 Who are the Hearings Panel?

The Hearings Panel is a Sub-Committee of the Council’s Standards 
Committee. The Standards Committee has decided that it will comprise three 
members of the Council, appointed on a political balance basis.

The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings 
Panel and his/her views are sought and taken into consideration before the 
Hearings Panel takes any decision on whether the member’s conduct 
constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of conduct and as to any action 
to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

12 Who is the Independent Person?

The Independent Person is a person who has applied for the post following 
advertisement of a vacancy for the post, and is appointed by a positive vote 
from a majority of all the members of Council.

A person cannot be “independent” if he/she –

1 Is, or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted 
member or officer of the authority; 

2 Is or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted 
member or officer of a parish council within the authority’s area, or 

3 Is a relative, or close friend, of a person within paragraph 1 or 
2 above. For this purpose, “relative” means –

3.1 Spouse or civil partner; 

3.2 Living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they 
were civil partners; 

3.3 Grandparent of the other person; 

3.4 A lineal descendent of a grandparent of the other person; 

3.5 A parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs 3.1 or 
3.2; 

3.6 A spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 
or 3.5; or 

3.7 Living with a person within paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 or 3.5 as 
husband and wife or as if they were civil partners.

Page 62



13 Revision of these arrangements

The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements, and has 
delegated to the Chair of the Hearings Panel the right to depart from these 
arrangements where he/she considers that it is expedient to do so in order to 
secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter. 

14 Appeals

There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the member against a 
decision of the Monitoring Officer or of the Hearings Panel. If you feel that the 
authority has failed to deal with your complaint properly, you may make a 
complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman. 

Appendix 1 The authority’s Code of Conduct 

Appendix 2 The Public Interest Test

Appendix 3 Procedure for Local Investigation of Referred Complaints

Appendix 4 Procedure for Determination of Allegations about the Personal Conduct 
of Council Members

Appendix 5 Communications Policy 

Page 63



Appendix 1

Allerdale Borough Council

Code of Conduct

For Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority

1 Allerdale Borough Council (“The Authority”) has adopted the following 
code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted 
members of the Authority (“Members”) when they are acting in that 
capacity as required by section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”).

2 The Authority has a statutory duty under the Act to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by Members and the Code sets out 
the standards that the Authority expects Members to observe.

3 The Code is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the obligations 
that are placed on Members.  It is the responsibility of individual 
Members to comply with the provisions of the Code as well as such 
other legal obligations as may apply to them from time to time. Failure to 
do so may result in a sanction being applied by the Authority.  Failure to 
take appropriate action in respect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
may result in a criminal conviction and a fine of up to £5,000 and/or 
disqualification from office for a period of up to 5 years.  

4 The code is intended to be consistent with the seven principles as 
attached to this code and applies whenever a person is acting in his/her 
capacity as a Member of the Authority or co-opted member in the 
conduct of the Authority’s business or acting as a representative of the 
Authority. (These principles were amended in February 2013, in 
accordance with the Committee on Standards in Public Life)

5 When acting in your capacity as a Member  

1 You must act solely in the public interest and should never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person 
or act to gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your 
family, a friend, a close associate, an employer or a business 
carried on by you.

2 You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation 
to outside individuals or organisations that may influence you in 
the performance of your official duties.

3 You must not disclose any information given to you as a Member 
in breach of any confidence.

Page 64



4 You must not bring your office or your Authority into disrepute.

5 You must treat others with respect and promote equality by not 
discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating 
people with respect, regardless of their sex, race, age, religion, 
gender, sexual orientation or disability.  You should respect the 
impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory officers and its 
other employees. 

6 When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, 
such as making public appointments, awarding contracts or 
recommending individuals for rewards or benefits on merit.

7 You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you 
must co-operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your 
office.

8 You must be as open as possible about your decisions and 
actions and the decisions and actions of your authority and 
should be prepared to give reasons for those decisions and 
actions.

9 You must declare any private interests, both disclosable 
pecuniary interests and any other registrable interests, that relate 
to your public duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts 
arising in a way that protects the public interest, including 
registering and declaring interests in a manner which conforms 
with the procedures set out below.

10 You must ensure, when using or authorising the use by others of 
the resources of your authority, that such resources are not used 
improperly for political purposes (including party political 
purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local 
Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government 
Act 1986.

11 You must promote and support high standards of conduct when 
serving in your office.

Registering and declaring disclosable pecuniary and other registrable 
interests

1 You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted 
member, notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of 
State, where the pecuniary interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil 

Page 65



partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of somebody with whom you are 
living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil partners. These 
interests and those at (2) below are shown attached to this code.

2 In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted 
member, notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest which your authority has decided should 
be included in the register. 

3 If an interest has not been entered onto the authority’s register, then the 
member must disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which 
they are present, where they have a disclosable interest in any matter being 
considered and where the matter is not a ‘sensitive interest' as described by 
the Localism Act 2011.

4 Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority’s register or 
the subject of pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer 
of the interest within 28 days beginning with the date of disclosure.

5 Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in 
which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by 
the Secretary of State. Additionally, you must observe the restrictions 
your authority places on your involvement in matters where you have a 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest as defined by your authority.     

Seven General Principles of Conduct 
(as updated by the Committee on Standards in Public Life – January 

2013)

The principles of public life apply to anyone who works as a public office 
holder. This includes all those who are elected or appointed to public office, 
nationally and locally, and all people appointed to work in the civil service, local 
government, the police, courts and probation services, NDPB’s, and in the 
health, education, social and care services. All public office-holders are both 
servants of the public and stewards of public resources. The principles also 
have application to all those in other sectors delivering public services.

1 Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

2 Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to 
influence them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in 
order to gain financial or other material benefit for themselves, their 

Page 66



family or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and 
relationships.

3 Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and 
on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination and bias.

4 Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to 
the public and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to 
ensure this. 

5 Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for doing so.

6 Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.

7 Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour when it occurs.

Page 67



Pecuniary and Other Registrable Interests

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (as defined by regulations)

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried 
on for profit or gain.

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant 
period in respect of any expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as 
a member, or towards the election expenses of M. (This includes any 
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

3 Details of any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the 
relevant authority –

a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to 
be executed; and

b) which has not been fully discharged.

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

6 Details of any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge) –

a) The landlord is the relevant authority; and

b) The tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

a) That body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or land in 
the area of the relevant authority; and

b) Either – 

i. The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or

Page 68



ii. If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that class.

Other Registrable Interests

These interests are what the Council has determined should be entered into 
the authority’s register of interests.

8 Details of any body of which you are a member, or in a position of 
general control or management, and to which you are appointed or 
nominated to by the Borough Council.

9 Details of any body of which you are a member, or in a position of 
general control or management, and which – 

a) Exercises functions of a public nature;

b) Is directed towards charitable purposes; or

c) Is a body which includes as one of its principle purposes 
influencing public opinion or policy (this includes political parties 
or trade unions).

10 Details of any persons from whom you have received a gift or hospitality 
with an estimated value of at least £50. (You must register any gifts or 
hospitality worth £50 or over that you receive personally in connection 
with your official duties).

Page 69



Appendix 2

THE PUBLIC INTEREST TEST

In every case where there is sufficient evidence to justify an investigation or 
formal hearing, Monitoring Officer must go on to consider (in consultation with 
the Independent Person) whether an investigation or formal hearing is 
required in the public interest.

It is not the case that an investigation or formal hearing will automatically take 
place once the evidential stage is met.  An investigation or formal hearing will 
usually take place unless the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that there are 
public interest factors tending against such an investigation/hearing which 
outweigh those tending in favour. In some cases, the Monitoring Officer may 
be satisfied that the public interest can be properly served by offering the 
relevant elected Member the opportunity to have the matter dealt with by an 
alternative remedy rather than bringing the complaint before a formal hearing 
of the Standards Committee.

When deciding the public interest, Monitoring Officer should consider each of 
the questions set out below as paragraphs a) to e) so as to identify and 
determine the relevant public interest factors tending for and against 
investigation/hearing. These factors should enable the Monitoring Officer to 
form an overall assessment of the public interest.

The explanatory text below each question in paragraphs a) to e) provides 
guidance to the Monitoring Officer when addressing each particular question 
and determining whether it identifies public interest factors for or against 
investigation/hearing. The questions identified are not exhaustive, and not all 
the questions may be relevant in every case. The weight to be attached to 
each of the questions, and the factors identified, will also vary according to the 
facts and merits of each case.

It is quite possible that one public interest factor alone may outweigh a 
number of other factors which tend in the opposite direction. Although there 
may be public interest factors tending against an investigation or in a 
particular case, the Monitoring Officer should consider whether nonetheless 
an investigation/formal hearing should go ahead and those factors put to the 
Standards Committee for consideration when coming to its decision.

Page 70



The Monitoring Officer should consider each of the following questions:

a. How serious is the breach of the Code?

 The more serious the breach, the more likely it is that a formal hearing is 
required.

 When assessing the seriousness of a breach, the Monitoring Officer 
should include in their consideration the elected Member’s culpability 
and the harm caused, by asking themselves the questions at b) and c).

b) What is the level of culpability of the elected Member?

 The greater the Member’s level of culpability, the more likely it is that an 
investigation is required.

 Culpability is likely to be determined by: 
 the Member’s level of involvement;
 the extent to which the breach of the Code was premeditated 

and/or planned;
 the extent to which the Member has benefitted from the conduct;
 whether the Member has previously breached the Code of 

Conduct;
 whether the breach was or is likely to be continued, repeated or 

escalated;

c) What are the circumstances of and the harm caused to the 
complainant?

 The circumstances of the complainant are highly relevant. The more 
vulnerable the complainant’s situation, or the greater the perceived 
vulnerability of the complainant, the more likely it is that a formal 
investigation or hearing is required.

 This includes where a position of trust or authority exists between the 
Member and complainant.

 It is more likely that a formal hearing is required if the conduct 
complained of was motivated by any form of prejudice against the 
complainant’s actual or presumed ethnic or national origin, gender, 
disability, age, religion or belief, sexual orientation or gender identity; or 
if the Member targeted or exploited the complainant, or demonstrated 
hostility towards the complainant, based on any of those characteristics.

 The Monitoring Officer also needs to consider if a formal hearing is likely 
to have an adverse effect on the complainant’s physical or mental 

Page 71



health, always bearing in mind the seriousness of the conduct 
complained of, the availability of special measures and the possibility of 
a formal hearing without the participation of the complainant.

 The Monitoring Officer should take into account the views expressed by 
the complainant about the impact that the conduct has had. In 
appropriate cases, this may also include the views of the complainant’s 
family.

 However, the Monitoring Officer does not act for complainants or their 
families in the same way as solicitors act for their clients, and Monitoring 
Officers must form an overall view of the public interest.

d) What is the impact on the community?

 The greater the impact of the conduct complained of on the community, 
the more likely it is that an investigation or formal hearing is required.

 Community is not restricted to communities defined by location and may 
relate to a group of people who share certain characteristics, 
experiences or backgrounds, including an occupational group.

e) Is an investigation or formal hearing a proportionate response?

 In considering whether investigation or formal hearing is proportionate to 
the likely outcome, the following may be relevant: 

i. The cost, especially where it could be regarded as excessive when 
weighed against any likely penalty. The Monitoring Officer should not 
decide the public interest on the basis of this factor alone. It is essential 
that regard is also given to the public interest factors identified when 
considering the other questions in paragraphs a) to e), but cost can be a 
relevant factor when making an overall assessment of the public interest.

ii. Cases should be dealt with in accordance with principles of effective 
case management. 

Page 72



Appendix 3

Allerdale Borough Council

Procedure for Local Investigation of Referred Complaints

Introduction and Summary 

This note sets out the procedure which will be followed in the local investigation of 
allegations of misconduct by Councillors or Co-opted Members (for ease of 
reference, hereinafter jointly referred to as “Councillors”). No departure will be made 
from this procedure unless and until the Monitoring Officer has first notified the 
Councillor against whom the allegation has been made of the proposed variation to 
the procedure and the reasons for that variation. 

This procedure applies to breaches of the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

When the Monitoring Officer receives an allegation of a failure by a Councillor to 
comply with the Code of Conduct, and, following consultation with the Independent 
Person and Chair of the Standards Committee, he is of the opinion that the 
allegation merits investigation, he shall arrange for an Investigating Officer to 
investigate the allegation and to report to the Monitoring Officer. 

Where the Investigating Officer has found, after investigation, that the Councillor has 
not acted in breach of the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members or a local 
protocol, the Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, 
following consultation with the Independent Person and the Chair of the Standards 
Committee, if he/she is of the view that the report is sufficient he/she will write to you, 
enclosing a copy of the report and advise you that no further action will be taken. 

Where the Investigating Officer has found that there has been a failure to comply 
with the Code of Conduct for Members or a local protocol and a Local Resolution 
has not been possible then the Monitoring Officer, following consultation with the 
Independent Person and the Chair of the, may decide to hold a full hearing to 
determine whether a breach of the authority’s Code of Conduct has occurred and 
whether any action should be taken in consequence. In this process, the function of 
the Investigating Officer is to ensure, as far as possible, that all the information which 
is relevant to the allegation is identified and presented to the Monitoring Officer, to 
enable him/her, in consultation informed decision as to whether the Councillor has 
failed to comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members, and upon any 
consequential action.

At any Hearing, the Standards Committee acts in an inquisitorial manner, rather than 
an adversarial manner, seeking the truth in relation to the conduct of the Councillor 
on the balance of the information available to it, and may commission further 
investigation or information if it needs to do so in order to come to a decision. In the 
event of the Investigating Officer requiring information from, or the attendance of, 
any Officer or elected Member in connection with the conduct of an investigation, 
such Officer or Member will be expected to co-operate fully with the Investigating 

Page 73



Officer in accordance with their responsibilities under their contracts of employment 
and Code of Conduct respectively. 

1 Interpretation 

‘Councillor’ means the member or co-opted member of the authority who is 
the subject of the allegation being considered by the Standards Committee, 
unless stated otherwise. It also includes the Councillor’s representative. 

‘Investigating Officer’ means the person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to 
undertake that investigation (which may include the Monitoring Officer, and 
his or her representative).

‘The Matter’ is the subject matter of the Investigating Officer’s report. 

‘The Standards Committee’ refers to the Standards Committee or to any 
Standards Sub- Committee to which it has delegated the conduct of the 
hearing, unless the context indicates that it refers only to the Standards 
Committee itself.

2 Notification of Reference of Al legation to the Monitoring Officer
 

(a) Appointment of Investigating Officer 

If it is determined that an investigation is appropriate, the Monitoring 
Officer will appoint an Investigating Officer in respect of the allegation 
and instruct him/her to conduct an investigation of the allegation and to 
report thereon to the Monitoring Officer. The Investigating Officer may 
be an officer of the authority, an officer of another local authority, or an 
external Investigating Officer.

The Investigating Officer may appoint persons to assist him/her in the 
conduct of his/her functions and may obtain such professional advice 
as may be necessary for the conduct of the investigation. 

(b) Notification to the Councillor 

The Monitoring Officer will then notify in writing the Councillor against 
whom the allegation is made: 

(i) that the allegation has been referred to him for local 
investigation and determination; 

(ii) the identity of the person making the allegation (unless 
identification of the complainant might prejudice the investigation 
or put the complainant at risk); 

(iii) of the conduct which is the subject of the allegation; 

Page 74



(iv) of the section(s) of the Code of Conduct or local protocol which 
appear to him to be relevant to the allegation; 

(v) of the procedure which will be followed in respect of the 
allegation, and 

(vi) of the identity of the Investigating Officer. 

(c) Notification to the Parish or Town Council Clerk 

Where the allegation relates to the conduct of a member of a Parish or 
Town Council in his her capacity as such, at the same time as notifying 
the Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will notify the Clerk of the Parish 
or Town Council concerned in writing of the matters set out in 
paragraphs 2(b)(i) - (iv) and (vi) above. 

(d) Notification to the Person who made the Allegation 

At the same time as notifying the Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will 
notify the person who made the allegation in writing of the matters set 
out in paragraphs 2(b)(i) - (iv) and (vi) above. 

(e)  Initial response of the Councillor

In notifying the Councillor of receipt of the allegation, the Monitoring 
Officer shall request the Councillor to respond to the Investigating 
Officer in writing within 14 days of notification as follows: 

(i) advising the Investigating Officer whether the Councillor admits 
or denies the breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol 
which is the subject of the allegation; 

(ii) listing any documents which the Councillor would wish the 
Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of 
the allegation, where possible providing copies of these 
documents, and informing the Investigating Officer of where the 
original documents may be inspected, 

(iii) providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and 
telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any 
person or organisation whom the Councillor would wish the 
Investigating Officer to interview in the course of any 
investigation of the allegation (providing that, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Investigating Officer, the number of such is not 
excessive or disproportionate), and 

(iv) providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the 
Councillor would wish the Investigating Officer to seek from any 
person or organisation.

Page 75



(f) Supporting information from the person who made the allegation In 
notifying the person who made the allegation as above, the Monitoring 
Officer will request the person to respond to the Investigating Officer 
within 14 days 

(i) listing any documents which the person would wish the 
Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of 
the allegation, where possible providing copies of these 
documents, and informing the Investigating Officer of where the 
original documents may be inspected, 

(ii) providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and 
telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any 
person or organisation whom the person would wish the 
Investigating Officer to interview in the course of any 
investigation of the allegation, and 

(iii) providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the 
person would wish the Investigating Officer to seek from any 
person or organisation. 

3 Conduct of Investigation 

(a) Purpose of the Investigation 

The purpose of the Investigating Officer’s investigation is to enable 
him/her to prepare and present to the Monitoring Officer a report which, 
if subsequently referred to the Standards Committee, would provide it 
with sufficient information to determine whether the Councillor has 
acted in breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol and, where 
there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol, 
whether any action should be taken in respect of the Councillor or in 
consequence of the breach, and what any such action should be. 

(b) Termination of the Investigation
 

The Investigating Officer may terminate his/her investigation at any 
point, where he/she is satisfied that he/she has sufficient information to 
enable him/her to report to the Standards Committee and to enable the 
Standards Committee to come to a considered decision on the 
allegation.

(c) Additional Matters 

Where, in the course of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer 
becomes aware of any other matter which appears to him/her to 
indicate a breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol by the 
Councillor other than the breach which he/she is currently investigating, 
the Investigating Officer shall either: 

Page 76



(i) (where the additional matter relates to an apparent breach of the 
authority’s Code of Conduct by a member of the principal 
authority) report the matter to the Monitoring Officer who will 
provide the Councillor with details of the matter in the form set 
out in paragraphs 2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the 
Councillor to provide a statement as to why the additional matter 
does not constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct; 

(ii) (where the additional matter constitutes an apparent breach of 
the authority’s local protocols but not a breach of the Code of 
Conduct by a member of the principal authority) report the 
matter to the Monitoring Officer who will provide the Councillor 
with details of the matter in the form set out in paragraphs 
2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the Councillor to provide a 
statement as to why the additional matter does not constitute a 
breach of the authority’s code of conduct. The Monitoring 
Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person and the 
Chair of the Standards Committee, will then take a decision 
whether to refer the matter to an Investigating Officer for local 
investigation and/or report to the Standards Committee as 
appropriate;

(iii) (Where the additional matter relates to an apparent breach of 
the Code of Conduct by a Parish or Town Councillor) notify the 
Clerk to the Town or Parish Council of the additional matter, and 
take no further action in respect thereof. 

(d) Following notification to the Councillor, the Investigating Officer will 
identify an initial list of persons to be interviewed, organisations from 
whom information is to be sought and documents to be inspected as 
part of the investigation. Where the Councillor has provided the 
Investigating Officer with the information requested in accordance with 
Paragraphs 2(f)(ii) and (iii) above, the Investigating Officer shall include 
in this list each document, person and organisation referred to in that 
response, unless he/she is of the opinion that the inclusion of that 
document, person or organisation would unreasonably delay the 
completion of the investigation rather than contribute to the accuracy of 
the Investigating Officer’s final report. The Investigating Officer may 
supplement or amend this list at any stage of the investigation. 

(e) Production of documents, information and explanations 

(i) In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and 
any person authorised on his/her behalf may make such 
enquiries of any person or organisation, and request any person 
or organisation to provide any document or information which is 
in his/its possession or control, or provide any explanation, as 
he/she thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the 
investigation.

Page 77



(ii) In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and 
any person authorised on his/her behalf may require any 
authority of which the Councillor is a member to provide any 
document which is in his/its possession or control which he/she 
thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the 
investigation. 

(iii) Any decision about whether any particular document is sensitive 
or commercially sensitive and thus not suitable for publication 
shall rest with the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the 
Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee. 

(f) Interviews 

(i) Requesting attendance 

In the course of the investigation the Investigating Officer may 
request any person to attend and appear before him or 
otherwise provide any information, document or explanation for 
the purpose of Paragraph 3(e), as he/she thinks necessary for 
the purposes of carrying out the investigation. 

(ii) Representation 

Any person who appears before the Investigating Officer may 
arrange to be accompanied at their own expense by a solicitor 
or friend. 

(iii) Notes of interviews 

Where practicable, following the interview the Investigating 
Officer shall produce a written note of the material points of the 
interview, provide two copies of that note to the person 
interviewed and ask them to return one copy signed as a correct 
record of the interview, with such corrections or amendments as 
they may feel necessary for that purpose. 

(g) Costs 

The Investigating Officer may, where he/she considers that it is 
appropriate in order to facilitate the conduct of the investigation, pay to 
any person who provides any document, information, advice or 
explanation in response to his/her request, such fees or allowances as 
he/she considers to be appropriate subject to any maxima set by the 
authority. 

Page 78



4 The Draft Report 

(a) When the Investigating Officer is satisfied that he/she has sufficient 
information to meet the requirement set out in Paragraph 3(a), or has 
obtained as much information as is likely to be reasonably capable of 
being obtained, he/she shall prepare a draft report with a “confidential” 
and “draft” marking setting out: 

(i) the details of the allegation; 

(ii) the relevant provisions of statute, of the Code of Conduct and 
any relevant local Protocols 

(iii) the Councillor’s initial response to notification of the allegation (if 
any); 

(iv)  the relevant information, evidence, advice and explanations 
which he/she has obtained in the course of the investigation; 

(v) a list of any documents relevant to the matter; 

(vi)  a list of those persons whom he/she has interviewed and those 
organisations from whom he/she has sought information; 

(vii) a note of any person or organisation who has failed to cooperate 
with the investigation and the manner in which they have failed 
to co-operate; 

(viii)  a statement of his/her draft findings of fact; 

(ix)  his/her conclusion (with reasons) as to whether the Councillor 
has or has not failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for 
Members of any authority or a local protocol, and 

(x) any recommendations which the Investigating Officer is minded 
to make to any authority concerned for reviewing or 
reconsidering any decision which was the subject of the breach 
of the Code of Conduct or local protocol, for rectifying any 
deficiency in the authority’s decision-making procedures or for 
preventing or deterring any breach of the Code of Conduct or 
local protocol or to remedy the position of any person who may 
have suffered detriment or injustice as a result of the breach. 
Where the allegation relates to a Parish or Town Councillor, 
such recommendations would be recommendations which the 
Investigating Officer would recommend that the Standards 
Committee make to the Parish or Town Council.

(b) The draft report should also state that the report does not necessarily 
represent the Investigating Officer’s final finding, and that the 
investigating Officer will present a final report to the Monitoring Officer 

Page 79



once he/she has considered any comments received on the draft 
report. 

(c) The Investigating Officer shall then send a copy of his/her draft report 
in confidence to the Councillor and the person making the allegation, 
and request that they send any comments thereon to him/her within 14 
days. 

(d) The Investigating Officer may send a copy of, or relevant extracts from 
his/her draft report in confidence to any person on whose evidence 
he/she has relied in compiling the draft report, and request that they 
send any comments thereon to him/her within 14 days. 

5 The Final Report 

(a)  After the expiry of that period (or such extended period as the 
Investigating Officer may allow), the Investigating Officer shall 
reconsider and amend his/her draft report in the light of any comments 
received, and produce and send to the Monitoring Officer his final 
report. The final report should be marked “final” and state that the 
report represents the Investigating Officer’s final findings and may, if 
necessary, be presented to the Standards Committee, and should, 
subject to 3(e)(iii), have appended to it copies of any documents which 
the Investigating Officer has relied on in reaching his/her conclusions, 
such as background documents of telephone conversations, 
letters, notes of interviews with witnesses and a chronology of events;

(b) The Monitoring Officer shall then send a copy of the final report to the 
Councillor, advising that: 

(i) where the final report concludes that there has not been a failure 
to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members or a local 
protocol, (if the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee are 
satisfied) that no further action is required, and 

(ii) where the final report concludes that there has been a failure by 
the Councillor to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members 
or with a local protocol, he/she will consider, in consultation with 
the Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee, 
whether the matter be further dealt with by Local Resolution or a 
Local Hearing. 

(c) If the complaint is dealt with by Local Resolution then that is the end of 
the matter. 

(d) If it is determined that there should be a Local Hearing then the 
Procedure for Determination of Allegations about the Personal Conduct 
of Members will apply. 

Page 80



Appendix 4

Allerdale Borough Council

Procedure for Determination of Allegations about the Personal Conduct of 
Council Members

Introduction

1 The local determination of complaints following a local investigation and 
referral by the Monitoring Officer, will be by a Sub-Committee of the 
Standards Committee and will be governed by this procedure. 

2 The person[s] making the complaint will be referred to in this procedure as the 
Complainant and the person against whom the complaint is made will be 
referred to as the Member. The allegation will be heard by  a Sub- Committee 
of the Standards Committee (the Membership will be agreed in accordance 
with the protocol agreed by Group Leaders). 

Pre-Hearing Process [Local Investigations]

3 Upon receipt of the final report of the Investigating Officer including a finding 
that the Member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members and 
where it has not been possible to reach a local resolution or the Monitoring 
Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person and the Chair of the 
Standards Committee, finds that the matter should be considered at a formal 
hearing the Monitoring Officer shall arrange for the Standards Sub-Committee 
to consider the matter.

 
4 Where the Monitoring Officer is the Investigating Officer he/she must arrange 

for a separate legal advisor to the Sub-Committee to be appointed in respect 
of the allegation. 

Notifying the Member and Complainant

5 Within five working days of the receipt of the Investigating Officer’s report the 
Monitoring Officer shall send a copy of the report to the Member and, where 
possible, the Complainant, making the provision of the report conditional upon 
any appropriate undertaking ofconfidentiality. The Chairman and Members of 
the Committee shall be informed of the allegation by the Monitoring Officer, as 
well as any Parish or Town Council Clerk where the allegation relates to 
conduct of a Member in his/her capacity as a member of a Parish or Town 
Council. 

6 The Member shall be asked for a written response, within fifteen working days 
of the receipt of the report, which response shall set out the reply to the 
Investigating Officer’s report and state whether or not he/she: 

i. disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the Investigating Officer’s 
report, including the reasons for any disagreement; 

Page 81



ii. wants to be represented, at his/her own expense, at the hearing by any 
other person; 

iii. wants to give evidence to the Sub-Committee, either verbally or in 
writing; 

iv. wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the Sub-
Committee; 

v. wants any part of the hearing to be held in private; 

vi. wants any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other relevant 
documents to be withheld from the public. 

7 The Member shall be informed that if, at the meeting of the Sub-Committee, 
he/she seeks to dispute any matter contained in the Investigating Officer’s 
report without having previously notified the Monitoring Officer of the intention 
to do so the Sub-Committee may either [a] adjourn the meeting to enable the 
Investigating Officer to provide a response, or [b] refuse to allow the disputed 
matter to be raised. 

8 Upon receipt, the Monitoring Officer shall invite the relevant Investigating 
Officer to comment, within ten working days, on the Member’s response, and 
to say whether or not he/she: 

i. wants to be represented or be present at the hearing; 

ii. wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence or submit written or 
other evidence to the Sub-Committee; 

iii.  wants any part of the hearing to be held in private; 

iv. wants any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other relevant 
documents to be withheld from the public. 

9 Upon receipt of the Investigating Officer’s response, the Monitoring Officer 
will consider the responses of the Member and the Investigating Officer and 
request the Monitoring Officer to set a date for the hearing in consultation with 
the Chairman. 

10 The Member and the Investigating Officer are entitled to request that any 
witnesses they want should be called. However, the Chairman of the Hearing 
may limit the number of witnesses to be called, if he/she believes the number 
requested is unreasonable and that some witnesses will simply be repeating 
the evidence of earlier witnesses, or else not providing evidence that will 
assist the Sub-Committee to reach its decision.

Page 82



11 Nothing in this procedure shall limit the Chairman of the Hearing from 
requesting the attendance of any additional witnesses whose evidence he/she 
considers would assist the Sub-Committee to reach its decision. 

12 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chairman, will: 

i. confirm a date, time and place for the Hearing, which must be within 
three months from the date that the Investigating Officer’s report was 
received; 

ii. confirm the main facts of the case that are agreed; 

iii. confirm the main facts that are not agreed; 

iv. provide copies of any written evidence to the relevant parties; 

v. confirm which witnesses will be called by the parties; 

vi. provide the parties with a copy of the proposed procedure for the 
Hearing, specifying which parts of the matter, if any, may be 
considered in private; and 

vii. ensure the appropriate information, with the agenda, is provided to 
everyone involved in the Hearing at least two weeks before the 
proposed date of the Hearing. 

The Hearing

13 The Sub-Committee shall decide, on a balance of probabilities, whether the 
complaint[s] is or are upheld upon the evidence presented to it. 

14 Each Sub-Committee Member shall have one vote, and all matters/issues 
shall be decided by a simple majority of votes cast. If there are equal 
numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman will have second or 
casting vote. 

15 The meeting of the Sub-Committee will be open to the public and press 
unless confidential information or exempt information is likely to be 

disclosed. 

Procedure at the Hearing

16 The initial order of business at the meeting shall be as follows:- 

i. Establishing whether the Sub-Committee is quorate; 

ii. Declarations of interest; 

iii. Introductions 

Page 83



iv. Consideration as to whether to adjourn or to proceed in the absence of 
the Member, if the Member is not present; 

v. Consideration of any procedural issues and, in particular, any 
representation from the Investigating Officer and/or the Member as to 
reasons why the Sub-Committee should exclude the press and public 
and determination as to whether to exclude the press and public. 

17 The purpose of the Hearing is to determine the facts at issue and what action, 
if any, should be taken. An inquisitorial approach will be adopted by the 
Committee members in seeking information and clarifying facts and issues. 
The Chairman will control the procedure and evidence presented at the 
Hearing, including the questioning of witnesses. 

18 The Sub-Committee members may at any time seek legal advice from their 
advisor. [Such advice will be notified to the public in the presence of the 
Investigation Officer and the Member.] 

19 The procedure will be as follows, subject to the Chairman being able to make 
changes as he or she thinks fit in order to ensure a fair and efficient hearing. 

Proceeding in the Absence of the Member

20 If the Member is not present at the start of the Hearing: 

i. The Chairman will ask the Monitoring Officer whether the Member has 
indicated his/her intention not to attend the Hearing; 

ii. The Standards Sub-Committee shall then consider any reasons which 
the Member has provided for not attending the Hearing and shall 
decide whether it is satisfied that there is sufficient reason for such 
failure to attend; 

iii. If the Standards Sub-Committee is satisfied with such reasons, it shall 
adjourn the Hearing to another date; 

iv. If the Standards Sub-Committee is not satisfied with such reasons, or if 
the Member has not given any such reasons, the Standards Sub-
Committee shall decide whether to consider the matter and make a 
determination in the absence of the member or to adjourn the Hearing 
to another date.

21 Presentation by the Investigating Officer 

21.1 The Investigating Officer will present the evidence which is relevant to 
the matter. The Investigating Officer may introduce any witness 
required to substantiate any matter contained in the report which has 
been disputed and present any other relevant evidence. 

Page 84



21.2 The Member or his/her representative may ask questions of the 
Investigating Officer or any witness. 

21.3  The Sub-Committee members may ask questions of the Investigating 
Officer or any witness. 

22 Presentation by the Member 

22.1 The Member or his/her representative will present the evidence which 
is relevant to the matter. The Member or his/her representative may 
introduce witnesses or present any other relevant evidence. 

22.2 The Investigating Officer may ask questions of the Member, or any 
witness. 

22.3 The Sub-Committee members may ask questions of the Member or 
any witness. 

22.4 The Investigating Officer and then the Member or his/her 
representative will be given the opportunity to sum up. 

22.5  If the Sub-Committee at any time prior to determining whether there 
was a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct are of the opinion 
that they require additional evidence on any point in order to be able to 
come to a considered conclusion on the matter the Sub-Committee 
may (on not more than one occasion) adjourn the hearing and make a 
request to the Monitoring Officer to seek and provide such additional 
evidence and to undertake further investigation on any point specified 
by the Standards Sub-Committee. 

23 Decision by the Sub-Committee 

23.1 The Sub-Committee will consider in private all the evidence which it 
has heard in order to establish its findings of fact. 

23.2 At any stage in the consideration of the matter the Sub-Committee may 
return to ask further questions of the Investigating Officer or the 
Member or seek further information. The other party will be given an 
opportunity to comment upon the questions asked or the responses 
made. 

23.3 The Committee may seek legal advice at any time. Such advice may 
be given in the presence of the Investigating Officer and the Member if 
appropriate.

23.4 At the conclusion of their deliberations, the Chairman will advise the 
Member and the Investigating Officer of their findings and whether the 
Code of Conduct has been breached. 

Page 85



23.5 If the Sub-Committee concludes that the Member has acted in breach 
of the Code representations will be invited from the Investigating 
Officer and the Member as to what action, if any, it should take. The 
Sub-Committee may ask questions of the Member and the 
Investigating Officer. 

24 The Sub-Committee, having heard any representations, will consider what 
actions, if any, to take. 

The findings that the Sub-Committee may make are: 

a) That there has been no breach of the Code; 

b) That the Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, but 
that no action needs to be taken;

 
c) That the Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and 

the sanction(s) should be that the Standards Sub-Committee: 

 Publish its findings in respect of the Member’s conduct; 
 Send a formal letter to the Member 
 Report its findings to the Council or Parish Council for 

information; 
 Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of 

an ungrouped member(s), recommend to Council or 
Committees) that he/she be removed from any or all committees 
or sub-committees of the Council; 

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be 
removed from the Executive or removed from particular Portfolio 
responsibilities;

 Instruct the Monitoring Officer or recommend that the Parish 
Council arrange training for the member; 

 Remove or recommend to the Parish Council that the member 
be removed from all outside appointments to which he/she has 
been appointed or nominated by the Council or the Parish 
Council; 

 Withdraw or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws 
certain facilities provided to the member by the Council; or 

 Exclude or recommend that the Parish Council exclude the 
member from the member from Council’s offices or other 
premises, with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for 
attending Council, Committees and Sub-Committee meetings.

 
25 In deciding what penalty to set, the Sub-Committee will consider all relevant 

circumstances. 

26 The Chairman will announce the decision of the Sub-Committee, the action, 
if any, it is proposed to take and the reasons for the decision. 

Page 86



27 The Sub-Committee will then consider in open session whether there are any 
recommendations which should be made to any Authority concerned arising 
from the consideration of the allegation. 

Appeal

28 There is no right of appeal against the decision of the Hearing Panel.

Notice of FIndings

29 A full written decision in draft [including the reasons for it] will be prepared as 
soon as practicable. The draft decision will be forwarded to the Chairman of 
the Sub-Committee for approval. 

30 Once approved and as soon as reasonably practicable after the Hearing the 
full written decision will be forwarded to the Member, the Complainant [where 
possible], the Investigating Officer and any other Authority concerned. 

31 If the Hearing Panel wishes to publish its finding, the Monitoring Officer, 
subject to paragraph 32, shall arrange for a summary of the findings to be 
published in one newspaper circulating in the area of the Authority in 
accordance with paragraphs 33 and 34 or in such other manner as the 
Hearing Panel may determine (for example, by reporting the matter to Council 
for information). 

32 Where the Sub-Committee determines that there has not been a beach of the 
Code of Conduct, the notice shall: 

i. State that the Sub-Committee found that the Member had not failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct and shall give its reasons for 
reaching that finding; and 

ii. Not be published in the local newspaper if the Member so requests. 

33 Where the Sub-Committee determines that there has been a failure to comply 
with the Code of Code but no action is required, the notice shall: 

i. State that the Sub-Committee found that the Member had failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct but that no action needs to be taken 
in respect of that failure; 

ii. Specify the details of the failure; 

iii. Give reasons for the decision reached; and 

34 Where the Sub-Committee determines that there has been a failure to comply 
with the Code of Conduct and that a sanction should be imposed, the notice 
shall: 

Page 87



i.  State that the Sub-Committee found that the Member had failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct; 

ii. Specify the details of the failure; 

iii. Give reasons for the decision reached; 

iv. Specify the sanction imposed; and 

35 Copies of the agenda, reports and minutes of a Hearing, as well as any 
background papers, apart from sections of documents relating to parts of the 
Hearing that were held in private, shall be available for public inspection for 
six years after the Hearing. 

Page 88



Arrangements for Dispensations 

Section 33 Localism Act details the circumstances in which dispensations may be 
granted. 

It is recommended: 

That the Council delegate to the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Independent Person and Chairman of Standards Committee, the power to grant 
dispensations up to a maximum of 4 years in the following circumstances with an 
appeal to the Standards Committee – 

1 That he/she considers that without the dispensation the number of persons 
prohibited from participating in any particular business would be so great a 
proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction 
of the business. 

2 That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political 
groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so 
upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business.

 
3 That, without a dispensation, no member of the Executive would be able to 

participate on this matter. 

That the Council delegate to the Standards Committee, in consultation with the 
Independent Person, to grant dispensations up to a maximum of 4 years in the 
following circumstances: 

1 That the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of persons 
living in the authority’s area; 

2 That the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 
dispensation. 

The Standards Committee to have authority to deal with any of those dispensations 
delegated to the Monitoring Officer where the Monitoring Officer considers it 
inappropriate to deal with a request and chooses to refer to the Standards 
Committee for determination. 

Page 89



Appendix 5

Communications Policy for Code of Conduct Complaints

Allerdale Borough Council recognises the sensitivity and the need for confidentiality 
in respect of code of conduct complaints made against elected members. Therefore 
there is a presumption that there will not normally be any publicly available 
information on any code of conduct complaint until after the conclusion of a local 
hearing. 

The exception to this will be in those instances where the Monitoring Officer has 
concluded that a likely breach did occur but a local resolution has been reached, or 
where the application of the public interest test found that an investigation was not in 
the public interest. In both of these situations the Monitoring Officer will confer with 
the Independent Person to agree whether it is in the public interest to publish details 
of the complaint and the resolution reached. Both parties will be consulted and any 
objection raised by either party will be considered by the Monitoring Officer before a 
final decision is made. 

At all stages during a complaint both parties will be kept updated on progress, and 
particularly where there is any delay to any stage of the process.  

All parties will be informed of the need to maintain confidentiality throughout the 
process. All communications will include this requirement as a matter of course. 

In cases involving members of Allerdale Borough Council the Monitoring Officer will 
advise the member’s group leader (if they are a member of a political group) of the 
complaint and will keep the group leader informed of progress. 

In cases involving members of parish councils the Monitoring Officer will advise the 
relevant parish clerk of the complaint and will keep the clerk informed of progress. 

Where the Monitoring Officer has determined that a member was acting in a private 
capacity at the time of the alleged breach but that it is appropriate to take action in 
accordance with paragraph 5 of the procedure, details of the complaint and action 
taken will not normally be made public unless the Monitoring Officer feels it is in the 
public interest to do so. 

All parties to the complaint will be asked to provide an email address and telephone 
number so that communications about the complaint can be sent as quickly and 
efficiently as possible. Where an email address is not available the Monitoring Officer 
will send all communications by post. If a telephone number is provided the 
Monitoring Officer may use this to contact the parties to provide brief verbal updates 
or to request information. This will be in addition to and not in place of the written 
communication referred to above. 

The Monitoring Officer can consult with the Independent Person by telephone, by 
email or other electronic means or via a face to face meeting. In all instances a 
formal note of the discussion will be taken and placed on file. 

Page 90



The personal contact details of complainants will be held confidentially and not 
shared with any other departments or individuals without the express written 
permission of the complainant. 

The Council will issue a statement on its website and to local media where the 
outcome of an investigation has proven that there was a breach of the Code. A 
summary of the case will be made available on the council’s website. The Monitoring 
Officer will redact any sensitive or confidential details of the case as appropriate. The 
Monitoring Officer may also decide to maintain the anonymity of the complainant 
where appropriate.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Arrangements for dealing with standards allegations under the  
Localism Act 2011 

 
1 Context 
 

These “Arrangements” set out how you may make a complaint that an elected 
or co-opted member of this authority [or of a parish council within its area] has 
failed to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct, and sets out how the 
authority will deal with allegations of a failure to comply with the authority’s 
Code of Conduct.  
 
Under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have 
in place “arrangements” under which allegations that a member or co-opted 
member of the authority [or of a parish council within the authority’s area], or 
of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the authority, has failed to comply with 
that authority’s Code of Conduct can be investigated and decisions made on 
such allegations.  

 
Such arrangements must provide for the authority to appoint at least one 
Independent Person, whose views must be sought by the authority before it 
takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided shall be investigated, 
and whose views can be sought by the authority at any other stage, or by a 
member [or a member or co-opted member of a parish council] against whom 
an allegation has been made.  

 
2 The Code of Conduct 
 

The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for members, which is attached 
as Appendix 1 to these arrangements and available for inspection on the 
authority’s website and on request from Allerdale House, Workington. 
 
Each parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct.  If you wish 
to inspect a Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, you should inspect any 
website operated by the parish council and request the parish clerk to allow 
you to inspect the parish council’s Code of Conduct.  

 
3 Making a complaint 
 
 If you wish to make a complaint, please write or email to –  
 

Monitoring Officer 
Allerdale Borough Council 
Allerdale House 
Workington 
Cumbria CA14 3YJ 
 
Or –  

 

Page 93



 democratic.servicesmonitoring.officer@allerdale.gov.uk 
 

The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the authority who has statutory 
responsibility for maintaining the register of members’ interests and who is 
responsible for administering the system in respect of complaints of member 
misconduct.  

 
In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able 
to process your complaint, please complete and send us the model complaint 
form, which can be found on the authority’s website, next to the Code of 
Conduct, and is available on request from Reception at the main council 
Offices. 

 
Please do provide us with your name and a contact address or email address, 
so that we can acknowledge receipt of your complaint and keep you informed 
of its progress. If you want to keep your name and address confidential, 
please indicate this in the space provided on the complaint form, in which 
case we will not disclose your name and address to the member against 
whom you make the complaint, without your prior consent. The authority does 
not normally investigate anonymous complaints, unless there is a clear public 
interest in doing so. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within 5 
working days of receiving it, and will keep you informed of the progress of 
your complaint. 

 
4 Will your complaint be investigated? 
 

The Monitoring Officer will review every complaint received and, after  
consultation with the Independent Person and Chair of the Council’s  
Standards Committee, take a decision as to whether it merits formal  
investigation. The Monitoring Officer will undertake this consultation by 
telephone, by email or other electronic means or via a face to face meeting. In 
all instances a formal note of the discussion will be taken and placed on file.  

 
 
In making this assessment the following factors will be determined: 
 
1. That the complaint is against one or more named members of the Borough 

Council or a parish council within the Borough; 
 

2. That the member was in office at the time of the alleged breach  
 
3. That the member was acting in their capacity when the alleged breach 

occurred.  
  
4. That the complaint, if proven, would constitute a breach of the Code. 
  
  

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start

at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:

 1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.9 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start

at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:

 1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.9 cm

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start

at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:

 1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.9 cm

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No

bullets or numbering

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start

at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:

 1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.9 cm

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No

bullets or numbering

Page 94



If the complaint fails one or more of these tests then the decision of the 
Monitoring Officer will be that no further action can be taken.  
 
Once the initial assessment has been conducted and if the complaint meets 
all of the tests set out above then the Monitoring Officer will need to decide 
whether the complaint will be investigated further. In reaching this decision the 
following factors will be taken into consideration: 
 
1. Does the alleged breach relate to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)? 

If so then the matter will be referred to the police for investigation 
 
2. Is there any scope for reaching a local resolution? If the Monitoring Officer 

believes that an agreement can be reached between both parties to 
resolve the matter without the need for a formal investigation then that 
should be explored before a decision is taken to investigate. The decision 
may be taken to explore a local resolution and that if this proves 
unachievable then an investigation can commence.  

  
3. Is the alleged breach trivial, or the complaint vexatious or politically 

motivated? If so then Monitoring Officer may decide to take no further 
action.  

 
4. The public interest test: The Monitoring Officer will apply the public interest 

test (see Appendix A) in determining whether to refer a complaint for 
investigation, taking into consideration the seriousness of the alleged 
breach, the level of culpability of the Member, the harm caused to the 
complainant and whether an investigation is a proportionate response.  

  
 
This decision will normally be taken within 10 20 working days of receipt of 
your complaint. Where the Monitoring Officer has taken a decision, he/she will 
inform you of his/her decision and the reasons for that decision.  
 
In certain cases the Monitoring Officer may refer particular complaints to the 
Standards Committee where he/she feels that it would be inappropriate for 
him/her to take a decision on it, for example where he/she has previously 
advised the member on the matter or the complaint is particularly sensitive.  

 
Where he/she requires additional information in order to come to a decision, 
he/she may come back to you for such information, and may request 
information from the member against whom your complaint is directed. Where 
your complaint relates to a Parish Councillor, the Monitoring Officer may also 
inform the Parish Council of your complaint and seek the views of the Parish 
Clerk before deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation.  

 
In As explained above, in appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek 
to resolve the  
complaint informally, without the need for a formal investigation. Such  
informal resolution may involve the member accepting that his/her conduct 
was unacceptable and offering an apology, or other remedial action by the 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start

at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:

 1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.9 cm

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start

at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:

 1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.9 cm

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No

bullets or numbering

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start

at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:

 1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.9 cm

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No

bullets or numbering

Page 95



authority. Where the member or the authority make a reasonable offer of local 
resolution, but you are not willing to accept that offer, the Monitoring Officer 
will take account of this in deciding whether the complaint merits formal 
investigation. If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other 
regulation by any person, the Monitoring Officer has the power to call in the 
Police and other regulatory agencies. 
 
If at any point of the process the Monitoring Officer identifies potential conflicts 
of interest then alternative arrangements will be put in place as appropriate.  
 
5. PRIVATE CAPACITY 

 
Where an assessment of a code of conduct complaint has concluded that the 
member was acting in a private capacity, and was therefore not subject to the 
code of conduct at the time of the alleged breach, the Monitoring Officer will 
determine whether it is appropriate to take any further action separate from 
the Standards regime. 
 
This action may involve writing direct to the member in question advising that 
the behaviour displayed falls short of that required of an elected member, 
pointing out the effect the behaviour is likely to have on the council’s 
reputation, and reminding them of any relevant procedures and protocols. 
They may also be advised to attend appropriate training.  
 
The Monitoring Officer may also refer the matter to the member’s group 
leader, where appropriate, with a recommendation that appropriate sanctions 
be taken by the group.  
 
In the case of a parish councillor the Monitoring Officer may write to the parish 
clerk to advise them of the behaviour complained about and advising that 
whilst action cannot be taken under the Code of Conduct complaint process, 
the parish council should monitor such behaviour and take appropriate steps 
to ensure it is not repeated, for example making procedures and protocols 
readily accessible to members and providing any relevant training.  
 
Where any action is taken by the Monitoring Officer in response to a complaint 
where the member was found to be acting in a private capacity, the 
complainant will be advised of the action taken. However, in accordance with 
the Code of Conduct communications policy this information will not be made 
public unless the Monitoring Officer considers it to be in the public interest to 
do so.  
 

 
56 How is the investigation conducted? 
 

The Council has adopted a procedure for the investigation of misconduct 
complaints, which is attached as Appendix 2 to these arrangements. 
 
If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits formal investigation, 
he/she will appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be another senior officer 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start

at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:

 1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.9 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm

Page 96



of the authority, an officer of another authority or an external investigator. The 
Investigating Officer will decide whether he/she needs to meet or speak to you 
to understand the nature of your complaint, so that you can explain your 
understanding of events, suggest what documents the Investigating Officer 
needs to see, and who the Investigating Officer needs to interview. 
 
The Investigating Officer would normally write to the member against whom 
you have complained and provide him/her with a copy of your complaint, and 
ask the member to provide his/her explanation of events, and to identify what 
documents he needs to see and who he needs to interview. In exceptional 
cases, where it is appropriate to keep your identity confidential or disclosure 
of details of the complaint to the member might prejudice the investigation, the 
Monitoring Officer can delete your name and address from the papers given 
to the member, or delay notifying the member until the investigation has 
progressed sufficiently. 

 
At the end of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft 
report and will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to you and to the 
member concerned, to give you both an opportunity to identify any matter in 
that draft report which you disagree with or which you consider requires more 
consideration. 
 
Having received and taken account of any comments which you may make on 
the draft report, the Investigating Officer will send his/her final report to the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
67 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no 

evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and  
(following consultation with the Independent Person and Chair of the  
Standards Committee), if he is satisfied that it is sufficient, the Monitoring 
Officer will write to you and to the member concerned and to the Parish 
Council, where your complaint relates to a Parish Councillor, notifying you that 
he/she is satisfied that no further action is required, and give you both a copy 
of the Investigating Officer’s final report. The matter will be reported to the 
Standards Committee. If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied that the 
investigation has been conducted properly, he/she may ask the Investigating 
Officer to reconsider his/her report. 

 
78 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is 

evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and will 
then either send the matter for local hearing before the Hearings Panel or, 
after consulting the Independent Person, seek local resolution. 

  
78.1 Local Resolution  
 

Page 97



The Monitoring Officer may consider that the matter can reasonably be 
resolved without the need for a hearing. In such a case, he/she will consult 
with the Independent Person and with you as complainant and seek to agree 
what you consider to be a fair resolution which also helps to ensure higher 
standards of conduct for the future. Such resolution may include the member 
accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, 
and/or other remedial action by the authority. If the member complies with the 
suggested resolution, the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the 
Standards Committee and the Parish Council for information, but will take no 
further action. However, if you tell the Monitoring Officer that any suggested 
resolution would not be adequate, the Monitoring Officer will refer the matter 
for a local hearing.  

 
78.2 Local Hearing 
 

If the Monitoring Officer considers that local resolution is not appropriate, or 
you are not satisfied by the proposed resolution, or the member concerned is 
not prepared to undertake any proposed remedial action, such as giving an 
apology, then the Monitoring Officer will report the Investigating Officer’s 
report to the Hearings Panel which will conduct a local hearing before 
deciding whether the member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct 
and, if so, whether to take any action in respect of the member.  

 
The Council has agreed a procedure for local hearings, which is attached as 
Appendix 3 to these arrangements.  

 
Essentially, the Monitoring Officer will conduct a “pre-hearing process”, 
requiring the member to give his/her response to the Investigating Officer’s 
report, in order to identify what is likely to be agreed and what is likely to be in 
contention at the hearing, and the Chair of the Hearings Panel may issue 
directions as to the manner in which the hearing will be conducted. At the 
hearing, the Investigating Officer will present his/her report, call such 
witnesses as he/she considers necessary and make representations to 
substantiate his/her conclusion that the member has failed to comply with the 
Code of Conduct. For this purpose, the Investigating Officer may ask you as 
the complainant to attend and give evidence to the Hearings Panel. The 
member will then have an opportunity to give his/her evidence, to call 
witnesses and to make representations to the Hearings Panel as to why 
he/she considers that he/she did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

 
The Hearings Panel, with the benefit of any advice from the Independent 
Person, may conclude that the member did not fail to comply with the Code of 
Conduct, and so dismiss the complaint. If the Hearings Panel concludes that 
the member did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will inform 
the member of this finding and the Hearings Panel will then consider what 
action, if any, the Hearings Panel should take as a result of the member’s 
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. In doing this, the Hearings Panel 
will give the member an opportunity to make representations to the Panel and 
will consult the Independent Person, but will then decide what action, if any, to 
take in respect of the matter.  

Page 98



 
89 What action can the Hearings Panel take where a member has  failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct?  
 

The Council has delegated to the Hearings Panel such of its powers to take 
action in respect of individual members as may be necessary to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct. Accordingly the Hearings Panel may –  

 
 1  Publish its findings in respect of the member’s conduct; 
 
 2 Send a formal letter to the Member;  
 
 3 Report its findings to Council or to the Parish Council for information;  
 

4 Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of 
ungrouped members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that 
he/she be removed from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of 
the Council;  

 
 5 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be  
  removed from the Executive, or removed from particular Portfolio  
  responsibilities;  
 
 6 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to or recommend that the Parish  
  Council arrange training for the member;  
 

7 Remove or recommend to the Parish Council that the member be 
removed from all outside appointments to which he/she has been 
appointed or nominated by the authority or by the Parish Council;  

 
 8 Withdraw or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws  
  certain facilities provided to the member by the Council; or 
  
 9 Exclude or recommend that the Parish Council exclude the  
  member from the Council’s offices or other premises, with the  
  exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council,  
  Committee and Sub-Committee meetings. 
 

The Hearings Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the member or to 
withdraw members’ basic or special responsibility allowances. 

 
910 What happens at the end of the hearing? 
 

At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the Hearings 
Panel as to whether the member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct 
and as to any actions which the Hearings Panel resolves to take. 
  
As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Monitoring Officer shall 
prepare a formal decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the Hearings 
Panel, and send a copy to you, to the member and to the Parish Council, 

Page 99



make that decision notice available for public inspection and report the 
decision to the next convenient meeting of the Council. 

 
1011 Who are the Hearings Panel? 
 

The Hearings Panel is a Sub-Committee of the Council’s Standards 
Committee. The Standards Committee has decided that it will comprise three 
members of the Council, appointed on a political balance basis. 
 
The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings 
Panel and his/her views are sought and taken into consideration before the 
Hearings Panel takes any decision on whether the member’s conduct 
constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of conduct and as to any action 
to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

 
1112 Who is the Independent Person? 
 

The Independent Person is a person who has applied for the post following 
advertisement of a vacancy for the post, and is appointed by a positive vote 
from a majority of all the members of Council. 

 
 A person cannot be “independent” if he/she – 
 
 1 Is, or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted   
  member or officer of the authority;  
 
 2 Is or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted   
  member or officer of a parish council within the authority’s area, or  
 
 3 Is a relative, or close friend, of a person within paragraph 1 or  
  2 above. For this purpose, “relative” means – 
 
  3.1 Spouse or civil partner;  
 

3.2 Living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they 
were civil partners;  

 
  3.3 Grandparent of the other person;  
 
  3.4 A lineal descendent of a grandparent of the other person;  
 

3.5 A parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs 3.1 or 
3.2;  

 
3.6 A spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 

or 3.5; or  
 

3.7 Living with a person within paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 or 3.5 as 
husband and wife or as if they were civil  partners. 

 

Page 100



1213 Revision of these arrangements 
 

The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements, and has 
delegated to the Chair of the Hearings Panel the right to depart from these 
arrangements where he/she considers that it is expedient to do so in order to 
secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter.  

 
1314 Appeals 
 

There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the member against a 
decision of the Monitoring Officer or of the Hearings Panel. If you feel that the 
authority has failed to deal with your complaint properly, you may make a 
complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman.  

 
 
Appendix 1 The authority’s Code of Conduct  
 
Appendix 2 The Public Interest Test 
 
Appendix 2 3 Procedure for Local Investigation of Referred ComplaintsProcedure for 
Investigations  
 
Appendix 3 4 Procedure for Determination of Allegations about the Personal 
Conduct of Council Members 

Procedure for Hearings  

 

Appendix 5 Communications Policy  

 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Right

Page 101



Appendix 1 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 

 

Code of Conduct 

 

For Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority 

 

1 Allerdale Borough Council (“The Authority”) has adopted the following 

code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted 

members of the Authority (“Members”) when they are acting in that 

capacity as required by section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”). 

 

2 The Authority has a statutory duty under the Act to promote and 

maintain high standards of conduct by Members and the Code sets out 

the standards that the Authority expects Members to observe. 

 

3 The Code is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the obligations 

that are placed on Members.  It is the responsibility of individual 

Members to comply with the provisions of the Code as well as such 

other legal obligations as may apply to them from time to time. Failure to 

do so may result in a sanction being applied by the Authority.  Failure to 

take appropriate action in respect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

may result in a criminal conviction and a fine of up to £5,000 and/or 

disqualification from office for a period of up to 5 years.   

 

4 The code is intended to be consistent with the seven principles as 

attached to this code and applies whenever a person is acting in his/her 

capacity as a Member of the Authority or co-opted member in the 

conduct of the Authority’s business or acting as a representative of the 

Authority. (These principles were amended in February 2013, in 

accordance with the Committee on Standards in Public Life) 

 

5 When acting in your capacity as a Member   

 

1 You must act solely in the public interest and should never 

improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person 

or act to gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your 

family, a friend, a close associate, an employer or a business 

carried on by you. 

 

2 You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation 

to outside individuals or organisations that may influence you in 

the performance of your official duties. 

 

3 You must not disclose any information given to you as a Member 

in breach of any confidence. 

Page 102



 

4 You must not bring your office or your Authority into disrepute. 

 

5 You must treat others with respect and promote equality by not 

discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating 

people with respect, regardless of their sex, race, age, religion, 

gender, sexual orientation or disability.  You should respect the 

impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory officers and its 

other employees.  

 

6 When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, 

such as making public appointments, awarding contracts or 

recommending individuals for rewards or benefits on merit. 

 

7 You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you 

must co-operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your 

office. 

 

8 You must be as open as possible about your decisions and 

actions and the decisions and actions of your authority and 

should be prepared to give reasons for those decisions and 

actions. 

 

9 You must declare any private interests, both disclosable 

pecuniary interests and any other registrable interests, that relate 

to your public duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts 

arising in a way that protects the public interest, including 

registering and declaring interests in a manner which conforms 

with the procedures set out below. 

 

10 You must ensure, when using or authorising the use by others of 

the resources of your authority, that such resources are not used 

improperly for political purposes (including party political 

purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local 

Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government 

Act 1986. 

 

11 You must promote and support high standards of conduct when 

serving in your office. 

 

Registering and declaring disclosable pecuniary and other registrable 

interests 

 

1 You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted 

member, notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable 

pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of 

State, where the pecuniary interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil 

Page 103



partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of somebody with whom you are 

living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil partners. These 

interests and those at (2) below are shown attached to this code. 

 

2 In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted 

member, notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable 

pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest which your authority has decided should 

be included in the register.  

 

3 If an interest has not been entered onto the authority’s register, then the 

member must disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which 

they are present, where they have a disclosable interest in any matter being 

considered and where the matter is not a ‘sensitive interest' as described by 

the Localism Act 2011. 

 

4 Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority’s register or 

the subject of pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer 

of the interest within 28 days beginning with the date of disclosure. 

 

5 Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 

discussion of, vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in 

which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by 

the Secretary of State. Additionally, you must observe the restrictions 

your authority places on your involvement in matters where you have a 

pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest as defined by your authority.      

Seven General Principles of Conduct  

(as updated by the Committee on Standards in Public Life – January 

2013) 

 

The principles of public life apply to anyone who works as a public office 

holder. This includes all those who are elected or appointed to public office, 

nationally and locally, and all people appointed to work in the civil service, local 

government, the police, courts and probation services, NDPB’s, and in the 

health, education, social and care services. All public office-holders are both 

servants of the public and stewards of public resources. The principles also 

have application to all those in other sectors delivering public services. 

 

1 Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  

 

2 Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 

obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to 

influence them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in 

order to gain financial or other material benefit for themselves, their 

Page 104



family or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and 

relationships. 

 

3 Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and 

on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination and bias. 

 

4 Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to 

the public and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to 

ensure this.  

 

5 Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 

transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 

unless there are clear and lawful reasons for doing so. 

 

6 Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

 

7 Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 

behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the 

principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour when it occurs. 

Page 105



Pecuniary and Other Registrable Interests 

 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (as defined by regulations) 

 

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried 

on for profit or gain. 

 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 

than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant 

period in respect of any expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as 

a member, or towards the election expenses of M. (This includes any 

payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the 

Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

 
3 Details of any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 

body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the 

relevant authority – 

 

a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to 

be executed; and 

 

b) which has not been fully discharged. 

 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 

relevant authority. 

 

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 

area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 
6 Details of any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge) – 

 
a) The landlord is the relevant authority; and 

 

b) The tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial 

interest. 

 
7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where 

 

a) That body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or land in 

the area of the relevant authority; and 

 

b) Either –  

 

i. The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 

or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 

body; or 

 

Page 106



ii. If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, 

the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 

which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 

exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 

that class. 

 

Other Registrable Interests 

 

These interests are what the Council has determined should be entered into 

the authority’s register of interests. 

 

8 Details of any body of which you are a member, or in a position of 

general control or management, and to which you are appointed or 

nominated to by the Borough Council. 

 

9 Details of any body of which you are a member, or in a position of 

general control or management, and which –  

 
a) Exercises functions of a public nature; 

 

b) Is directed towards charitable purposes; or 

 

c) Is a body which includes as one of its principle purposes 

influencing public opinion or policy (this includes political parties 

or trade unions). 

 

10 Details of any persons from whom you have received a gift or hospitality 

with an estimated value of at least £50. (You must register any gifts or 

hospitality worth £50 or over that you receive personally in connection 

with your official duties). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



Appendix 2 
 
 
 

THE PUBLIC INTEREST TEST 
 

In every case where there is sufficient evidence to justify an investigation or 

formal hearing, Monitoring Officer must go on to consider (in consultation with 

the Independent Person) whether an investigation or formal hearing is 

required in the public interest. 

It is not the case that an investigation or formal hearing will automatically take 

place once the evidential stage is met.  An investigation or formal hearing will 

usually take place unless the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that there are 

public interest factors tending against such an investigation/hearing which 

outweigh those tending in favour. In some cases, the Monitoring Officer may 

be satisfied that the public interest can be properly served by offering the 

relevant elected Member the opportunity to have the matter dealt with by an 

alternative remedy rather than bringing the complaint before a formal hearing 

of the Standards Committee. 

When deciding the public interest, Monitoring Officer should consider each of 

the questions set out below as paragraphs a) to e) so as to identify and 

determine the relevant public interest factors tending for and against 

investigation/hearing. These factors should enable the Monitoring Officer to 

form an overall assessment of the public interest. 

The explanatory text below each question in paragraphs a) to e) provides 

guidance to the Monitoring Officer when addressing each particular question 

and determining whether it identifies public interest factors for or against 

investigation/hearing. The questions identified are not exhaustive, and not all 

the questions may be relevant in every case. The weight to be attached to 

each of the questions, and the factors identified, will also vary according to the 

facts and merits of each case. 

It is quite possible that one public interest factor alone may outweigh a 

number of other factors which tend in the opposite direction. Although there 

may be public interest factors tending against an investigation or in a 

particular case, the Monitoring Officer should consider whether nonetheless 

an investigation/formal hearing should go ahead and those factors put to the 

Standards Committee for consideration when coming to its decision. 

Page 108



The Monitoring Officer should consider each of the following questions: 

a. How serious is the breach of the Code? 

 The more serious the breach, the more likely it is that a formal hearing is 

required. 

 When assessing the seriousness of a breach, the Monitoring Officer 

should include in their consideration the elected Member’s culpability 

and the harm caused, by asking themselves the questions at b) and c). 

b) What is the level of culpability of the elected Member? 

 The greater the Member’s level of culpability, the more likely it is that an 

investigation is required. 

 Culpability is likely to be determined by:  

 the Member’s level of involvement; 

 the extent to which the breach of the Code was premeditated 

and/or planned; 

 the extent to which the Member has benefitted from the conduct; 

 whether the Member has previously breached the Code of 

Conduct; 

 whether the breach was or is likely to be continued, repeated or 

escalated; 

c) What are the circumstances of and the harm caused to the 
complainant? 

 The circumstances of the complainant are highly relevant. The more 

vulnerable the complainant’s situation, or the greater the perceived 

vulnerability of the complainant, the more likely it is that a formal 

investigation or hearing is required. 

 This includes where a position of trust or authority exists between the 

Member and complainant. 

 It is more likely that a formal hearing is required if the conduct 

complained of was motivated by any form of prejudice against the 

complainant’s actual or presumed ethnic or national origin, gender, 

disability, age, religion or belief, sexual orientation or gender identity; or 

if the Member targeted or exploited the complainant, or demonstrated 

hostility towards the complainant, based on any of those characteristics. 

 The Monitoring Officer also needs to consider if a formal hearing is likely 

to have an adverse effect on the complainant’s physical or mental 

Page 109



health, always bearing in mind the seriousness of the conduct 

complained of, the availability of special measures and the possibility of 

a formal hearing without the participation of the complainant. 

 The Monitoring Officer should take into account the views expressed by 

the complainant about the impact that the conduct has had. In 

appropriate cases, this may also include the views of the complainant’s 

family. 

 However, the Monitoring Officer does not act for complainants or their 

families in the same way as solicitors act for their clients, and Monitoring 

Officers must form an overall view of the public interest. 

d) What is the impact on the community? 

 The greater the impact of the conduct complained of on the community, 

the more likely it is that an investigation or formal hearing is required. 

 Community is not restricted to communities defined by location and may 

relate to a group of people who share certain characteristics, 

experiences or backgrounds, including an occupational group. 

e) Is an investigation or formal hearing a proportionate response? 

 In considering whether investigation or formal hearing is proportionate to 

the likely outcome, the following may be relevant:  

i. The cost, especially where it could be regarded as excessive when 

weighed against any likely penalty. The Monitoring Officer should not 

decide the public interest on the basis of this factor alone. It is essential 

that regard is also given to the public interest factors identified when 

considering the other questions in paragraphs a) to e), but cost can be a 

relevant factor when making an overall assessment of the public interest. 

ii. Cases should be dealt with in accordance with principles of effective 

case management.  

 

 

 

Page 110



 
Appendix 2 3 

 
Allerdale Borough Council 

 
Procedure for Local Investigation of Referred Complaints 

 
Introduction and Summary  
 
This note sets out the procedure which will be followed in the local investigation of 
allegations of misconduct by Councillors or Co-opted Members (for ease of 
reference, hereinafter jointly referred to as “Councillors”). No departure will be made 
from this procedure unless and until the Monitoring Officer has first notified the 
Councillor against whom the allegation has been made of the proposed variation to 
the procedure and the reasons for that variation.  
 
This procedure applies to breaches of the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members.  
 
When the Monitoring Officer receives an allegation of a failure by a Councillor to 
comply with the Code of Conduct, and, following consultation with the Independent 
Person and Chair of the Standards Committee, he is of the opinion that the 
allegation merits investigation, he shall arrange for an Investigating Officer to 
investigate the allegation and to report to the Monitoring Officer.  
 
Where the Investigating Officer has found, after investigation, that the Councillor has 
not acted in breach of the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members or a local 
protocol, the Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, 
following consultation with the Independent Person and the Chair of the Standards 
Committee, if he/she is of the view that the report is sufficient he/she will write to you, 
enclosing a copy of the report and advise you that no further action will be taken.  
 
Where the Investigating Officer has found that there has been a failure to comply 
with the Code of Conduct for Members or a local protocol and a Local Resolution 
has not been possible then the Monitoring Officer, following consultation with the 
Independent Person and the Chair of the, may decide to hold a full hearing to 
determine whether a breach of the authority’s Code of Conduct has occurred and 
whether any action should be taken in consequence. In this process, the function of 
the Investigating Officer is to ensure, as far as possible, that all the information which 
is relevant to the allegation is identified and presented to the Monitoring Officer, to 
enable him/her, in consultation informed decision as to whether the Councillor has 
failed to comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members, and upon any 
consequential action. 
 
At any Hearing, the Standards Committee acts in an inquisitorial manner, rather than 
an adversarial manner, seeking the truth in relation to the conduct of the Councillor 
on the balance of the information available to it, and may commission further 
investigation or information if it needs to do so in order to come to a decision. In the 
event of the Investigating Officer requiring information from, or the attendance of, 
any Officer or elected Member in connection with the conduct of an investigation, 
such Officer or Member will be expected to co-operate fully with the Investigating 

Page 111



Officer in accordance with their responsibilities under their contracts of employment 
and Code of Conduct respectively.  
 
1 Interpretation  
 

‘Councillor’ means the member or co-opted member of the authority who is 
the subject of the allegation being considered by the Standards Committee, 
unless stated otherwise. It also includes the Councillor’s representative.  
 
‘Investigating Officer’ means the person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to 
undertake that investigation (which may include the Monitoring Officer, and 
his or her representative). 
 
‘The Matter’ is the subject matter of the Investigating Officer’s report.  

 
‘The Standards Committee’ refers to the Standards Committee or to any 
Standards Sub- Committee to which it has delegated the conduct of the 
hearing, unless the context indicates that it refers only to the Standards 
Committee itself. 

 
2 Notification of Reference of Al legation to the Monitoring Officer 
  
 (a) Appointment of Investigating Officer  
 

If it is determined that an investigation is appropriate, the Monitoring 
Officer will appoint an Investigating Officer in respect of the allegation 
and instruct him/her to conduct an investigation of the allegation and to 
report thereon to the Monitoring Officer. The Investigating Officer may 
be an officer of the authority, an officer of another local authority, or an 
external Investigating Officer. 
 
The Investigating Officer may appoint persons to assist him/her in the 
conduct of his/her functions and may obtain such professional advice 
as may be necessary for the conduct of the investigation.  

 
 (b)  Notification to the Councillor  
 

The Monitoring Officer will then notify in writing the Councillor against 
whom the allegation is made:  

 
(i)  that the allegation has been referred to him for local 

investigation and determination;  
 
(ii)  the identity of the person making the allegation (unless 

identification of the complainant might prejudice the investigation 
or put the complainant at risk);  

 
(iii)  of the conduct which is the subject of the allegation;  
 

Page 112



(iv)  of the section(s) of the Code of Conduct or local protocol which 
appear to him to be relevant to the allegation;  

 
(v)  of the procedure which will be followed in respect of the 

allegation, and  
 
(vi)  of the identity of the Investigating Officer.  
 

 (c)  Notification to the Parish or Town Council Clerk  
 

Where the allegation relates to the conduct of a member of a Parish or 
Town Council in his her capacity as such, at the same time as notifying 
the Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will notify the Clerk of the Parish 
or Town Council concerned in writing of the matters set out in 
paragraphs 2(b)(i) - (iv) and (vi) above.  
 

 (d)  Notification to the Person who made the Allegation  
 

At the same time as notifying the Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will 
notify the person who made the allegation in writing of the matters set 
out in paragraphs 2(b)(i) - (iv) and (vi) above.  

 
 (e)  Initial response of the Councillor 
 

In notifying the Councillor of receipt of the allegation, the Monitoring 
Officer shall request the Councillor to respond to the Investigating 
Officer in writing within 14 days of notification as follows:  

 
(i)  advising the Investigating Officer whether the Councillor admits 

or denies the breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol 
which is the subject of the allegation;  

 
(ii)  listing any documents which the Councillor would wish the 

Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of 
the allegation, where possible providing copies of these 
documents, and informing the Investigating Officer of where the 
original documents may be inspected,  

 
(iii)  providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and 

telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any 
person or organisation whom the Councillor would wish the 
Investigating Officer to interview in the course of any 
investigation of the allegation (providing that, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Investigating Officer, the number of such is not 
excessive or disproportionate), and  

 
(iv)  providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the 

Councillor would wish the Investigating Officer  to seek from any 
person or organisation. 

 

Page 113



(f)  Supporting information from the person who made the allegation In 
notifying the person who made the allegation as above, the Monitoring 
Officer will request the person to respond to the Investigating Officer 
within 14 days  

 
(i) listing any documents which the person would wish the 

Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of 
the allegation, where possible providing copies of these 
documents, and informing the Investigating Officer of where the 
original documents may be inspected,  

 
(ii)  providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and 

telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any 
person or organisation whom the person would wish the 
Investigating Officer to interview in the course of any 
investigation of the allegation, and  

 
(iii)  providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the 

person would wish the Investigating Officer to seek from any 
person or organisation.  

 
3 Conduct of Investigation  
 
 (a)  Purpose of the Investigation  
 

The purpose of the Investigating Officer’s investigation is to enable 
him/her to prepare and present to the Monitoring Officer a report which, 
if subsequently referred to the Standards Committee, would provide it 
with sufficient information to determine whether the Councillor has 
acted in breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol and, where 
there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol, 
whether any action should be taken in respect of the Councillor or in 
consequence of the breach, and what any such action should be.  
 
 

 (b)  Termination of the Investigation 
  

The Investigating Officer may terminate his/her investigation at any 
point, where he/she is satisfied that he/she has sufficient information to 
enable him/her to report to the Standards Committee and to enable the 
Standards Committee to come to a considered decision on the 
allegation. 
 

 (c)  Additional Matters  
 

Where, in the course of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer 
becomes aware of any other matter which appears to him/her to 
indicate a breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol by the 
Councillor other than the breach which he/she is currently investigating, 
the Investigating Officer shall either:  

Page 114



 
(i)  (where the additional matter relates to an apparent breach of the 

authority’s Code of Conduct by a member of the principal 
authority) report the matter to the  Monitoring Officer who will 
provide the Councillor with details of the matter in the form set 
out in paragraphs 2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the 
Councillor to provide a statement as to why the additional matter 
does not constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct;  

 
(ii)  (where the additional matter constitutes an apparent breach of 

the authority’s local protocols but not a breach of the Code of 
Conduct by a member of the principal authority) report the 
matter to the Monitoring Officer who will provide the Councillor 
with details of the matter in the form set out in paragraphs 
2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the Councillor to provide a 
statement as to why the additional matter does not constitute a 
breach of the authority’s code of conduct. The Monitoring 
Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person and the 
Chair of the Standards Committee, will then take a decision 
whether to refer the matter to an Investigating Officer for local 
investigation and/or report to the Standards Committee as 
appropriate; 

 
(iii)  (Where the additional matter relates to an apparent breach of 

the Code of Conduct by a Parish or Town Councillor) notify the 
Clerk to the Town or Parish Council of the additional matter, and 
take no further action in respect thereof.  

 
(d)  Following notification to the Councillor, the Investigating Officer will 

identify an initial list of persons to be interviewed, organisations from 
whom information is to be sought and documents to be inspected as 
part of the investigation. Where the Councillor has provided the 
Investigating Officer with the information requested in accordance with 
Paragraphs 2(f)(ii) and (iii) above, the Investigating Officer shall include 
in this list each document, person and organisation referred to in that 
response, unless he/she is of the opinion that the inclusion of that 
document, person or organisation would unreasonably delay the 
completion of the investigation rather than contribute to the accuracy of 
the Investigating Officer’s final report. The Investigating Officer may 
supplement or amend this list at any stage of the investigation.  

 
 (e)  Production of documents, information and explanations  
 

(i)  In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and 
any person authorised on his/her behalf may make such 
enquiries of any person or organisation, and request any person 
or organisation to provide any document or information which is 
in his/its possession or control, or provide any explanation, as 
he/she thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the 
investigation. 

Page 115



 
(ii)  In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and 

any person authorised on his/her behalf may require any 
authority of which the Councillor is a member to provide any 
document which is in his/its possession or control which he/she 
thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the 
investigation.  

 
(iii)  Any decision about whether any particular document is sensitive 

or commercially sensitive and thus not suitable  for publication 
shall rest with the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the 
Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee.  

 
 (f)  Interviews  
 
  (i)  Requesting attendance  
 

In the course of the investigation the Investigating Officer may 
request any person to attend and appear before him or 
otherwise provide any information, document or explanation for 
the purpose of Paragraph 3(e), as he/she thinks necessary for 
the purposes of carrying out the investigation.  

 
  (ii)  Representation  
 

Any person who appears before the Investigating Officer may 
arrange to be accompanied at their own expense by a solicitor 
or friend.  

 
  (iii)  Notes of interviews  
 

Where practicable, following the interview the Investigating 
Officer shall produce a written note of the material points of the 
interview, provide two copies of that note to the person 
interviewed and ask them to return one copy signed as a correct 
record of the interview, with such corrections or amendments as 
they may feel necessary for that purpose.  

 
 (g)  Costs  
 

The Investigating Officer may, where he/she considers that it is 
appropriate in order to facilitate the conduct of the investigation, pay to 
any person who provides any document, information, advice or 
explanation in response to his/her request, such fees  or allowances as 
he/she considers to be appropriate subject to any maxima set by the 
authority.  

 
 
 
 

Page 116



4 The Draft Report  
 

(a) When the Investigating Officer is satisfied that he/she has sufficient 
information to meet the requirement set out in Paragraph 3(a), or has 
obtained as much information as is likely to be reasonably capable of 
being obtained, he/she shall prepare a draft report with a “confidential” 
and “draft” marking  setting out:  

 
  (i)  the details of the allegation;  
 

(ii)  the relevant provisions of statute, of the Code of Conduct and 
any relevant local Protocols  

 
(iii)  the Councillor’s initial response to notification of the allegation (if 

any);  
 

(iv)  the relevant information, evidence, advice and  explanations 
which he/she has obtained in the course of the investigation;  

 
  (v)  a list of any documents relevant to the matter;  
 

(vi)  a list of those persons whom he/she has interviewed and those 
organisations from whom he/she has sought information;  

 
(vii)  a note of any person or organisation who has failed to cooperate 

with the investigation and the manner in which  they have failed 
to co-operate;  

 
  (viii)  a statement of his/her draft findings of fact;  
 

(ix)  his/her conclusion (with reasons) as to whether the Councillor 
has or has not failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for 
Members of any authority or a local protocol, and  

 
(x)  any recommendations which the Investigating Officer is minded 

to make to any authority concerned for reviewing or 
reconsidering any decision which was the subject of the breach 
of the Code of Conduct or local protocol, for rectifying any 
deficiency in the authority’s decision-making procedures or for 
preventing or deterring any breach of the Code of Conduct or 
local protocol or to remedy the position of any person who may 
have suffered detriment or injustice as a result of the breach. 
Where the allegation relates to a Parish or Town Councillor, 
such recommendations would be recommendations which the 
Investigating Officer would recommend that the Standards 
Committee make to the Parish or Town Council. 
 

(b) The draft report should also state that the report does not necessarily 
represent the Investigating Officer’s final finding, and that the 
investigating Officer will present a final report to the Monitoring Officer 

Page 117



once he/she has considered any comments received on the draft 
report.  

 
(c)  The Investigating Officer shall then send a copy of his/her draft report 

in confidence to the Councillor and the person making the allegation, 
and request that they send any comments thereon to him/her within 14 
days.  

 
(d)  The Investigating Officer may send a copy of, or relevant extracts from 

his/her draft report in confidence to any person on whose evidence 
he/she has relied in compiling the draft report, and request that they 
send any comments thereon to him/her within 14 days.  

 
5 The Final Report  
 

(a)  After the expiry of that period (or such extended period as the 
Investigating Officer may allow), the Investigating Officer shall 
reconsider and amend his/her draft report in the light of any comments 
received, and produce and send to the Monitoring Officer his final 
report. The final report should be marked “final” and state that the 
report represents the Investigating Officer’s final findings and may, if 
necessary, be presented to the Standards Committee, and should, 
subject to 3(e)(iii), have appended to it copies of any documents which 
the Investigating Officer has relied on in reaching his/her conclusions, 
such as  background documents of telephone conversations, 
letters, notes of interviews with witnesses and a chronology of events; 

 
(b)  The Monitoring Officer shall then send a copy of the final report to the 

Councillor, advising that:  
 

(i)  where the final report concludes that there has not been a failure 
to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members or a local 
protocol, (if the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee are 
satisfied) that no further action is required, and  

 
(ii)  where the final report concludes that there has been a failure by 

the Councillor to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members 
or with a local protocol, he/she will consider, in consultation with 
the Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee, 
whether the matter be further dealt with by Local Resolution or a 
Local Hearing.  

 
(c)  If the complaint is dealt with by Local Resolution then that is the end of 

the matter.  
 

(d)  If it is determined that there should be a Local Hearing then the 
Procedure for Determination of Allegations about the Personal Conduct 
of Members will apply.  

Page 118



Appendix 34 
 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Procedure for Determination of Allegations about the Personal Conduct of 
Council Members 

 
Introduction 
 
1 The local determination of complaints by the Standards Committee (or 

subcommittee thereof) following a local investigation and referral by the 
Monitoring Officer, will be by a Sub-Committee of the Standards Committee 
and will be governed by this procedure.  

 
2 The person[s] making the complaint will be referred to in this procedure as the 

Complainant and the person against whom the complaint is made will be 
referred to as the Member. The allegation will be heard by the Standards 
Committee or a Sub- Committee of the Standards Committee (the 
Membership will be agreed in accordance with the protocol agreed by Group 
Leaders).  

 
Pre-Hearing Process [Local Investigations] 
 
3 Upon receipt of the final report of the Investigating Officer including a finding 

that the Member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members and 
where it has not been possible to reach a local resolution or the Monitoring 
Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person and the Chair of the 
Standards Committee, finds that the matter should be considered at a formal 
hearing the Monitoring Officer shall arrange for the Standards Sub-Committee 
to consider the matter. 

  
4 Where the Monitoring Officer is the Investigating Officer he/she must arrange 

for a separate legal advisor to the Sub- Committee to be appointed in respect 
of the allegation.  

 
Notifying the Member and Complainant 
 
5 Within five working days of the receipt of the Investigating Officer’s  report the 

Monitoring Officer shall send a copy of the report to the Member and, where 
possible, the Complainant, making the provision of the report conditional upon 
any appropriate undertaking ofconfidentiality. The Chairman and Members of 
the Committee shall be informed of the allegation by the Monitoring Officer, as 
well as any Parish or Town Council Clerk where the allegation relates to 
conduct of a Member in his/her capacity as a member of a Parish or Town 
Council.  

 
6 The Member shall be asked for a written response, within fifteen working days 

of the receipt of the report, which response shall set out the reply to the 
Investigating Officer’s report and state whether or not  he/she:  

 

Page 119



i.  disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the Investigating  Officer’s 
report, including the reasons for any disagreement;  

 
ii.  wants to be represented, at his/her own expense, at the hearing by any 

other person;  
 
 iii.  wants to give evidence to the Sub-Committee, either verbally or in 
writing;  
 
 iv.  wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the Sub-
Committee;  
 
 v.  wants any part of the hearing to be held in private;  
 

vi.  wants any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other relevant 
documents to be withheld from the public.  

 
7 The Member shall be informed that if, at the meeting of the Sub-Committee, 

he/she seeks to dispute any matter contained in the Investigating Officer’s 
report without having previously notified the Monitoring Officer of the intention 
to do so the Sub-Committee may either [a] adjourn the meeting to enable the 
Investigating Officer to provide a response, or [b] refuse to allow the disputed 
matter to be raised.  

 
8 Upon receipt, the Monitoring Officer shall invite the relevant Investigating 

Officer to comment, within ten working days, on the Member’s response, and 
to say whether or not he/she:   

 
 i.  wants to be represented or be present at the hearing;  
 

ii.  wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence or submit written or 
other evidence to the Sub-Committee;  

 
 iii.  wants any part of the hearing to be held in private;  
 

iv.  wants any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other relevant 
documents to be withheld from the public.  

 
9 Upon receipt of the Investigating Officer’s response, the Monitoring  Officer 

will consider the responses of the Member and the Investigating Officer and 
request the Monitoring Officer to set a date for the hearing in consultation with 
the Chairman.  

 
10 The Member and the Investigating Officer are entitled to request that any 

witnesses they want should be called. However, the Chairman of the Hearing 
may limit the number of witnesses to be called, if he/she believes the number 
requested is unreasonable and that some witnesses will simply be repeating 
the evidence of earlier witnesses, or else not providing evidence that will 
assist the Sub-Committee to reach its decision. 

 

Page 120



11 Nothing in this procedure shall limit the Chairman of the Hearing from 
requesting the attendance of any additional witnesses whose evidence he/she 
considers would assist the Sub-Committee to reach its decision.  

 
12 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chairman, will:  
 

i.  confirm a date, time and place for the Hearing, which must be within 
three months from the date that the Investigating Officer’s report was 
received;  

 
 ii.  confirm the main facts of the case that are agreed;  
 
 iii.  confirm the main facts that are not agreed;  
 
 iv.  provide copies of any written evidence to the relevant parties;  
 
 v. confirm which witnesses will be called by the parties;  
 

vi.  provide the parties with a copy of the proposed procedure for the 
Hearing, specifying which parts of the matter, if any, may be 
considered in private; and  

 
vii.  ensure the appropriate information, with the agenda, is provided to 

everyone involved in the Hearing at least two weeks before the 
proposed date of the Hearing.  

 
The Hearing 
 
13  The Sub-Committee shall decide, on a balance of probabilities, whether the 
 complaint[s] is or are upheld upon the evidence presented to it.  
 
14  Each Sub-Committee Member shall have one vote, and all matters/issues 
 shall be decided by a simple majority of votes cast. If there are equal 
 numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman will have second or 
 casting vote.  
 
15 The meeting of the Sub-Committee will be open to the public and press 

 unless confidential information or exempt information is likely to be 
disclosed.  

 
Procedure at the Hearing 
 
16 The initial order of business at the meeting shall be as follows:-  
 
 i. Establishing whether the Sub-Committee is quorate;  
 
 ii. Declarations of interest;  
 
 iii. Introductions  
 

Page 121



iv. Consideration as to whether to adjourn or to proceed in the absence of 
the Member, if the Member is not present;  

 
 v.  Consideration of any procedural issues and, in particular, any  

representation from the Investigating Officer and/or the Member as to 
reasons why the Sub-Committee should exclude the press and public 
and determination as to whether to exclude the press and public.  

 
17 The purpose of the Hearing is to determine the facts at issue and what action, 

if any, should be taken. An inquisitorial approach will be adopted by the 
Committee members in seeking information and clarifying facts and issues. 
The Chairman will control the procedure and  evidence presented at the 
Hearing, including the questioning of witnesses.  

 
18 The Sub-Committee members may at any time seek legal advice from their 

advisor. [Such advice will be notified to the public in the presence of the 
Investigation Officer and the Member.]  

 
19 The procedure will be as follows, subject to the Chairman being able to make 

changes as he or she thinks fit in order to ensure a fair and efficient hearing.  
 
Proceeding in the Absence of the Member 
 
20 If the Member is not present at the start of the Hearing:  
 

i.  The Chairman will ask the Monitoring Officer whether the Member has 
indicated his/her intention not to attend the Hearing;  

 
ii.  The Standards Sub-Committee shall then consider any reasons which 

the Member has provided for not attending the Hearing and shall 
decide whether it is satisfied that there is sufficient reason for such 
failure to attend;  

 
iii. If the Standards Sub-Committee is satisfied with such reasons, it shall 

adjourn the Hearing to another date;  
 

iv.  If the Standards Sub-Committee is not satisfied with such reasons, or if 
the Member has not given any such reasons, the Standards Sub-
Committee shall decide whether to consider the matter and make a 
determination in the absence of the member or to adjourn the Hearing 
to another date. 

 
21 Presentation by the Investigating Officer  
 

21.1  The Investigating Officer will present the evidence which is relevant to 
the matter. The Investigating Officer may introduce any witness 
required to substantiate any matter contained in the report which has 
been disputed and present any other relevant evidence.  

 

Page 122



21.2  The Member or his/her representative may ask questions of the 
Investigating Officer or any witness.  

 
21.3  The Sub-Committee members may ask questions of the Investigating 

Officer or any witness.  
 
22 Presentation by the Member  
 

22.1  The Member or his/her representative will present the evidence which 
is relevant to the matter. The Member or his/her representative may 
introduce witnesses or present any other relevant evidence.  

 
22.2  The Investigating Officer may ask questions of the Member, or any 

witness.  
 

22.3  The Sub-Committee members may ask questions of the Member or 
any witness.  

 
22.4  The Investigating Officer and then the Member or his/her 

representative will be given the opportunity to sum up.  
 

22.5  If the Sub-Committee at any time prior to determining whether there 
was a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct are of the opinion 
that they require additional evidence on any point in order to be able to 
come to a considered conclusion on the matter the Sub-Committee 
may (on not more than one occasion) adjourn the hearing and make a 
request to the Monitoring Officer to seek and provide such additional 
evidence and to undertake further investigation on any point specified 
by the Standards Sub-Committee.  

 
23 Decision by the Sub-Committee  
 

23.1  The Sub-Committee will consider in private all the evidence which it 
has heard in order to establish its findings of fact.  

 
23.2  At any stage in the consideration of the matter the Sub-Committee may 

return to ask further questions of the Investigating Officer or  the 
Member or seek further information. The other party will be given an 
opportunity to comment upon the questions asked or the responses 
made.  

  
23.3  The Committee may seek legal advice at any time. Such advice may 

be given in the presence of the Investigating Officer and the  Member if 
appropriate. 

 
23.4  At the conclusion of their deliberations, the Chairman will advise the 

Member and the Investigating Officer of their findings and whether the 
Code of Conduct has been breached.  

 

Page 123



23.5  If the Sub-Committee concludes that the Member has acted in breach 
of the Code representations will be invited from the Investigating 
Officer and the Member as to what action, if any, it should take. The 
Sub-Committee may ask questions of the Member and the 
Investigating Officer.  

 
24 The Sub-Committee, having heard any representations, will consider what 
 actions, if any, to take.  
 
 The findings that the Sub-Committee may make are:  
 
 a)  That there has been no breach of the Code;  
 

b)  That the Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, but 
that no action needs to be taken; 

  
c)  That the Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and 

the sanction(s) should be that the Standards Sub-Committee:  
 

 Publish its findings in respect of the Member’s conduct;  

 Send a formal letter to the Member  

 Report its findings to the Council or Parish Council for 
information;  

 Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of 
an ungrouped member(s), recommend to Council or 
Committees) that he/she be removed from any or all committees 
or sub-committees of the Council;  

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be 
removed from the Executive or removed from particular Portfolio 
responsibilities; 

 Instruct the Monitoring Officer or recommend that the Parish 
Council arrange training for the member;  

 Remove or recommend to the Parish Council that the member 
be removed from all outside appointments to which he/she has 
been appointed or nominated by the Council or the Parish 
Council;  

 Withdraw or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws 
certain facilities provided to the member by the Council; or  

 Exclude or recommend that the Parish Council exclude the 
member from the member from Council’s offices or other 
premises, with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for 
attending Council, Committees and Sub-Committee meetings. 

  
25  In deciding what penalty to set, the Sub-Committee will consider all relevant  
 circumstances.  
 
26 The Chairman will announce the decision of the Sub-Committee, the action, 

 if any, it is proposed to take and the reasons for the decision.  
 

Page 124



27  The Sub-Committee will then consider in open session whether there are any 
recommendations which should be made to any Authority concerned arising 
from the consideration of the allegation.  

 
Appeal 
 
28 There is no right of appeal against the decision of the Hearing Panel. 
 
 
Notice of FIndings 
 
29 A full written decision in draft [including the reasons for it] will be prepared as 

soon as practicable. The draft decision will be forwarded to the Chairman of 
the Sub-Committee for approval.  

 
30 Once approved and as soon as reasonably practicable after the Hearing the 

full written decision will be forwarded to the Member, the Complainant [where 
possible], the Investigating Officer and any other Authority concerned.  

 
31 If the Hearing Panel wishes to publish its finding, the Monitoring Officer, 

subject to paragraph 32, shall arrange for a summary of the findings to be 
published in one newspaper circulating in the area of the Authority  in 
accordance with paragraphs 33 and 34 or in such other manner as the 
Hearing Panel may determine (for example, by reporting the matter to Council 
for information).  

 
32 Where the Sub-Committee determines that there has not been a beach of the 

Code of Conduct, the notice shall:  
 

i.  State that the Sub-Committee found that the Member had not failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct and shall give its reasons for 
reaching that finding; and  

 
 ii.  Not be published in the local newspaper if the Member so requests.  
 
33 Where the Sub-Committee determines that there has been a failure to comply 

with the Code of Code but no action is required, the notice shall:  
 

i.  State that the Sub-Committee found that the Member had failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct but that no action needs to be taken 
in respect of that failure;  

 
 ii.  Specify the details of the failure;  
 
 iii.  Give reasons for the decision reached; and  
 
34 Where the Sub-Committee determines that there has been a failure to comply 

with the Code of Conduct and that a sanction should be imposed, the notice 
shall:  

 

Page 125



i.  State that the Sub-Committee found that the Member had failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct;  

 
 ii.  Specify the details of the failure;  
 
 iii.  Give reasons for the decision reached;  
 
 iv.  Specify the sanction imposed; and  
 
35 Copies of the agenda, reports and minutes of a Hearing, as well as any 

background papers, apart from sections of documents relating to parts of the 
Hearing that were held in private, shall be available for public inspection for 
six years after the Hearing.  

 

Page 126



 
Arrangements for Dispensations  
 
Section 33 Localism Act details the circumstances in which dispensations may be 
granted.  
 
It is recommended:  
 
That the Council delegate to the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Independent Person and Chairman of Standards Committee, the power to grant 
dispensations up to a maximum of 4 years in the following circumstances with an 
appeal to the Standards Committee –  
 
1 That he/she considers that without the dispensation the number of persons 

prohibited from participating in any particular business would be so great a 
proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction 
of the business.  

 
2 That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political 
 groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so 
 upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business. 
  
3 That, without a dispensation, no member of the Executive would be able to 

participate on this matter.  
 
That the Council delegate to the Standards Committee, in consultation with the 
Independent Person, to grant dispensations up to a maximum of 4 years in the 
following circumstances:  
 
1 That the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of persons 

living in the authority’s area;  
 
2 That the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 

dispensation.  
 
The Standards Committee to have authority to deal with any of those dispensations 
delegated to the Monitoring Officer where the Monitoring Officer considers it 
inappropriate to deal with a request and chooses to refer to the Standards 
Committee for determination.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



Appendix 5 
 

Communications Policy for Code of Conduct Complaints 
 

Allerdale Borough Council recognises the sensitivity and the need for confidentiality 
in respect of code of conduct complaints made against elected members. Therefore 
there is a presumption that there will not normally be any publicly available 
information on any code of conduct complaint until after the conclusion of a local 
hearing.  
 
The exception to this will be in those instances where the Monitoring Officer has 
concluded that a likely breach did occur but a local resolution has been reached, or 
where the application of the public interest test found that an investigation was not in 
the public interest. In both of these situations the Monitoring Officer will confer with 
the Independent Person to agree whether it is in the public interest to publish details 
of the complaint and the resolution reached. Both parties will be consulted and any 
objection raised by either party will be considered by the Monitoring Officer before a 
final decision is made.  
 
At all stages during a complaint both parties will be kept updated on progress, and 
particularly where there is any delay to any stage of the process.   
 
All parties will be informed of the need to maintain confidentiality throughout the 
process. All communications will include this requirement as a matter of course.  
 
In cases involving members of Allerdale Borough Council the Monitoring Officer will 
advise the member’s group leader (if they are a member of a political group) of the 
complaint and will keep the group leader informed of progress.  
 
In cases involving members of parish councils the Monitoring Officer will advise the 
relevant parish clerk of the complaint and will keep the clerk informed of progress.  
 
Where the Monitoring Officer has determined that a member was acting in a private 
capacity at the time of the alleged breach but that it is appropriate to take action in 
accordance with paragraph 5 of the procedure, details of the complaint and action 
taken will not normally be made public unless the Monitoring Officer feels it is in the 
public interest to do so.  
 
All parties to the complaint will be asked to provide an email address and telephone 
number so that communications about the complaint can be sent as quickly and 
efficiently as possible. Where an email address is not available the Monitoring Officer 
will send all communications by post. If a telephone number is provided the 
Monitoring Officer may use this to contact the parties to provide brief verbal updates 
or to request information. This will be in addition to and not in place of the written 
communication referred to above.  
 
The Monitoring Officer can consult with the Independent Person by telephone, by 
email or other electronic means or via a face to face meeting. In all instances a 
formal note of the discussion will be taken and placed on file.  
 

Page 128



The personal contact details of complainants will be held confidentially and not 
shared with any other departments or individuals without the express written 
permission of the complainant.  
 
The Council will issue a statement on its website and to local media where the 
outcome of an investigation has proven that there was a breach of the Code. A 
summary of the case will be made available on the council’s website. The Monitoring 
Officer will redact any sensitive or confidential details of the case as appropriate. The 
Monitoring Officer may also decide to maintain the anonymity of the complainant 
where appropriate. 
 
 
 

 Formatted: Right

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 130



Allerdale Borough Council

Standards Committee – 10 September 2019

Protocol for Member/Officer Relations

The Reason for the Decision To consider and recommend for approval 
a draft Member/Officer Relations 
Protocol as part of an overall review of 
standards arrangements and Code of 
Conduct 

Recommendations 1. That members consider the draft 
Protocol for Member/Officer 
Relations and provide any 
comments/further amendments as 
they see necessary and;

2. Recommend to Council that the 
Protocol is adopted.

Financial /  Resource Implications There are no financial or resource 
implications arising from this report

Legal / Governance Implications There are no legal or governance 
implications arising from this report.

Community Safety Implications There are no community safety 
implications arising from this report

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There no health and safety implications 
arising from this report. 
Failure to have up to date codes and 
protocols could lead to inappropriate 
conduct which could in turn undermine 
council decision making with the potential 
for legal challenge and reputational 
damage

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The Equality Duty has been considered

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The Constitution, which includes the 
codes of practice and protocols, support 
all of the Council’s objectives as they 
provide the governance and standards 
framework for all decisions, strategic and 
operational.

Page 131

Agenda Item 7



Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor John Cook, PH Governance 
and Regulatory Services

Lead Officer Gayle Roach, Democratic and Support 
Services Manager
gayle.roach@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial N
Legal Y Partnership Y
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) Y Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers - Officer Scheme of Delegation; Section 10 of Allerdale 
Borough Council’s Constitution

1.0 Introduction

Background

1.1 The purpose of this protocol is to provide a guide to good working 
relationships between Members and Officers, defining their respective roles 
and outlining the principles that underpin their relationship. It also builds on 
the Council’s good governance arrangements providing an appropriate 
governance framework for conduct and all Council decision making.

1.2 There is no statutory requirement for the Council to have such a protocol, 
however, it is considered good practice to do so. Such a protocol is beneficial 
as it sets out the respective expectations of Members and Officers. Whilst 
experienced Councillors and Officers may understand and appreciate the 
different roles that they have, newly elected Members and recently appointed 
employees may find it helpful to have the roles explained. Understanding what 
is, and is not, expected of each other can assist in maintaining and improving 
excellent Member/Officer working relationships.

1.3 Members and Officers are servants of the public and they are indispensable to 
one another, but their responsibilities are distinct. Members are responsible to 
the electorate and serve only so long as their term of office lasts. As 
employees of the Council, the Chief Executive, Corporate Director, Heads of 
Service and other senior managers have overriding responsibility to the 
Council as a whole and not to any party political group. Their job is to give 
advice to Members and the Council, and to carry out the Council’s work under 

Page 132

mailto:gayle.roach@allerdale.gov.uk


the direction and control of the Council, its Executive, Committees and Sub-
Committees.

1.4 It is some time since an Allerdale Protocol on Member/Officer Relations was 
reviewed and adopted therefore this draft document looks to address this and 
will bring the Constitution up to date to reflect the current practice of the 
Council. The Protocol once adopted will form part of the Councils Constitution.

1.5 The proposed draft Member/Officer Protocol can be found at Appendix A.

2.0 The Role of Members

2.1 Members have a number of roles and need to be alert to the potential for 
conflicts of interest that may arise between the roles. Where such conflicts are 
likely, Members may wish to seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer, the 
relevant senior Officer(s), and/or senior colleagues.

2.2 Members provide the political direction and leadership of the Council and help 
develop and review policy and strategy.

2.3 Members contribute to the decisions taken in full Council and in various 
bodies on which they serve, as well as committees, outside bodies and 
organisations to which they are nominated by the Council.

2.4 Members are involved in quasi-judicial work through their membership of 
regulatory committees.

2.5 Members represent the community, act as community leaders, and promote 
the social, economic and environmental well-being of the community, often in 
partnership with other agencies.

2.6 As politicians, Members may express the values and aspirations of the party 
political groups to which they belong, recognising that in their role as 
Members they have a duty always to act in the public interest.

2.7 Members are not authorised to instruct Officers other than: 
a) through the formal decision-making process; 
b) to request the provision of consumable resources provided by the 

Council for Members’ use; 
c) where staff have been specifically allocated to give support to a 

Member or group of Members.

3.0 The Role of Officers

3.1 The primary role of Officers is to advise and support all Members to enable 
them to fulfil their roles and to implement the lawfully agreed policies of the 
Council.

Page 133



3.2 Officers are responsible for day-to-day managerial and operational decisions 
within the Council.

3.3 Officers have a duty to implement decisions of the Council, the Executive, 
Committees and Sub-Committees which are lawful, and which have been 
properly approved in accordance with the requirements of the law and the 
Council’s Constitution.

3.4 Officers are free to take decisions within their area of responsibility which 
have been delegated to them but recognise that, where functions have not 
been delegated to Officers, it is the right of Members to take the final 
decisions in the light of their advice.

3.5 Officers have a contractual and legal duty to be impartial. They must not allow 
their professional judgement and advice to be influenced by their own 
personal views. The advice provided by Officers and the actions they take 
should be politically neutral.

3.6 Officers have the right not to support Members in any role other than that of 
Member, and not to engage in actions incompatible with this Protocol. In 
particular, there is a statutory limitation on Officers’ involvement in political 
activities. Some Officers are in posts which are ‘politically restricted’ by law. 
This means that individual post holders are prevented from carrying out any 
active political role either outside or inside the Council.

Statutory Officers

3.7 The Council appoints three Statutory Chief Officers; the Chief Executive is the 
designated Head of Paid Service; the Head of Governance and Regulatory 
Services is the Monitoring Officer and the Head of Financial Services is 
appointed Chief Finance Officer, also known as the S151 Officer.

3.8 These roles are addressed in the Constitution and are set out below. Their 
roles need to be understood and respected by all Members.

3.8.1 Specific delegations to the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service

1. To exercise the functions of the Head of Paid Service and in this role:-
(a) to exercise overall responsibility for corporate management and 

operational issues (including overall management responsibility for all 
staff);

(b) to give professional advice to all parties in the Council decision making 
process;

(c) to ensure that the Council has a system of record keeping for all Key 
Decisions; and

(d) to ensure that the Council achieves and delivers its objectives; and
(e) to represent the Authority on partnerships and external bodies (as 

required by statute or by the Authority).

Page 134



2. To co-ordinate, direct and monitor the Council’s initiatives to achieve 
value for money in the delivery of its functions.

3. To be responsible for performance review issues.
4. To lead the Corporate and Senior Management Teams.
5. To undertake responsibility for the Strategy, Policy and Performance 

Team.
6. After consultation with the Leader of the Council, to authorise action 

and incur expenditure, where urgent action is needed to enable the 
Council to fulfil its functions subject to reporting thereon to the Council 
Meeting.

7. To consider and report on any report of the Local Government 
Ombudsman and to decide on and implement the action to be taken.

8. To undertake all activities in connection with the Council’s Human 
Resources or civic/ceremonial function.

9.
(a) To determine all staff matters in accordance with the Officer 

Employment Rules and relevant Council policies.  This includes 
determining matters relating to structure (additions, reductions and 
other changes to the establishment), appointment, dismissal or 
discipline of staff, except in relation to those posts which are Chief 
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers under the rekevant legislation.

(b) Where the decision of the Head of Paid Service taken under (a) above 
requires consideration of the financial/budgetary implications and a 
decision in that respect only, then the matter will be referred to the 
Executive, provided that the remit of the Executive shall be limited to 
decisions on financial matters only.

(c) The Head of Paid Service may delegate the discharge of this function 
to another Officer.

10. To establish and maintain working relationships with employees and 
Trade Unions.

11. The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may 
hold the post of Chief Finance Officer.

3.8.2 Specific delegations to the Monitoring Officer and Head of Governance 
and Regulatory Services

1. To act as the Council’s Monitoring Officer under Section 5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.

2. Functions of the Monitoring Officer:

(a) Maintaining the Constitution.  The Monitoring Officer will maintain an 
up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely 
available for consultation by members, officers and public.

(b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making.  After consulting 
with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring 
Officer will report to Council or to the Executive in relation to an 
Executive function if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or 

Page 135



omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission 
has given rise to maladministration.  Such a report will have the effect 
of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report 
has been considered.

(c) Supporting the Standards Committee.  The Monitoring Officer will 
contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of 
conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee and 
take such action as is delegated to him/her under the Council’s 
Standards Arrangements.

(d) Proper officer for access to information.  The Monitoring Officer will 
ensure that Executive decisions, together with the reasons for those 
decisions and relevant officer reports and background papers are made 
publicly available as soon as possible.

(e) Advising whether Executive decisions are within the Budget and Policy 
Framework.  The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decision of the 
Executive are in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework.

(f) Providing advice.   The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the 
scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and Budget and Policy Framework issues 
to all councillors.

(g) Restrictions on posts.  The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief 
Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

3. All proper officer functions not allocated to other officers. Solicitor to the 
Council.

4. Authority to affix the Common Seal of the Council.

5. To execute any appropriate legal documents and to issue licences and 
to take all necessary action relating thereto arising out of the exercise 
of any function or the performance of any powers delegated to the 
Borough Council.

6. To take action for the recovery of compensation for damage to any 
property belonging to the Council.

7. To institute proceedings for any offence (except where specifically 
delegated to a Committee or other officer) and to authorise officers to 
appear in proceedings under Section 223 of the Local Government Act 
1972.

8. To institute, defend, participate or settle any legal proceedings in any 
case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the 
Council, or in any case where the Monitoring Officer considers that 
such action is necessary to protect the Council’s interests including the 
instruction of Counsel and the giving of undertakings on behalf of the 
Council, where the interests of the Council (whether on its own behalf 

Page 136



or on behalf of any authority for which the Council is an agent) are 
involved.

3.8.3 Specific delegations to the S151 Officer and Head of Financial 
Services

1.

(a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making.  After 
consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the 
Section 151 Officer will report to the Council or to the Executive in 
relation to an Executive function and the Council’s external auditor if he 
or she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action, will 
involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to 
cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of 
account unlawfully, or the Council has insufficient resources to meet its 
spending.

(b) Administration of financial affairs.  The Section 151 Officer will have 
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the 
Council.  

(c) Contributing to corporate management.  The Section 151 Officer will 
contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular 
through the provision of professional financial advice for the strategic 
planning and policy making process to ensure efficient and effective 
use of resources.

(d) Providing advice.  The Section 151 Officer will provide advice on the 
scope of the powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and budget and Policy Framework issues 
to all councillors and will support and advise councillors and officers in 
their respective roles.  Advice will also be provided on treasury and 
cash flow management, pensions, trust funds, safe custody of assets, 
including risk management and insurance.

(e) Give financial information.  The Section 151 Officer will provide 
financial information to the media, members of the public and the 
community.  Also financial management information to officers and 
councillors.

(f) Accounts.  The Section 151 Officer will prepare statutory and other 
accounts, associated grant claims and supporting records.

2. Delegated powers conferred on the Section 151 Officer under the 
Council’s Financial Regulations.

3. To be the officer with responsibility for the proper administration of the 
Council’s financial affairs under Section 151 of the Local Government 
Act 1972.

Page 137



4. To facilitate and manage the co-ordination of medium term financial 
planning, annual budget planning, budget monitoring and the 
preparation of statutory and other accounts, associated grant claims 
and supporting records.

5. To operate all the statutory requirements relating to payroll matters.

6. To undertake all treasury management activity in accordance with the 
annual treasury management policy statement and other management 
policies as determined by the Council.

7. To deal with the Council’s insurances in consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer in respect of any legal matter arising therefrom and 
in consultation with the relevant officer in respect of specific claims.

8. To write off debts due to the Council.

9. The Section 151 Officer cannot be the Monitoring Officer.

3.9 All Officers are responsible to the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service, 
and not to individual Members of the Council whatever office they might hold. 

3.10 The Chief Executive, Corporate Director and Heads of Service will need to 
work closely with the Executive if there is to be effective policy development 
and Executive decision-making. This relationship has to function without 
compromising the ultimate responsibilities of staff to the Council as a whole.

4.0 Finance/resource implications

4.1 There are no financial or resource implications to this report. 

5.0 Legal Implications and risks

5.1 There is no statutory requirement for Councils to adopt a Protocol on Member 
Officer Relations but it is good practice to do so.

5.2 The link created between a newly adopted Protocol, and other Codes and 
Protocols, will help to ensure that the Constitution remains legally up to date.

5.3 Failure to have up to date codes and protocols could lead to inappropriate 
conduct which could in turn undermine council decision making with the 
potential for legal challenge and reputational damage.

5.4 Breaches of the Member/Officer Protocol can be used as evidence in a 
disciplinary hearing for Officers or an investigation under the Code of Conduct 
for members.

6.0 Recommendations

Page 138



6.1 That members consider the draft Protocol for Member/Officer Relations and 
provide any comments/further amendments as they see necessary and;

6.2 Recommend to Council that the Protocol is adopted

Sharon Sewell
Head of Governance and Regulatory Services

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 140



Draft v1 16/08/19

Allerdale Borough Council

Protocol for Member/Officer Relations

1. Introduction

1.1 The Member/Officer Protocol is designed to provide a guide to good 
working relations between Members and Officers, to define their respective 
roles and provide some principles governing conduct. It is hoped the 
Protocol will help build and maintain good working relationships between 
Members and Officers as they work together.

1.2 It is recognised that relationships between Members and Officers are very 
varied and can often be complex. The Protocol cannot provide a definitive 
statement on every situation that Members and Officers may find 
themselves in, but offers guidance for a number of common situations.

1.3 This Protocol is, to a large extent, a written statement of current practice 
and convention. It seeks to promote greater clarity and certainty. If the 
Protocol is followed, it should ensure that Members receive objective and 
impartial advice and that Officers are protected from accusations of bias 
and any undue influence from Members.

1.4 It also seeks to reflect the principles underlying the respective Codes of 
Conduct which apply to Members and Officers. The shared object of these 
Codes is to enhance and maintain the integrity (real and perceived) of local 
government and the Codes, therefore, demand very high standards of 
personal conduct.

1.5 Both Members and Officers serve the public and they are indispensable to 
one another. However, their responsibilities are distinct. 

1.6 Members are responsible for policy decisions for Council and Officers give 
effect to Council policies.

1.7 Officers are responsible for day-to-day managerial and operational 
decisions within the Council and shall provide support to all Members.

1.8 Certain statutory officers, i.e. the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer 
and the Chief Financial Officer, have specific roles. These are addressed in 
the Constitution. Their roles need to be understood and respected by all 
Members.

2. General Principles

2.1 The fundamental principles on which this Protocol is based are:

a) the Council is a democratically-elected local authority delivering a 
range of services to the people of Allerdale;

Page 141



Draft v1 16/08/19

b) the Council is a single entity, a statutory corporate body;
c) the separate functions of the Council such as the Executive, Scrutiny 

and regulatory areas are just aspects of the Council as a single 
statutory corporate body;

d) in everything they do, the Members and Officers of the Council are 
obliged to act within the law and in compliance with relevant Standards 
and Codes of Conduct;

e) dealings between Members and Officers should be based on mutual 
trust and respect;

f) relationships between Members and Officers must exist on a 
professional basis only so that the ability of an Officer to deal 
impartially with Members or political groups could not be questioned;

g) Officers should not approach Members on matters to do with 
reorganisations, their terms and conditions of employment or other 
employment matters except through procedures laid down in the 
employee handbook or agreed by the Head of Paid Service.

3. The role of Members

a) Members provide the political direction and leadership of the Council 
and are ultimately accountable to the people of Allerdale through the 
ballot box for their actions as Councillors;

b) Members contribute to the decisions taken in full Council and in various 
bodies on which they serve, as well as committees, outside bodies and 
organisations to which they are nominated by the Council;

c) Members are involved in quasi-judicial work through their membership 
of regulatory committees;

d) Members help develop and review policy and strategy;
e) Members monitor and review policy implementation and service 

quality;
f) Members are involved in active partnerships with other organisations 

as community leaders;
g) Members recognise that Officers have the duty and right to provide 

appropriate professional advice and the right to have that advice 
recorded, so that all Members are fully aware of the implications of 
their decisions;

h) The provision of professional advice by Officers is the principal means 
by which Members can gain assurance that their decisions comply 
with the law and relevant Standards or Codes of Conduct;

i) Members are able to ask questions about the Council’s decisions and 
performance both at formal meetings and informally. Members will 
have regard for an Officer’s level of seniority and area of responsibility 
in determining what are reasonable comments and questions.

4. The role of Officers

a) Officers serve the whole Council as a single statutory corporate body 
but recognise the differences between the Council’s functions and 
particularly the role of the Executive;

b) Officers initiate policy proposals and implement agreed policy;

Page 142



Draft v1 16/08/19

c) Officers ensure that the Council always acts in a lawful manner;
d) Officers provide advice to the Council and its various bodies and to 

individual Members in respect of the services provided;
e) Officers are free to take decisions within their area of responsibility 

which have been delegated to them but recognise that, where 
functions have not been delegated to Officers, it is the right of 
Members to take the final decisions in the light of their advice;

f) The advice provided by Officers should be factual, honest and 
objective. The advice provided by Officers and the actions they take 
should be politically neutral and undertaken without fear of intimidation 
or restraint;

g) The advice provided and actions taken by Officers should be sensitive 
to the political aspirations and constraints of Members but should not 
reflect, or be influenced by, those aspirations and constraints;

h) The advice given and actions taken by Officers will have the ultimate 
aim of serving the interests of the Council as a whole, irrespective of 
whether the current emphasis of an Officer’s role is the Executive, 
Scrutiny or Regulatory.

5. Relationship between Members and Officers

5.1 It is important that any dealings between Members and Officers, both 
written and oral, should observe professional standards of courtesy. 

5.2 The relationship between Members and Officers will be enhanced by 
friendly relations. However, mutual respect and the belief that Officers are 
providing objective professional advice to Members must not be 
compromised. Members and Officers should be cautious in developing 
close friendships.

5.3 It is very important that both Members and Officers remember their 
respective obligations to enhance the Council's reputation and to do what 
they can to avoid criticism of other Members, or other Officers, in public 
places.

5.4 Officers must not allow their personal or political opinions to influence or 
interfere with their work. Officers should not take part, and Members should 
not ask Officers to take part, in any activity which could be seen as 
influencing support for a political party. Officer support in these 
circumstances must not extend beyond providing information and advice in 
relation to matters of Council business.

5.5 It is important in any dealings between Members and Officers that neither 
should seek to take unfair advantage of their position.

5.6 Some Officers are in posts which are ‘politically restricted’ by law. This 
means that individual post holders are prevented from carrying out any 
active political role either outside or inside the Council. 

Page 143



Draft v1 16/08/19

5.7 Members should raise with the Chief Executive any concerns about the 
political neutrality of an Officer.

5.8 Both Members and Officers should adhere to the rules and regulations set 
by Council to manage committee business, for example, Procedural 
Standing Orders and Committee Terms of Reference and Delegated 
Functions.

6. Members’ Access to Information and to Council Documents

6.1 A Member is entitled to see such documents as are reasonably necessary 
to enable him or her to carry out their role as a Member of Council. This 
can range from a request for general information about some aspect of a 
council service to a request for specific information on behalf of a 
constituent. There is, however, no general right to examine all documents 
of the Council; a mere curiosity or wish to see them is not sufficient. 
Furthermore, disclosure will be refused if a Member’s intent is other than in 
his or her public position.

6.2 The legal rights of Members to inspect Council documents are covered 
partly by statute and partly by common law.

6.3 The common law right of members is based on the principle that any 
member has a prima facie right to inspect Council documents so far as 
his/her access to the documents is reasonably necessary to enable the 
member properly to perform his/her duties as a member of the Council. 
This principle is commonly referred to as the “need to know” principle.

6.4 The exercise of this common law right depends therefore upon the 
Member’s ability to demonstrate that he/she has the necessary “need to 
know”. In this respect a Member has no right to “a roving commission” to go 
and examine documents of the Council. Mere curiosity is not sufficient. The 
crucial question is the determination of the “need to know”.

6.5 Further advice regarding Members’ rights to inspect Council documents 
may be obtained from the Monitoring Officer.

6.6 In addition to a Member’s common law rights and the provisions of the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000, the Local Government Act 1972 provides 
a statutory right of access to documents. Any document which is in the 
Council’s possession and contains material relating to any business to be 
transacted at a meeting of the Council, the Executive, a Committee or Sub 
Committee is to be open to inspection by any Member. This right applies 
irrespective of whether the member is a member of the Committee or Sub-
Committee concerned and extends not only to reports which are to be 
submitted to the meeting, but also to any relevant background papers.

6.7 However, there is no right of inspection where it appears to the Monitoring 
Officer that a document discloses certain classes of exempt information as 
set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules Section 11 of the 

Page 144



Draft v1 16/08/19

Constitution. Examples are documents that contain exempt information 
relating to employees, occupiers of Council property, applicants for grants 
and other services, contract and industrial relations negotiations, advice 
from Counsel and criminal investigations. 

7. Confidentiality

7.1 Any Council information provided to a Member must only be used by the 
Member for the purpose for which it was provided i.e. in connection with 
the proper performance of the Member’s duties as a Member of the 
Council.

7.2 The Code of Conduct states that a Member must not disclose confidential 
information or information which he or she believes to be of a confidential 
nature, except in some specific circumstances.

7.3 Officers should make it clear to Members if they are giving them 
confidential information. If a Member is not sure whether information is 
confidential, he or she should ask the relevant Officer, but treat the 
information as confidential in the meantime.

8. Administrative Support to Members

8.1 The Council can lawfully provide support services, materials and 
equipment (e.g. stationery, word processing, printing, photocopying, 
transport, etc.) to Members to assist them only in their role as Members of 
the Council. Such support must therefore only be used for Council 
business and should never be used in connection with party political or 
campaigning activity or for private purposes.

8.2 Officers will always assist Members in their official Council work and in 
dealing with their constituents' problems relating to Council services. They 
cannot carry out tasks for Members of a purely political or personal 
nature.

9. Media

9.1 Communication with the media can be an important part of a Member’s 
workload. In general, Members provide comment and views while Officers 
provide factual information.

9.2 If a Member is unsure about the circumstances of a particular issue 
he/she should contact the appropriate Senior Officer concerned or ask the 
Communications and Marketing Manager to do so.

9.3 All press releases will be expected to comply with both legislative 
requirements and the Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority 
Publicity.

Page 145



Draft v1 16/08/19

10. Complaints

10.1 If a Member has cause to complain about the conduct of an Officer, they 
should make their complaint, preferably in writing, to the relevant Head of 
Service. If the complaint is about a Head of Service, it should be made to 
the Corporate Director; if it is about the Corporate Director, it should be 
made to the Chief Executive and if it is about the Chief Executive to the 
Monitoring Officer. The complaint will be investigated and dealt with in 
accordance with the Council’s disciplinary procedures if required.

10.2 If an Officer has cause to complain about the conduct of a Member they 
may make a complaint to the Monitoring Officer if they consider that the 
conduct involves a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct. If an Officer 
considers that the conduct does not involve a breach of the Code of 
Conduct but is in breach of this Protocol or other Council protocols, they 
should make their complaint, preferably in writing, to the Monitoring 
Officer. In both cases officers should seek the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer.

Page 146



Document is Restricted

Page 147

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 151

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Work Programme 2019/20
	5 Local Government Ethical Standards
	Standards Local Government Ethtical Standards - Appendix 1
	Standards Local Government Ethtical Standards - Appendix 2
	Allerdale Borough Council Code of Conduct Revised August 2019 - Appendix 3

	6 Allerdale Borough Council’s Code of Conduct and Arrangements for dealing with standards allegations under the Localism Act 2011
	Allerdale Final Report - Paul Hoey
	Arrangements for Dealing with Standards Allegations Under the Localism Act 2011 FINAL
	Arrangements for Dealing with Standards Allegations Under the Localism Act 2011 - with amendments

	7 Member/Officer Protocol
	Allerdale Borough Council Member Officer Protocol

	10 Investigation
	ISSUED REPORT Allerdale Silloth July 2019


